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Part |
ltem 1. Business

Eli Lilly and Company (the “Company” or “Registrdnivhich may be referred to as “we”, “us”, or “ojnvas
incorporated in 1901 in Indiana to succeed to tlig dnanufacturing business founded in Indianapbidiana, in
1876 by Colonel Eli Lilly. We discover, develop, mdacture, and sell products in one significantifess
segment — pharmaceutical products. We also haamiamal health business segment, whose operatiensoar
material to our financial statements. We manufacand distribute our products through owoedkased facilities |
the United States, Puerto Rico, and 25 other cemt©ur products are sold in approximately 135toes.

Most of the products we sell today were discovenedeveloped by our own scientists, and our sucgegsends to a
great extent on our ability to continue to discoaed develop innovative new pharmaceutical prodWits direct
our research efforts primarily toward the searatpfoducts to prevent and treat human diseasesal¥deconduct
research to find products to treat diseases inasiand to increase the efficiency of animal fooudpction.

Products
Our principal products are:
Neurosciences products our largest-selling product group, including:

e Zyprexa®, for the treatment of schizophrenia, acute mixethanic episodes associated with bipolar |
disorder and bipolar maintenar

e Cymbalta®, for the treatment of major depressive disordiahetic peripheral neuropathic pain, and
generalized anxiety disord

« Strattera®, for the treatment of attention-deficit hyperactmitisorder in children, adolescents and
adults

» Prozac®, for the treatment of major depressive disorderesbive-compulsive disorder, bulimia
nervosa and panic disorc

e Symbya®, for the treatment of bipolar depress
Endocrinology products, including:

* Humalog®, Humalog Mix 75/2% , andHumalog Mix 50/5(™ , for the treatment of diabet
¢ Humulin®, for the treatment of diabet

e Actos®, for the treatment of type 2 diabe!

« Byetta®, for the treatment of type 2 diabe

« Evista®, for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosfmost-menopausal women and for the
reduction of the risk of invasive breast cancguastmenopausal women with osteoporosis and
postmenopausal women at high risk for invasive sireancer

» Forteo®, for the treatment of osteoporosis in postmenopausaien and men at high risk for fracti

e Humatrope®, for the treatment of human growth hormone deficjeawed idiopathic short statur
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Oncology products, including:

« Gemzar®, for the treatment of pancreatic cancer; in comlmatvith other agents, for the treatment of
metastatic breast cancer, nemall cell lung cancer and advanced or recurreatiam cancer; and in t
European Union for the treatment of bladder ca

e Alimta®, for the second-line treatment of non-small celgwancer; and in combination with another
agent, for the treatment of malignant pleural mesiaima.

Cardiovascular products, including:

« Cialis ®, for the treatment of erectile dysfuncti

» ReoPra®, for use as an adjunct to percutaneous coronargvariéon (“PClI”), including patients
undergoing angioplasty, atherectomy or stent place

» Xigris®, for the treatment of adults with severe sepsisgit hisk of death
Animal health products, including:

* Rumensi®, a cattle feed additive that improves feed efficieand growth and also controls and
prevents coccidiosi

+ Tylan®, an antibiotic used to control certain diseasesitle; swine, and poultt

* Micotil ®, Pulmotil®, andPulmotil AC®, antibiotics used to treat respiratory disease itlecawine,
and poultry, respectivel

« Paylean® andOptaflexx®, leanness and performance enhancers for swine éife] cespectively
e Coban®, Monteban® , andMaxiban® , anticoccidial agents for use in poul

e Apralan®, an antibiotic used to control enteric infectiongaives and swin

e Surmax® (sold asMaxus® in some countries), a performance enhancer foresamt poultry

» Elector®, a parasiticide for use on cattle and prem

» Two new products for dog€omfortis™ , the first FDA-approved, chewable tablet thatkileas and
prevents flea infestations on dogs; &etoncile™ , for treatment of canine separation anxiety in
conjunction with behavior modification trainin

Other pharmaceuticals, including:

e Vancocin® HCI, used primarily to treat staphylococcal infea
e Ceclor®, for the treatment of a wide range of bacterial ¢tifsns.

Marketing

We sell most of our products worldwide. We adaptroarketing methods and product emphasis in vaigousitrie:
to meet local needs.

Pharmaceuticals — United States

In the United States, we distribute pharmaceupeadiucts principally through independent wholeshdtributors,
with some sales directly to pharmacies. Our mankgpolicy is designed to assure that products aleyant medici
information are immediately available to physicigoisarmacies, hospitals, public and private payard,
appropriate health care professionals throughautthuntry. Three wholesale distributors in the eaiStates —
AmerisourceBergen Corporation, Cardinal Health,,land McKesson Corporationeach accounted for between
and 16 percent of our worldwide consolidated nktssim 2007. No other distributor accounted for entbran

10 percent of consolidated net sales. We alsghalimaceutical products directly to the United &taovernment
and other manufacturers, but those sales are netiala




We promote our major pharmaceutical products inthiged States through sales representatives whappan
physicians and other health care professionalsatiVertise in medical and drug journals, distrillitézature and
samples of certain products to physicians, andbéxi medical meetings. In addition, we advertisgain products
directly to consumers in the United States and a@ntain web sites with information about all ourjargroducts.
Divisions of our sales force are assigned to thertip areas, such as neuroscience, diabetes, osbsigy and
oncology. We sometimes supplement our employes $alee with contract sales organizations.

Large purchasers of pharmaceuticals, such as mastage groups, government agencies, and long-tare c
institutions, account for a significant portiontofal pharmaceutical purchases in the United Staleshave created
special business groups to service wholesalersagehicare organizations, government and long-temne c
institutions, hospitals, and certain retail phari@scln response to competitive pressures, we batged into
arrangements with a number of these organizatiomgdging for discounts or rebates on one or motly [products.

Pharmaceuticals — Outside the United States

Outside the United States, we promote our pharnteedproducts primarily through sales represenéati While
the products marketed vary from country to cournmigyroscience products constitute the largestesigigiup in tote
sales. Distribution patterns vary from country éetry. In most countries, we maintain our own saeganization:
In some countries, however, we market our prodinectsugh independent distributors.

Pharmaceutical Marketing Collaborations
Several of our significant products are marketecaltaboration with other pharmaceutical companies:

e Cymbalta is co-promoted in the United States bynles Transnational Corp. and is co-promoted er co
marketed outside the U.S. (except Japan) by Bogdarimgelheim GmbH

e Through January 2007, Cialis was sold in North Angeand most of Europe by a joint venture between
Lilly and ICOS Corporation, and was sold by us alamother territories. On January 29, 2007, weauaed
all the outstanding common stock of ICOS. Followihg acquisition, Cialis is sold by Lilly in allnéories.

* We co-promoted Actos with a unit of Takeda Chemipdlstries Ltd. in the United States until our
U.S. marketing rights expired in September 2006yénaer, we are receiving residual royalties on lA&o0s
sales at declining annual rates through Septenti3.2Ve continue to have exclusive and semi-exatusi
marketing rights to Actos in other countri

« We copromote Byetta with Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Incthie United States and Puerto Rico, and we
exclusive marketing rights in other territori

We have also entered into licensing arrangemertsrumhich we have granted exclusive marketing sgbtother
companies in specified countries for certain ofg@ducts manufactured by us, such as Ceclor andd¢am

Animal Health Products

Our Elanco Animal Health business unit employdifighlespeople throughout the United States to rmharkmal
health products. Elanco also has an extensive &ales outside the United States. Elanco sellprigglucts primaril
to wholesale distributors.

Competition

Our pharmaceutical products compete with produ@sufactured by many other companies in highly cditipe
markets throughout the world. Our animal healtrdpats compete on a worldwide basis with producisnirial
health care companies as well as pharmaceutioamicial, and other companies that operate animéihhei@isions
or subsidiaries.




Important competitive factors include product edfig, safety, and ease of use, price and demortstrast-
effectiveness, marketing effectiveness, servicd,rasearch and development of new products anegses. If
competitors introduce new products, delivery systemprocesses with therapeutic or cost advantagegroducts
can be subject to progressive price reductionsorehsed volume of sales, or both. Most new predbet we
introduce must compete with other products alreatthe market or products that are later develdyyed
competitors. Manufacturers of generic pharmacelstigpically invest far less in research and depaient than
research-based pharmaceutical companies and thersfo price their products significantly lowernt&anded
products. Accordingly, when a branded product ldsemarket exclusivity, it normally faces interpméce
competition from generic forms of the product. lamg countries outside the United States, pateréegtion is wea
or nonexistent and we must compete with generisioes of our products. Increasingly, to obtain fade
reimbursement and formulary positioning with goveemt payers, managed care and pharmacy benefits
management organizations, we must demonstratetingtroducts offer not only medical benefits bgibatost
advantages as compared with other forms of care.

We believe our longerm competitive position depends upon our sucicedscovering and developing (either alr
or in collaboration with others) innovative, coffieetive products that serve unmet medical needgther with our
ability to continuously improve the productivity ofir discovery, development, manufacturing, mankgéind
support operations in a highly competitive envir@mt There can be no assurance that our reseadch an
development efforts will result in commercially sessful products or that our products or procesdeaot becom:
uncompetitive from time to time as a result of prod or processes developed by our competitors.

Patents, Trademarks, and Other Intellectual Propery Rights
Overview

Intellectual property protection is, in the aggreganaterial to our ability to successfully commnglize our life
sciences innovations. We own, have applied foarericensed under, a large number of patents,ibdtie United
States and in other countries, relating to prodymtsduct uses, formulations, and manufacturing@sees. There is
no assurance that the patents we are seekingevjtanted or that the patents we have been gramteldl be found
valid and enforceable if challenged. Moreover, peteelating to particular products, uses, formatet, or
processes do not preclude other manufacturersdroploying alternative processes or from marketitegraative
products or formulations that might successfullynpete with our patented products. In addition, ftone to time,
competitors or other third parties assert clainas tlur activities infringe patents or other intetieal property rights
held by them, or allege a third-party right of owstep in our existing intellectual property.

Outside the United States, the adequacy and efésetss of intellectual property protection for phaceuticals
varies widely. Under the Trade-Related Aspectsitdllectual Property Agreement (TRIPs) administdrgdhe
World Trade Organization (WTO), over 140 counttiese now agreed to provide non-discriminatory prioa for
most pharmaceutical inventions and to assure ttexjuate and effective rights are available to @#épt owners.
Because of TRIPs transition provisions, disputeltg®n mechanisms, and substantive limitationis #till too
soon to assess when and how much, if at all, wiebemiefit commercially from these changes.

When a product patent expires, the patent holdendbses effective market exclusivity for the prod This can
result in a severe and rapid decline in salesefdmerly patented product, particularly in theitdd States.
However, in some cases the innovator company miaigee exclusivity beyond the expiry of the prodpatent
through manufacturing trade secrets; later-expipatgents on methods of use or formulations; or-tated
exclusivity that may be available under pharmacaltegulatory laws.

Our Intellectual Property Portfolio

We consider intellectual property protection fortai products, processes, and uses — particutasse products
discussed below — to be important to our operatibos many of our products, in addition to the
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compound patent we hold other patents on manufagtprocesses, formulations, or uses that may exten
exclusivity beyond the expiration of the productgue.

The most relevant U.S. patent protection, togethittr expected expiration, for our major marketeddarcts is as
follows:

e Alimta is protected by a compound patent (20

* Byettais protected by a patent covering its use in iingaype 2 diabetes (201

« Cialis is protected by compound and use patents (2!

* Cymbalta is protected by a compound patent (2013) and gosition patent (2014

« Evista is protected by patents on the treatment and ptireof osteoporosis (2012 and 2014), and its
dosage form (2017). Evista for use in breast canskrreduction is protected by orphan drug exeitsi
(2014).

« Gemzalis protected by a compound patent (2010) andenpabvering its antineoplastic use (20:

« Humalog is protected by a compound patent (20

« Strattera is protected by a patent covering its use in imgaittention defic-hyperactivity disorder (2016
« Xigris is protected by a product patent (20:

» Zyprexais protected by a compound patent (20

Worldwide, we sell all of our major products undedemarks that we consider in the aggregate tmpertant to
our operations. Trademark protection varies througlthe world, with protection continuing in son@iatries as
long as the mark is used, and in other countridsrggas it is registered. Registrations are ndgnfat fixed but
renewable terms.

Patent Challenges Under the Hatch-Waxman Act

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoract of 1984, commonly known as “Hatch-Waxman,”
made a complex set of changes to both patent ametingg-approval laws in the United States. BefoeddH-
Waxman, no drug could be approved without providimgFood and Drug Administration (FDA) completéesa
and efficacy studies.e., a complete New Drug Application (NDA). Hatch-Waamauthorizes the FDA to approve
generic versions of innovative pharmaceuticalsgothan biological products) without such informatby filing ar
Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA). In an ANDAhe generic manufacturer must demonstrate only
“bioequivalence” between the generic version ardNBDA-approved drug — not safety and efficacy.

Absent a successful patent challenge, the FDA daapyrove an ANDA until after the innovator's pateaxpire.
However, after the innovator has marketed its pcoéwr four years, a generic manufacturer maydieANDA
alleging that one or more of the patents listeth@innovator's NDA are invalid or not infringedhi§ allegation is
commonly known as a “Paragraph IV certificationtiéTinnovator must then file suit against the generi
manufacturer to protect its patents. If one or nafréne NDA-listed patents are successfully chajth the first
filer of a Paragraph IV certification may be emtitlto a 180-day period of market exclusivity oMéother generic
manufacturers.

In recent years, generic manufacturers have usedjigoh 1V certifications extensively to challerggents on a
wide array of innovative pharmaceuticals, and wgeekthis trend to continue. We are currently tigdition with
numerous generic manufacturers arising from thaia@aph IV certifications on Evista, Gemzar, atrdtfra. For
more information on these, see Part Il, Item 7, filfigement’s Discussion and Analysis — Legal and Régy
Matters.”




Government Regulation
Regulation of Our Operations

Our operations are regulated extensively by nuntenational, state and local agencies. The lengibgegss of
laboratory and clinical testing, data analysis, ufacturing development, and regulatory review neassfor
required governmental approvals is extremely caatly can significantly delay product introductiams: given
market. Promotion, marketing, manufacturing, aredritiution of pharmaceutical and animal health pats are
extensively regulated in all major world marketse ¥te required to conduct extensive post-markestimgeillance
of the safety of the products we sell. In additionr, operations are subject to complex federate stacal, and
foreign laws and regulations concerning the envirent, occupational health and safety, and privaibe. laws and
regulations affecting the manufacture and saleiofent products and the discovery, developmenti@tnaduction
of new products will continue to require substdrg@entific and technical effort, time, and expemasd significant
capital investment.

Of particular importance is the FDA in the Unite@t8s. Pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug, and €tisict, the
FDA has jurisdiction over all of our products arihranisters requirements covering the testing, gaédffectivenes:
manufacturing, quality control, distribution, lalmg), marketing, advertising, dissemination of imi@tion and post-
marketing surveillance of our pharmaceutical praslu€the FDA, along with the U.S. Department of Agtiure
(USDA), also regulates our animal health produtkte U.S. Environmental Protection Agency also ratpd some
animal health products. In 2007, Congress passeHdbd and Drug Administration Amendments Act (FD¥{Af
2007, which imposes additional requirements fogdtavelopment and commercialization and providesHibA
with further authorities and resources, particylarlthe area of drug safety.

The FDA extensively regulates all aspects of mastufang quality under its current Good ManufactgriPractices
(cGMP) regulations. In recent years, we have made we continue to make, substantial investmentsypital and
operating expenses to implement comprehensive, aoyawide improvements in our manufacturing, prodard
process development, and quality operations torersistained cGMP compliance. However, in the ewerfail to
adhere to cGMP requirements in the future, we cbeldubject to interruptions in production, fines @enalties,
and delays in new product approvals.

Outside the United States, our products and op&mtre subject to similar regulatory requirememisably by the
European Medicines Agency (EMEA) in the Europeambrand the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare
(MHLW) in Japan. Specific regulatory requiremengsyfrom country to country.

The marketing, promotional, and pricing practicepttarmaceutical manufacturers, as well as the erainnwvhich
manufacturers interact with purchasers and presc;lare subject to various other federal and &ate, including
the federal anti-kickback statute and the Falsén@lact and state laws governing kickbacks, falaexs, unfair
trade practices, and consumer protection. These émevadministered by, among others, the Departafehustice,
the Office of Inspector General of the Departmdrii@alth and Human Services, the Federal Trade Gesiom,
the Office of Personnel Management and state aysrgeneral. Over the past several years, the Hi2A,
Department of Justice, and many of these othercdgghave increased their enforcement activitiés vespect to
pharmaceutical companies. Over this period, sewasds brought by these agencies against Lillyosmer
companies under these and other laws have resaltagtporate criminal sanctions and very substhoiia
settlements. Several pharmaceutical companiesidimg Lilly, are currently subject to proceedingsdme or more
of these agencies regarding marketing and promaltigractices. See Part Il, Item 7, “Managemgtiscussion an
Analysis — Legal and Regulatory Matters,” for infa@tion about currently pending marketing and proomat
practices investigations in which we are involviéds possible that we could become subject to tamithl
administrative and legal proceedings and actioighwcould include claims for civil penalties (inding treble
damages under the False Claims Act), criminal samgtand administrative remedies, including exolugrom
federal health care programs. It is possible thadverse outcome in such an action could haveterimlaadverse
impact on our consolidated results of operatiagsijdity, and financial position.
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Regulations Affecting Pharmaceutical Pricing and Renbursement

In the United States, we are required to provithates to state governments on their purchasegtaircef our
products under state Medicaid programs. Otheramsainment measures have been adopted or propgsed
federal, state, and local government entities pihatide or pay for health care. In most internagiamarkets, we
operate in an environment of government-mandatstiaantainment programs, which may include pricatrads,
reference pricing, discounts and rebates, regiriston physician prescription levels, restrictiongeimbursement,
compulsory licenses, health economic assessmemntgemneric substitution.

In the U.S., implementation of the Medicare Prggin Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act 0D20
(MMA), providing a prescription drug benefit undbe Medicare program, took effect January 1, 2@ Part Il,
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis —dttiee Overview — Legal, Regulatory, and Other it for
more discussion of MMA and other federal healthcargt containment measures. At the state leveldud
pressures are causing various states to imposea@osbl measures such as higher rebates and mstrictive
formularies.

International operations are also generally sulifeeixtensive price and market regulations, ancethee many

proposals for additional cost-containment measimekjding proposals that would directly or inditlgampose

additional price controls, limit access to or reurdement for our products, or reduce the valuaioirtellectual
property protection.

We cannot predict the extent to which our busimeag be affected by these or other potential fukegeslative or
regulatory developments. However, we expect thegqarres on pharmaceutical pricing will continuatoease.

Research and Development

Our commitment to research and development datdsrhare than 100 years. Our research and develdpmen
activities are responsible for the discovery angetigpment of most of the products we offer today Mvest
heavily in research and development because wewesili is critical to our long-term competitiveneAs the end of
2007, we employed approximately 8,000 people irrmplaaeutical and animal health research and developm
activities, including a substantial number of phigis, scientists holding graduate or postgradiegeees, and
highly skilled technical personnel. Our researcti davelopment expenses were $3.03 billion in 288513 billion
in 2006, and $3.49 billion in 2007.

Our pharmaceutical research and development foarsésur therapeutic categories: central nervogsesy and
related diseases; endocrine diseases, includimgidis, obesity and musculoskeletal disorders; caand
cardiovascular diseases. However, we remain oppistic, selectively pursuing promising leads inesttherapeuti
areas. We are actively engaged in biotechnologsares programs involving recombinant DNA, therajpeut
proteins and antibodies as well as genomics (tkieldpment of therapeutics through identificatiordsfease-
causing genes and their cellular function), bioreeskand targeted therapeutics. In addition toogisigng and
developing new chemical entities, we look for waygxpand the value of existing products through nses and
formulations that can provide additional benefitpatients. We also conduct research in animattngatluding
animal nutrition and physiology, control of parasitand veterinary medicine (both food and compaaiomal).

To supplement our internal efforts, we collabonaith others, including educational institutions aedearch-based
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, andon&act with others for the performance of reseamaheir
facilities. We use the services of physicians, itatg) medical schools, and other research orgaoimworldwide
to conduct clinical trials to establish the safetyl effectiveness of our products. We actively smeknvestments i
external research and technologies that hold thmise to complement and strengthen our own resedfctts.
These investments can take many forms, includoenBing arrangements, co-development and co-magketi
agreements, co-promotion arrangements, joint veafiand acquisitions.

Drug development is time-consuming, expensive,ragky. On average, only one out of many thousarids o
chemical compounds discovered by researchers ptovmsboth medically effective and safe enoughbetmome an
approved medicine. The process from discoverydalegory approval can take 12 to 15 years or
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longer. Drug candidates can fail at any stage ®ptlocess, and even late-stage drug candidatesiswadail to
receive regulatory approval or commercial sucdéssn after approval and launch of a product, wesagp
considerable resources on post-marketing surve#lamd clinical studies. We believe our investméntssearch,
both internally and in collaboration with othergayle been rewarded by the number of new compourtiaan
indications for existing compounds that we havalirstages of development. Among our new investgal
compounds in the later stages of development aenpal therapies for acute coronary syndromededes,
osteoporosis, and cancer. Further, we are studgangy other drug candidates in the earlier stageewélopment,
including compounds targeting cancers, diabetessith Alzheimer’s disease, schizophrenia, multgdkerosis,
depression, sleep disorders, pain and migrainentain-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), alcolism,
thrombotic disorders, and rheumatoid arthritispAgsent we have approximately 45 drug candidatessall
stages of clinical development. We are also dewetppew uses and formulations for many of thesepmmds as
well as our currently marketed products, such gg&@ya, Cymbalta, Byetta, Gemzar, Alimta, Cialis] &orteo.

Raw Materials and Product Supply

Most of the principal materials we use in our mactifiring operations are available from more tham swurce. We
obtain certain raw materials principally from owlge source. In addition, four of our significanbgucts are
manufactured by others: Actos by Takeda; ReoPrGdmytocor; Xigris by Lonza Biologics (bulk produet)d DSM,
N.V. (finished product); and Byetta by th-party suppliers to Amylin. If we were unable taa@h certain materials
from present sources, we could experience an ugéan in supply until we established new souragsnosome
cases, implemented alternative processes.

Our primary bulk manufacturing occurs at threessitelndiana as well as locations in Ireland, Ru&ico, and the
United Kingdom. Finishing operations, includingééihg and packaging, take place at a number of fitwughout
the world.

We seek to design and operate our manufacturinlifiiscand maintain inventory in a way that willav us to mee
all expected product demand while maintaining fidity to reallocate manufacturing capacity to irape efficiency
and respond to changes in supply and demand. Howgvarmaceutical production processes are compighly
regulated, and vary widely from product to prod@&tiifting or adding manufacturing capacity can hegy lengthy
process requiring significant capital expendituaad regulatory approvals. Accordingly, if we weseskperience
extended plant shutdowns or extraordinary unplamme@ases in demand, we could experience an uptéon in
supply of certain products or product shortage praduction could be resumed or expanded.

Quality Assurance

Our success depends in great measure upon custonfetence in the quality of our products and ia ithtegrity of
the data that support their safety and effectivenesoduct quality arises from a total commitmeruality in all
parts of our operations, including research anctldgynent, purchasing, facilities planning, manuféotg, and
distribution. We have implemented quality-assurgmoeedures relating to the quality and integritg@entific
information and production processes.

Control of production processes involves rigid siieations for ingredients, equipment, facilitiesanufacturing
methods, packaging materials, and labeling. Weopertests at various stages of production processg®n the
final product to assure that the product meeteegjlilatory requirements and our standards. These iteay involve
chemical and physical chemical analyses, microlgiokl testing, testing in animals, or a combinatiddditional
assurance of quality is provided by a corporatditysassurance group that monitors existing phamengical and
animal health manufacturing procedures and systeh®e parent company, subsidiaries and affilisa@sl third-
party suppliers.




Executive Officers of the Company

The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding our executive officers. All executiveiodirs have been
employed by the Company in executive positionsrduthe last five years.

The term of office for each executive officer exgsion the date of the annual meeting of the BobRirectors, to
be held on April 21, 2008, or on the date his arduecessor is chosen and qualified. No direct@xecutive office
of the Company has a “family relationship” with amtyper director or executive officer of the Compaay that term
is defined for purposes of this disclosure requaetmThere is no understanding between any execafficer and
any other person pursuant to which the executifieesfwas selected.

Name Age Offices

Sidney Taurel 58 Chairman of the Board (since January 1999) andfChie
Executive Officer (since June 1998) and a Dire

John C. Lechleiter, Ph.D. 54 President and Chief Operating Officer (since Oct@895)
and a Directo

Robert A. Armitage 58 Senior Vice President and General Counsel (sinceais
2003)

Alex M. Azar Il 40 Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs and Comications
(since June 200

Frank M. Deane, Ph.C 58 President, Manufacturing Operations (since Jun&p

Anthony J. Murphy, Ph.D 57 Senior Vice President, Human Resources (since 2008)

Steven M. Paul, M.D. 57 Executive Vice President, Science and Technologe€suly
2003)

Derica W. Rice 43 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offic@n¢e May
2006)

Gino Santini 51 Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy and EBissin
Development (since June 20(

Deirdre P. Connell 47 President, U.S. Operations (since June 2|

Lorenzo Tallarigo, M.D. 57 President, International Operations (since Jank@ég)

Mr. Taurel will retire as Chief Executive Offices af March 31, 2008, and as Chairman and a directaf
December 31, 2008. On April 1, 2008, Dr. Lechleitdt become President and Chief Executive Officer.

Dr. Tallarigo will retire as of March 31, 2008, aod April 1, 2008, Bryce D. Carmine will become Enéve Vice
President, Marketing and Sales.

Employees

At the end of 2007, we employed approximately 40,6680ple, including approximately 19,100 employagside
the United States. A substantial number of our eygss have long records of continuous service.

Financial Information Relating to Business Segmentand Classes of Products

You can find financial information relating to dowsiness segments and classes of products inlPiéet 8 of this
Form 10-K, “Segment Information.” That informatieincorporated here by reference.

The relative contribution of any particular prodtour consolidated net sales changes from yegedo This is
due to several factors, including the introducttdmew products by us and by other manufacturedstiaa
introduction of generic pharmaceuticals upon pagepirations. In addition, margins vary for ourfdient products
due to various factors, including differences ia tost to manufacture and market the productsyahe of the
products to the marketplace, and government réistie on pricing and reimbursement. Our major pobdales are
generally not seasonal.




Financial Information Relating to Foreign and Domesic Operations

You can find financial information relating to fage and domestic operations in Part Il, Iltem 8hi$ t
Form 10-K, “Segment Information.” That informatieincorporated here by reference.

To date, our overall operations abroad have nat bBagificantly deterred by local restrictions ¢ transfer of
funds from branches and subsidiaries located abioeldding the availability of dollar exchange. \Wannot predic
what effect these restrictions or the other risitgerent in foreign operations, including possikd¢éianalization,
might have on our future operations or what otkstrictions may be imposed in the future. In additchanging
currency values can either favorably or unfavoratffgct our financial position and results of opienas. We
actively manage foreign exchange risk through werieedging techniques including the use of foreigmency
contracts.

Available Information on Our Web Site

We make available through our company web site, éfecharge, our company filings with the Secusitied
Exchange Commission (SEC) as soon as reasonalaijgafale after we electronically file them with, fornish
them to, the SEC. The reports we make availabledecour annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterlyorepon
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy steats, registration statements, and any amendn@titese
documents. The company web site link to our SEGJH is_http://investor.lilly.com/edgar.cfm.

In addition, the Corporate Governance portion afweb site includes our corporate governance gimeg| board
and committee information (including committee ¢bes), and our articles of incorporation and bydaihe link to
our corporate governance information is http://stee.lilly.com/corpgov.cfm.

We will provide paper copies of our SEC filings aratporate governance documents free of charge rguprest to
the company’s secretary at the address listedefrdmt of this Form 10-K.

Item 1A: Risk Factors; Cautionary Statementdding Forward
Looking Statement

In addition to the other information containedhistForm 10-K, the following risk factors should d@nsidered
carefully in evaluating our company. It is possitilat our business, financial condition, liquidityresults of
operations could be materially adversely affectgary of these risks.

We have made certain forward-looking statementkigiForm 10-K, and company spokespeople may madie s
statements in the future based on then-currentoteip@ns of management. Where possible, we trgeatify
forward-looking statements by using such wordseapéct,” “plan,” “will,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “poject,”
“believe,” “anticipate,” and similar expression@rward-looking statements do not relate strictifistorical or
current facts. They are likely to address our ghosttategy, sales of current and anticipated prisdfioancial
results, the results of our research and developpregrams, the status of product approvals, aadtiicome of
contingencies such as litigation and investigatiédisforward-looking statements made by us argettito risks
and uncertainties, including those summarized below

» We face intense competitiollVe compete with large number of multinational phaceutical companies,
biotechnology companies and generic pharmaceuwirapanies. To compete successfully, we must coatiou
deliver to the market innovative, casffective products that meet important medical se€uir product sales ¢
be adversely affected by the introduction by coritgest of branded products that are perceived asrgupby the
marketplace, by generic versions of our brandedymts, and by generic versions of other productiérsame
therapeutic class as our branded products. Se€llt“Business— Competition” for more details

» Our long-term success depends on intellectual ptgg@otection. Our longterm success depends on our ab
to continually discover, develop, and commercialim@vative new pharmaceutical products. Withotdrsj
intellectual property protection, we would be umatd generate the returns necessary to suppoenitrenous
investments in research and development, capitdlpther expenditures required
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bring new drugs to the market. We currently exmectmajor U.S. patent expirations in the next threars, but
several major products will lose intellectual prdpgerotection beginning in 2011. See Item 1, “Biesis —
Patents, Trademarks, and Other Intellectual Prggandtectior” for more details

Intellectual property protection varies throughthg world and is subject to change over time. éhS., the
Hatch-Waxman Act provides generic companies powearfientives to seek to invalidate our patents assult,
we expect that our U.S. patents on major produitderroutinely challenged, and there can be reuemnce the
our patents will be upheld. See Item 1, “Busine&atents, Trademarks, and Other Intellectual Ptpper
Protection,” for more details. We are increasirfglsing generic manufacturer challenges to our pateutside
the U.S as well. In addition, competitors or ottiérd parties may claim that our activities infrangatents or
other intellectual property rights held by themsuiccessful, such claims could result in our beinable to
market a product in a particular territory or befegquired to pay damages for past infringemenbwgalties on
future sales

Our business is subject to increasing governmeigeprontrols and other health care cost containment
measures.Government health care cost-containment measuresigaificantly affect our sales and profitability.
In many countries outside the United States, gawent agencies strictly control, directly or indilgcthe price:
at which our products are sold. In the United Statee are subject to substantial pricing pressinoes state
Medicaid programs and private insurance prograntdiding those operating under the Medicare phaentica
benefit effective January 2006. Many federal aatlesiegislative proposals would further negativadffect our
pricing and/or reimbursement for our products. \Kjgeet pricing pressures to increase. See ItemusitiBss —
Regulations Affecting Pharmaceutical Pricing anihiteirsemen” for more details

Pharmaceutical research and development is cositi/uncertain There are many difficulties and uncertainties
inherent in new product research and developmehtremintroduction of new products. There is a hiafle of
failure inherent in the research to develop nevgsdltio treat diseases. To bring a pharmaceuticapoard from
the discovery phase to market may take a decad®w and failure can occur at any point in the pss¢
including later in the process after significamds have been invested. As a result, there isréfis@nt risk that
funds invested in research programs will not gaedinancial returns. New product candidates tipaear
promising in development may fail to reach the reide may have only limited commercial success bee®f
efficacy or safety concerns, inability to obtaircessary regulatory approvals, limited scope of aygul uses,
difficulty or excessive costs to manufacture, dringement of the patents or intellectual propeigts of
others. Delays and uncertainties in the FDA apgrpracess and the approval processes in other desitan
result in delays in product launches and lost ntasgportunity. In addition, it can be very diffitub predict
sales growth rates of new produc

Pharmaceutical products can develop unexpectedysafefficacy concernsUnexpected safety or efficacy
concerns can arise with respect to marketed predwttether or not scientifically justified, leaditgyproduct
recalls, withdrawals, or declining sales, as welpeoduct liability claims

We depend on key products for most of our revemash, flows, and earningZyprexa sales of $4.76 billion
represented 26 percent of our revenues in 200€. ¢tiver products — Cymbalta, Gemzar, Humalog, €iahd
Evista — each contributed more than $1 billiondwemues in 2007. If these or any of our other kegpcts were
to become subject to a problem such as loss ofpptetection, materially adverse changes in pipson
growth rates, unexpected side effects, regulatorggedings, material product liability litigatiopublicity
affecting doctor or patient confidence, or presstom competitive products, the adverse impactan o
revenues, cash flows and earnings could be sigumifi

Regulatory compliance failures could be damagintheacompany The marketing, promotional, and pricing
practices of pharmaceutical manufacturers, asasethe manner in which manufacturers interact with
purchasers, prescribers, and patients, are subjegtensive regulation. Many companies, includiily, have
been subject to claims related to these practisesrged by federal and state governmental autheind private
payers and consumers. These claims could ressiitistantial expense to the company. In particGlee, Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Legal ardWatory Matters,” for the discussions of the Ls&es
and marketing practices investigations. In addjtregulatory
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issues concerning compliance with current Good N&gturing Practice (cGMP) regulations for pharméioall
products can lead to product recalls and seizuresgyuption of production leading to product slges, and
delays in the approvals of new products pendinglugion of the cGMP issues. See Item 1, “Business —
Regulation of our Operatior” for more details

We face many product liability claims today, anaifa claims will be largely self-insuredVe are subject to a
substantial number of product liability claims itwiag primarily Zyprexa, DES, and thimerosal, arethuse of
the nature of pharmaceutical products, it is pdeghmt we could become subject to large numbepsafuct
liability claims for other products in the futurgee Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysisgal and
Regulatory Matters,” and Item 3, “Legal Proceedjhfim more information on our current product lilitly
litigation. In the past few years, we have expargehdifficulties in obtaining product liability ingance due to a
very restrictive insurance market. Therefore, fdvstantially all our currently marketed productsiveee been
and expect that we will continue to be largely-$etfured for future product liability losses. Indiibn, there is
no assurance that we will be able to fully colleotn our insurance carriers on past clai

Manufacturing difficulties could lead to productpsly problems Pharmaceutical manufacturing is complex and
highly regulated. Manufacturing difficulties carsuodt in product shortages, leading to lost sales. I&m 1,
“Business Raw Materials and Product Supy” for more details

We face other risks to our business and operatasglts. Our business is subject to a number of other @sks
uncertainties, including

« Economic factors over which we have no controlluding changes in inflation, interest rates aneifgm
currency exchange rates, and overall economic tondiin volatile areas can affect our results of
operations

« Changes in tax laws, including laws related torthittance of foreign earnings or investments neifgn
countries with favorable tax rates, and settlemehfsderal, state, and foreign tax audits, caaafbur
net income

« Changes in accounting standards promulgated blittancial Accounting Standards Board, the Secs
and Exchange Commission, and the Emerging IssusasHa@ce can affect reported resu

« Our results can also be affected by internal facteuch as changes in business strategies anuplaeti
of restructurings, asset impairments, technologpisition and disposition transactions, and busines
combinations

We undertake no duty to update forward-lookingestents.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal domestic and international executiffices are located in Indianapolis. At December&107, we
owned 13 production and distribution facilitiestie United States and Puerto Rico. Together withctirporate
administrative offices, these facilities containaggregate of approximately 13.0 million square &dloor area
dedicated to production, distribution, and admiaisbn. Major production sites include Indianapp@dinton and
Lafayette, Indiana; and Carolina, Mayaguez and @Gomey Puerto Rico.

We own production and distribution facilities in éduntries outside the United States and Puerto, R@ntaining
an aggregate of approximately 3.9 million squaet & floor space. Major production sites includeifities in
France, Ireland, Spain, Brazil, Italy, the Unitemsh¢ddom, and Mexico. We lease production and warsédacilities
in Puerto Rico and several countries outside thigedrStates.
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Our research and development facilities in the éthBtates consist of approximately 4.1 million squiaet and are
located primarily in Indianapolis and Greenfielddiana. Our major research and development fasldbroad are
located in United Kingdom, Canada, Singapore, gralr§ and contain an aggregate of approximately

350,000 square feet.

We believe that none of our properties is subjeeirty encumbrance, easement, or other restridisnatould
detract materially from its value or impair its useghe operation of the business. The buildingoowa are of
varying ages and in good condition.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding

We are a party to various currently pending legtibas, government investigations, and environmigntaceeding:
and we anticipate that such actions could be brioaginst us in the future. The most significanthefse matters ¢
described below or, as noted, in Part Il, temMahagement’s Discussion and Analysis — Legal anglReory
Matters.” While it is not possible to determine thecome of the legal actions, investigations amagedings
brought against us, we believe that, except agwibe specifically noted in Part Il, Item 7, theotution of all such
matters will not have a material adverse effecbonconsolidated financial position or liquidityytbcould possibly
be material to our consolidated results of openatio any one accounting period.

Legal Proceedings Described in Management’s Discuse and Analysis

See Part I, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion andlysis — Legal and Regulatory Matters,” for infation on
various legal proceedings, including but not lidite:

« The U.S. patent litigation involving Evista, Gemzatrattera, and Xigri
e The patent litigation outside the U.S. involvingpZgxa

e The investigations by the U.S. Attorney for the téas District of Pennsylvania and various staterattys
general relating to our U.S. sales, marketing, @adnotional practice

* The Zyprexa product liability and related litigatiancluding claims brought on behalf of state Ml
agencies and private healthcare pa

That information is incorporated into this Item f@ference.

Other Patent Litigation

Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Ltd. (Reddy), Teva Pharewticals, and Zenith Goldline Pharmaceuticals,, hvbich
was subsequently acquired by Teva Pharmaceuttcgstber Teva), each submitted Abbreviated New Drug
Applications (ANDAs) seeking permission to markengric versions of Zyprex@prior to the expiration of our
relevant U.S. patent (expiring in 2011) and allggimat this patent was invalid or not enforceaWle. filed lawsuits
against these companies in the U.S. District Clourthe Southern District of Indiana, seeking anglthat the pate
is valid, enforceable, and being infringed. Therdiscourt ruled in our favor on all counts on Adr4, 2005, and o
December 26, 2006, that ruling was upheld by thertCaf Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On OctolbheP007, the
United States Supreme Court denied the generic anieg petition for certiorari, bringing this litigjon to a close.

In June 2005, Dr. Alan Schreiber filed a lawsuidiagt us in the United States District Court far Bastern District
of Pennsylvania raising a number of claims, inalgdpatent infringement, misappropriation of tradersts, breach
of contract, and unjust enrichment, and seekingcadation for inventorship of Lilly’s Evista mettimf-use
patents. After the original lawsuit was filed, teiversity of Pennsylvania was added as a plaintiff trial date ha
been scheduled. We believe these claims are witbgat merit and expect to prevail in this litigatj however, it is
not possible to determine the outcome. An unfaverfibal outcome could have a material adverse ohpa our
consolidated results of operations, liquidity, dinéncial position.

-13-




In July 2005, Vanderbilt University filed a lawstuitthe United States District Court in Delawaraiagt

ICOS Corporation seeking to add three of its s@&nas co-inventors on the Cialis compound andhawkbf-use
patents. The trial was held in front of the digtdourt judge in January 2008 but a decision hasoyke rendered.
We believe these claims are without legal merit exgect to prevail in this litigation; howeverjgtnot possible to
determine the outcome. An unfavorable final outcamald have a material adverse impact on our cateted
results of operations, liquidity, and financial jhias.

In October 2002, Pfizer Inc. was issued a methedsefpatent in the United States and commencedsaigin the
United States District Court in Delaware againstlilsy ICOS LLC, and ICOS Corporation (both nowtsidiaries
of Lilly) alleging that the marketing of Cialis ferectile dysfunction infringed this patent. Thightion has been
stayed pending the outcome of a reexaminationeoptitent by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Offibe. Office
has now made a final rejection of the relevantqtatiaims which Pfizer is appealing. We believez@fis claims ar
without merit and expect to prevail. However, ih possible to determine the outcome of thigdition.

Other Product Liability Litigation

We are currently a defendant in a variety of pradiability lawsuits in the United States involvimgimarily
Zyprexa, diethylstilbestrol (“DES”) and thimerosal.

In approximately 85 U.S. actions involving approabely 140 claimants, plaintiffs seek to recover dges on
behalf of children or grandchildren of women whaevprescribed DES during pregnancy.

We have been named as a defendant in approxin2f6lactions in the U.S., involving approximately

310 claimants, brought in various state courtsfaddral district courts on behalf of children wéthtism or other
neurological disorders who received childhood vaesi(manufactured by other companies) that cordaine
thimerosal, a generic preservative used in cexadtines in the U.S. beginning in the 1930s. Welmased patents
and conducted research pertaining to thimerosdler1 920s. We have been named in the suits eveghhee
discontinued manufacturing the raw material in 187d discontinued selling it in the United Statesdccine
manufacturers in 1992. The lawsuits typically naheevaccine manufacturers as well as Lilly and othgtributors
of thimerosal, and allege that the children’s exppeso thimerosal-containing vaccines caused tgism or other
neurological disorders. We strongly deny any libih these cases. There is no credible sciengiidence
establishing a causal relationship between thinadi@mtaining vaccines and autism or other neuroldgisarders
In addition, we believe the majority of the caslesudd not be prosecuted in the courts in which theaye been
brought because the underlying claims are subjetttet National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986
Implemented in 1988, the Act established a mangatederally administered niault claims process for individue
who allege that they were harmed by the administiaif childhood vaccines. Under the Act, claimsstrfirst be
brought before the U.S. Court of Claims for an al@termination under the compensation guidelisesbéished
pursuant to the Act. Claimants who are unsatisfigd their awards under the Act may reject the alaard seek
traditional judicial remedies.

Other Marketing Practices Investigations

In February 2006, we reached a settlement of agstigation by the Office of Consumer Litigation,@aetment of
Justice, related to our marketing and promotionattices and physician communications with resfeBvista. As
part of the settlement, we agreed to plead guiltyrte misdemeanor violation of the Food, Drug, @odmetic Act.
The plea was for the off-label promotion of Evidtaing 1998. The government did not charge the @mpvith

any unlawful intent, nor do we acknowledge any satént. In connection with the overall settlemem, paid a

total of $36.0 million. In addition, as part of thettlement, a civil consent decree requires usiinue to have a
compliance program and to undertake a set of defioeporate integrity obligations related to Evifstafive years.

In August 2003, we received notice that the stathe SEC is conducting an investigation into tbenpliance by
Polish subsidiaries of certain pharmaceutical cangs including Lilly, with the U.S. Foreign
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Corrupt Practices Act of 1977. The staff has issudaboenas to us requesting production of docunelated to
the investigation. We are cooperating with the $fE@sponding to the investigation.

Shareholder Litigation

Two lawsuits that seek class action status weed fit the United States District Court for the EastDistrict of
New York against us and various current and fordierctors, officers and employeeSmith et al. v. Eli Lilly and
Company et al, filed March 28, 2007, andalentine v. Eli Lilly and Company et diled April 5, 2007). The suits
have been consolidated under the capitiore Eli Lilly and Company Securities Litigatiomn August 2007, the lei
plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaseteking certification of a putative class of pusgra of our stock
from August 1, 2002, through December 22, 2006. ddraplaint alleges that the defendants made faide a
misleading statements regarding Zyprexa in viotatibthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and seekgecified
compensatory damages and the costs of suit, imguatiorneys’ fees. In October 2007, defendarasl fil motion to
dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. Thabmbas been converted in part to a motion forreany
judgment, and a hearing on the motion is scheduldtarch 2008. We believe these claims are withoetit and
are prepared to defend against them vigorously.

In April 2007, the company received demands from slvareholders that the board of directors cawsedmpany
to take legal action against current and formezadars and others for allegedly causing damagee@ompany wit
respect to the allegedly improper marketing of Eyi®rozac, and Zyprexa. We received a similar dehira
September related only to Zyprexa. In accordantle priocedures established under the Indiana Busines
Corporation Law (Ind. Code § 23-1-32), the boars &yapointed a committee of independent personsrisider the
demands and determine what action, if any, the emyghould take in response. In January 2008, fitteecthree
shareholders who had submitted the demands fitktigative suit in the United States District Cofiart the
Southern District of Indiana, nominally on behditle company, against various current and fornirexctbrs and
officers (Lambrecht, et al. v. Taurel, et affiled January 17, 2008). The suit alleges thattibard of directors
constructively denied the shareholdgygbr demands by failing to take action on the dedsasufficiently promptly
We believe this suit is without merit and are prepao defend against it vigorously.

Other Matters

In October 2005, we received a subpoena from tise Attorney’s office for the District of Massachttsdor the
production of documents relating to our busineksimnship with a long-term care pharmacy orgamizat
concerning Actos, Evista, Humalog, Humulin, and i&xa. We are cooperating in responding to the sergo

Between 2003 and 2005, various municipalities imwN®rk sued us and many other pharmaceutical matwiers,
claiming in general that as a result of allegedrimppieties by the manufacturers in the calculatiad reporting of
average wholesale prices for purposes of Mediadidbiursement, the municipalities overpaid theitiparof the
cost of pharmaceuticals. The suits seek monetahotrer relief, including civil penalties and treldamages. A
similar suit was filed against us and many othenufiacturers by the state of Mississippi. In Octadngal November
of 2007, respectively, the States of lowa and Uital similar suits against Lilly and several otlpdrarmaceutical
manufacturers. These suits are pending eitherittls. District Court for the District of Massachtis or in variou
state courts. All of these suits are in the eadgass.

During 2004 we, along with several other pharmacalicompanies, were named in one consolidatedinase
Minnesota federal court brought on behalf of constsalleging that the conduct of pharmaceuticalgames in
preventing commercial importation of prescriptiongs from outside the United States violated argittaws, and
one case in California state court brought by sev@rarmacies in which plaintiffs’ claims are lsgecifically
stated, but are substantially similar to the claamserted in Minnesota. Both cases seek restitfdgroalleged
overpayments for pharmaceuticals and an injuncguainst the allegedly violative conduct. The fetldistrict cour
in the Minnesota case has dismissed the fedeiiaig|auling that the state claims must be brougtgeparate state
court actions. The Eighth Circuit Court of Appehis affirmed the district court’s
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decision, and the time for further appeals hasddpk the California case, summary judgment has lgganted to
Lilly and the other defendants. The plaintiffs happealed that decision.

We have received requests for information aboutr@yg from the offices of Representative Henry Wann@hair
of the House Committee on Oversight and GoverniRefitrm, and Senator Charles Grassley, ranking meofbe
the Senate Finance Committee. We have also recaiveguest from Representative Waxman'’s office for
information about drug pricing under Medicare FariVe are cooperating with these requests.

Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response p€nsation, and Liability Act, commonly known as
Superfund, we have been designated as one of speteatially responsible parties with respecthe tleanup of
fewer than 10 sites. Under Superfund, each resplengarty may be jointly and severally liable fhetentire amou
of the cleanup.

We are also a defendant in other litigation ane#tigations, including product liability, patentdaemployment
litigation, of a character we regard as normaluplmsiness.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holc

During the fourth quarter of 2007, no matters waremitted to a vote of security holders.

Part Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common EguRelated
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of E@dturities

You can find information relating to the principahrket for our common stock and related stockhalagtters at
Part Il, Item 8 under “Selected Quarterly Data (uited)” and “Selected Financial Data (unaudited@hat
information is incorporated here by reference.

The following table summarizes the activity relatedepurchases of our equity securities duringdleth quarter
ended December 31, 2007:

Total Number of Shar Approximate Dollar Valu
Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet

Total Number o Average Price Pa Publicly Announce Purchased Under tt
Shares Purchas per Share Plans or Prograrr Plans or Programr
Period (a) (b) (c) (d)
(in thousands (Dollars in millions)

October 200° — — — $419.2
November 200° 1 53.6¢ — 419.2
December 200 1 52.7¢ — 419.2
Total 2 —

The amounts presented in columns (a) and (b) alEpresent purchases of common stock related toogeIstock
option exercises. The amounts presented in colyorend (d) in the above table represent activdtgted to our
$3.00 billion share repurchase program announcétiirch 2000. As of December 31, 2007, we have @mset
$2.58 billion related to this program.

ltem 6. Selected Financial Da

You can find selected financial data for each affoue most recent fiscal years in Part Il, ltemi@er “Selected
Financial Data (unaudited).” That information isanporated here by reference.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and AnalysiBes$ults of
Operations and Financial Conditi

Review of Operations
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

This section provides an overview of our financesults, significant business development, receodyxt and late-
stage pipeline developments, and legal, regulatorgl,other matters affecting our company and tieerphceutical
industry.

Financial Results

We achieved worldwide sales growth of 19 percehis §rowth was primarily driven by volume increagea
number of key products, with a significant portwfrthis increase in volume resulting from the asdgign of ICOS.
Our additional investments in marketing and selkxgenses in support of key products, primarily Ggia® and
the diabetes care products, contributed to thisssgilowth and enabled us to increase our investimeesearch and
development 11 percent in 2007. While cost of safesoperating expenses in the aggregate grewpahdmately
the same rate as sales, other income — net dedraadahe effective tax rate increased. As a resettincome and
earnings per share increased 11 percent, to $al@hbor $2.71 per share, in 2007 as compareth %2.66 billion,
or $2.45 per share, in 2006. Net income comparibehseen 2007 and 2006 are affected by the imgaheo
following significant items that are reflected iardinancial results (see Notes 3, 4, and 13 tcctivesolidated
financial statements for additional information):

2007

» We recognized asset impairments, restructuringcdimer special charges of $98.2 million (pretaxthia fourth
quarter, which decreased earnings per share by B.@7e first quarter, we recognized similar clesrgssociated
with previously announced strategic decisions difigananufacturing and research facilities of $D28illion
(pretax), which decreased earnings per share 8y(8l6te 4).

» We incurred a special charge following a settlenvattt one of our insurance carriers over Zypré&xaoduct
liability claims, which led to a reduction of ouxpected product liability insurance recoveries.shigsulted in a
charge of $81.3 million (pretax), which decreasadhimgs per share by $.06 in the third quarter éNldtand 13’

» We incurred inprocess research and development (IPR&D) chargesiated with our licensing arrangement \
Glenmark Pharmaceuticals Limited India of $45.0ioml (pretax) and our licensing arrangement with
MacroGenics, Inc., of $44.0 million (pretax), whidbcreased earnings per share by $.05 in the fquetter
(Note 3).

* We incurred IPR&D charges associated with the aitjom of Hypnion, Inc. (Hypnion), of $291.1 millio(no tax
benefit) and the acquisition of Ivy Animal Healthe. (lvy), of $37.0 million (pretax), which decr=d earnings
per share by $.29 in the second quarter (Not

» We incurred IPR&D charges associated with the aitjom of ICOS of $303.5 million (no tax benefitycha
licensing arrangement with OSI Pharmaceutical28f@ million (pretax), which decreased earningssheare by
$.29 in the first quarter (Note &

2006

» We recognized asset impairments, restructuring,céimer special charges of $450.3 million (pretadhie fourth
quarter, which decreased earnings per share by(R@&& 4).

* In the fourth quarter, we incurred a charge relaédedyprexa product liability litigation matters $f94.9 million
(pretax), or $.42 per share (Notes 4 and

-17-




SIX PRODUCTS EXCEEDED

%1 BILLION IN NET SALES E

1% mrilliss] -

Ten products and one product lime

exceeded 500 million in net sales

during zoo7. Six of these products —

Zyprexa, Cymbalta, Gemzar, Humaloeg,

Cialis, and Evista—exceeded 1 billion

in zoor. At more than 511 billion in o

sales in 2007, Cialis reached =1

“blockbuster” status in its fourth year o

on the market. Animal Health sales ] & o

tedarled Soo5.8 million in zoo7, driven o -

by increased demeand, the aoquisition ki ,:E E

of Ty Animal Health, and new o = g g -

courrprandon animal product loenches, & o E § .
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L ate-Stage Pipeline Developments and Business Development Activity

Our long-term success depends, to a great extemuioability to continue to discover and developavative
pharmaceutical products and acquire or collabarateompounds currently in development by otherdaiohology
or pharmaceutical companies. We have achieved &deuaf successes with late-stage pipeline develapsrand
recent business development transactions withipaseyear, including:

Pipeline

» On December 26, 2007, together with our collaboratiartner Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited, we siitad a
New Drug Application (NDA) for prasugrel to the UBood and Drug Administration (FDA). The propo:
trademark for prasugrel is Effieft. The submission follows the release of resulthiefTRITON TIMI-38
Phase lllheac-to-headstudy of prasugrel versus clopidogrel in Novem

* In January 2008, the FDA approved Cidlifor once-daily use to treat erectile dysfunctiorali€ was approved by
the European Commission for or-daily use in June 200

* In November, the FDA approved Cymbalta for the rreiance treatment of major depressive disordedutts In
February, the FDA approved Cymbalta for the treatnoé generalized anxiety disorder. During 2007, we
submitted a Supplemental New Drug Application t® BDA for Cymbalta for the management of fiboromyaal

* In October, with our collaboration partners Amytharmaceuticals, Inc., and Alkermes, Inc., we anoed
positive results from a 30-week comparator studgrafe-weekly exenatide loragting release injection and By
® (exenatide) injection taken twice daily in patiewith type 2 diabete:

* In the second quarter, we submitted NDAs to the DA the European Medicines Agency (EMEA) for appto
of olanzapine (Zyprexa) long-acting injection. &td February 2008, the FDA issued a “not approvdeéteer,
stating it needs more information to better underdtthe risk and underlying cause of excessivetisedavents
that have been observed in about one percent ieinsin clinical trials
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« In September, the FDA approved Evi&tfmr a new use to reduce the risk of invasive breaster in two
populations: postmenopausal women with osteopoasgigpostmenopausal women at high risk for invalsreast
cancer

« We submitted an application to the EMEA for cerized review of Alimta®, in combination with cisplatin, for tl
first-line treatment of nc-small cell lung cance

Business Development

* In December, we entered into a licensing and deveémt agreement with BioMS Medical Corp. whereby we
acquired exclusive worldwide rights to a multiptéesosis (MS) compound. The compound is currenting
evaluated in two pivotal Phase Ill clinical trisitssecondary progressive MS (SPMS) and one Phadiailal trial
in relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS). In connection kvthis agreement, we will incur a charge to earsifog
acquired IPR&D of $87.0 million (pretax), which Wile included as expense in the first quarter @&

« In October, we entered into an agreement with GakrRharmaceuticals Limited India whereby we aaguthe
rights to a portfolio of transient receptor potahtianilloid sub-family 1 (TRPV1) antagonist molées} including
a clinical-phase compound. The compound is cugréntPhase Il development as a potential next-geiter
treatment for various pain conditions, includingeasrthritic pain

* In October, we entered into a global strategi@atie with MacroGenics, Inc., to develop and comiakze
teplizumab, a humanized anti-CD3 monoclonal antfhad well as other potential next-generation &3
molecules for use in the treatment of autoimmuseates. As part of the arrangement, we acquiregiktiiesive
rights to the molecule. Teplizumab is currentlyrigestudied in the PROTEGE trial, a global pivotaa®e 11/l
clinical trial for individuals with rece-onset type 1 diabete

* In June, we completed the acquisition of Ivy AniRigalth, Inc., a privately held applied researcth an
pharmaceutical product development company focasdtie animal health industry. The acquisition jmes us
with product lines that complement those of ounaiihealth busines

* In April, we completed the acquisition of Hypnidnc., a privately held neuroscience drug discowemypany
focused on sleep disorders. The deal expands eaepce in the area of sleep disorder researchranities
ownership of a novel Phase Il insomnia compount @itlual mechanism of action aimed at promotintgbstee|
onset and sleep maintenan

* In January, we completed the acquisition of ICO8 ebst of approximately $2.3 billion. The acquisitbrings ths
full value of Cialis to us and enables us to reabperational efficiencies in the further developmenarketing,
and selling of this produc

* In January, we licensed from OSI| Pharmaceuticalglitcokinase activator (GKA) program for the treant of
type 2 diabetes, including the lead compound. Lifigeived an exclusive license to develop and nhake
compounds derived from the GKA progrs

Legal, Regulatory, and Other Matters

In October, the United States Supreme Court dehiegetitions for certiorari that were filed by Bev
Pharmaceuticals and Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, brgqntp an end the two companies’ challenges tovétieity of
Lilly’'s U.S. Zyprexa patent.

In June, we received notice of two court rulingsthey Canadian Federal Court and the German Patant @at
permit the entry of generic olanzapine (Zyprexabynpetitors into the Canadian and German mariastaeric
olanzapine is now available for sale by competilot€anada and Germany.

We have reached agreements with claimaattsrneys involved in U.S. Zyprexa product lialyilitigation to settle
total of approximately 31,200 claims against uatief to the medication. Approximately 1,235 clairesain. As a
result of our product liability exposures, since eginning of 2005, we have recorded aggregatpre&ix charges
of $1.61 billion for Zyprexa product liability maits.
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In March 2004, we were notified by the U.S. Attoriseoffice for the Eastern District of PennsylvafiEZDPA) that
it had commenced an investigation relating to oL8.Wnarketing and promotional practices for Zypréxazac®,
and Prozac WeekI§” . In November 2007, we received a grand jury subpdeom the EDPA requesting docume
related to Zyprexa.

In the United States, the Medicare PrescriptiongDtnprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (MMA)
continues to effectively provide a prescriptionglhenefit under the Medicare program (known as ®hedi Part D'
Various measures have been discussed and/or gadsetth the U.S. House of Representatives and $eBate that
would impose additional pricing pressures on oodpcts, including proposals to legalize the impaotaof
prescription drugs and either allow, or require, 8ecretary of Health and Human Services to negaliaig prices
within Medicare Part D directly with pharmaceuticanufacturers. Additionally, various proposalsénbeen
introduced that would increase the rebates we paates to Medicaid patients. We expect pricingguees at the
federal and state levels to continue.

In 2007, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Besreleased a final rule seeking to implementiaes of the
Deficit Reduction Act of 2005. This rule relatesthe Medicaid program and among other things, Gatts
methodology for the calculation and use of Averigaufacturer Price and Best Price for pharmacelgtitde hawi
implemented the final rule, which has the effecteafucing net selling prices for Medicaid salesyéeer, we do nc
expect the impact to be material to our consolidla¢sults of operations, liquidity, or financialgition.

International operations also are generally sulifeektensive price and market regulations, ancethee many
proposals for additional cost-containment measimekjding proposals that would directly or inditlgampose
additional price controls or reduce the value afiatellectual property protection.

OPERATING RESULTS — 2007
Sales

Our worldwide sales for 2007 increased 19 perdert18.63 billion, driven primarily by the inclusiof Cialis
since our January 29, 2007 acquisition of ICOSsaids growth of Cymbalta, Zyprexa, Alimta, Gem2aand
Humalog® . Worldwide sales volume increased 12 percent,endglling prices and foreign exchange rates each
increased sales by 3 percent. (Numbers do not agldodrounding.) Sales in the U.S. increased 18gmrto
$10.15 billion, driven primarily by increased satd<Cymbalta, Zyprexa, Alimta, and Byetta, and ithausion of
Cialis. Sales outside the U.S. increased 20 perteef8.49 billion, driven primarily by the inclusi of Cialis, and
sales growth of Zyprexa, Alimta, Gemzar, and Cyrabal

Zyprexa, our top-selling product, is a treatmemtsichizophrenia, acute mixed or manic episodescaged with
bipolar | disorder and bipolar maintenance. Zyprexis in the U.S. increased 6 percent in 200venidy higher
net selling prices, partially offset by lower derdaBales outside the U.S. increased 12 percentrdby the
favorable impact of foreign exchange rates andeimeed demand.

Sales of Cymbalta, a product for the treatment ajomdepressive disorder, diabetic peripheral ngattdc pain, an
generalized anxiety disorder, increased 58 petioghe U.S., driven primarily by strong demand.eSabutside the
U.S. increased 70 percent, driven by increased ddraad the favorable impact of foreign exchangestat

Sales of Gemzar, a product approved to fight varimancers, increased 10 percent in the U.S., dhydrigher
prices and increased demand. Sales outside thardr8ased 16 percent, driven by increased demaahthe
favorable impact of foreign exchange rates.

Sales of Humalog, our injectable human insulin egédbr the treatment of diabetes, increased 9 péinghe U.S.,
driven by higher prices and increased demand. Salside the U.S. increased 20 percent, drivembseased
demand and the favorable impact of foreign exchaatgs, partially offset by declining prices.
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The following table summarizes our net sales agtivi 2007 compared with 2006:

Year Ended Year Ended Percent

December 31, 200 December 31, 200 Change

Product u.s.1? Outside U.S Total Total from 2006

(Dollars in millions)

Zyprexa $2236.C $ 2525.( $ 4,761.( $ 4,363.¢ 9
Cymbalta 1,835.¢ 267.: 2,102.¢ 1,316.¢ 60
Gemzal 670.( 922.¢ 1,592.. 1,408.: 13
Humalog 888.( 586.€ 1,474.¢ 1,299.! 13
Cialis2 423.¢ 720.C 1,143.¢ 215.¢ NM
Evista 706.1 384.¢ 1,090." 1,045.; 4
Animal health product 480.¢ 514.¢ 995.¢ 875.5 14
Humulin® 365.2 620.( 985.2 925.¢ 6
Alimta 448.( 406.( 854.( 611.¢ 40
Forteo® 494.1 215.2 709.: 594.: 19
Strattere® 464.¢ 104.¢ 569.4 579.( 2
Humatrope® 213.€ 227.% 440.¢ 415.¢ 6
Actos® 150.¢ 219.¢ 370.€ 448.F ()]
Byetta 316.t 14.Z 330.7 219.( 51
Other pharmaceutical produr 452.: 760.( 1,212 1,373.: (12
Total net sale $10,145! $ 8,488.( $18,633.! $ 15,691.( 19

NM — Not meaningful

1 u.s. sales include sales in Puerto R

2 Prior to the acquisition of ICOS, the Cialis sa@swn in the table above represent results ontlgerterritories in which we marketed Cialis
exclusively. The remaining sales relate to thetjgemture territories of Lilly ICOS LLC (North Amia, excluding Puerto Rico, and Europe).
Our share of the joint-venture territory sales,afetxpenses and income taxes, is reported in @atheme — net in our consolidated income
statement. Subsequent to the acquisition, all €@lbduct sales are reported in our net s.

KEY CONTRIBUTORS TO 2007
SALES GROWTH

[% im milligns represent growth
in producl sales; percentages
represent changes from 2004]

| +40%

Eight products—Cvmbalta, Zypresa, Cialis,
Alimita, Gemnzar, Humalog, Forteo, and
Byetta—generated §11.0 billion in net sales
during zoo7, an increase of 52.9 billion over
Zood. Assuming our acquisition of 1005
oocurred on Janwary 1, 2006, these eight
products generated an increase of $2.3 billion
over 2zoo6. This growth was primarily driven
by valurne increases. Cialis sales shown
assime e acquisition of IC0S occurred

on farmiary 1, o006, On an as reported basis,
Cialis sales increased So28.0 million in 2007
as compared fo 2006,

] 4o

+25%
=405

+13%:

Humaiog [ ] +13%

Foteo [ +19%
Byulla |:|-|5'|%

Cialis
Alimta
GEmzar

Cymbaha |
Typrea |
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SALES GROW ACROS55 THERAPEUTIC AREAS

Siles in Newrosciences, led by Zyprexsa
ared Cymbalta, increased 17 percent as
compared o 2006 and represent

42 percent of our 2007 net sales.
Endocrinslogy, led by Humalog,
Evista, and Humnlin, increased

g percent and represent 29 percent

of euir ooz el sales. Assaming

the aoguisition of 1005 occurred

on Jamary 1, 2006, Cardiovascular
.Hl"fs .llﬂl:f{"lsﬂ: $2I B2 H'll-llllf'f [

14 percent as compared to 2006,

B Meurnscience 008 |

B Endocrinology el $2I66
0 Oncology -26%
0 Cardiovascular

O 0ther Pharmaceutical

O Aramal Health

Total worldwide sales of Cialis, a treatment faeaile dysfunction, were $1.22 billion and $971.Wlion during
2007 and 2006, respectively. This includes $72lianiof sales in the Lilly ICOS joint-venture t@waries for the
2007 period prior to the acquisition of ICOS. Waride sales grew 25 percent in 2007. U.S. salesasad

20 percent in 2007, driven by increased demanchagtter prices. Sales outside the U.S. increasqueg@ent in
2007, driven by increased demand, the favorablaanpf foreign exchange rates, and higher pricesr B the
ICOS acquisition, Cialis sales in our territoriesre/reported in net sales, while our 50 percenestigthe joint-
venture net income was reported in other incomeet-All sales of Cialis subsequent to the ICOS &itjon are
reported in our net sales.

Sales of Evista, a product for the prevention aedtinent of osteoporosis in postmenopausal womeficaumisk
reduction of invasive breast cancer in postmenadausmen with osteoporosis and postmenopausal wankigh
risk for invasive breast cancer, increased 6 peicethe U.S., driven by higher prices. Sales al#tshe

U.S. increased 1 percent, driven by the favorahfgaict of foreign exchange rates, partially offsetdwer prices
and lower demand.

Sales of Humulin, an injectable human insulin far treatment of diabetes, decreased 1 perceng it .., driven
by lower demand, partially offset by higher pric8ales outside the U.S. increased 11 percent,rdbyencreased
demand and the favorable impact of foreign exchaatgs, partially offset by lower prices.

Sales of Alimta, a second-line treatment for somall cell lung cancer and in combination with dm@otagent, for tt
treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma, inseela28 percent in the U.S., driven by increasedatiénand to a
lesser extent, higher prices. Sales outside theibcB8ased 55 percent, driven by increased deraaddo a lesser
extent, the favorable impact of foreign exchandges.a

Sales of Forteo, an injectable treatment for osiemgis in postmenopausal women and men at higHaiskacture,
increased 19 percent in the U.S., driven by higieérselling prices. U.S. sales growth benefitethfexcess to
medical coverage through the Medicare Part D pragiad decreased utilization of our U.S. patienistensce
program and to a lesser extent, increased demates 8utside the U.S. increased 21 percent, dbyencreased
demand and the favorable impact of foreign exchaatgs.
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Sales of Strattera, a treatment for attention-ddfigeractivity disorder in children, adolescertsd adults,
decreased 9 percent in the U.S., as a result otdsed demand. Sales outside the U.S. increasger&ént, driven
by increased demand and the favorable impact efdorexchange rates.

Our revenues from Actos, an oral agent for thettneat of type 2 diabetes, a portion of which représevenues
from a copromotion agreement in the U.S. with TakBtarmaceuticals North America (Takeda), decreased
46 percent in the U.S. Actos is manufactured byetiakChemical Industries, Ltd., and sold in the BySTakeda.
Our U.S. marketing rights with respect to Actosieeghin September 2006; however, we continue teivec
royalties from Takeda through September 2009 atrditat decline each year. Our arrangement outséde

U.S. continues. Sales outside the U.S. increasgubBfent, driven primarily by increased demandtarallesser
extent, the favorable impact of foreign exchandes.a

Worldwide sales of Byetta, an injectable producttfe treatment of type 2 diabetes, which we marktt Amylin
Pharmaceuticals (Amylin), increased 51 percent&0% million during 2007. We report as revenuesupercent
share of Byetta’s gross margin in the U.S., 10@getrof Byetta sales outside the U.S., and ouss#Hl8yetta pen
delivery devices to Amylin. Our revenues increaSggercent to $330.7 million in 2007.

Animal health product sales in the U.S. increasggdrcent, driven by increased demand, the aciquisif Ivy
Animal Health, and new companion-animal produchthes. Sales outside the U.S. increased 10 pedrérgn by
the favorable impact of foreign exchange ratesiaogtased demand.

GROSS MARGIN E 2 .2 g
S OE 5
|percent of net sales| g B 5 2o
o P
Gross margin as a percent of net sales decreased ]
slightly in 2007, due primarily to the expense
rr.:sl.l.l’u'ng_lfrulrl the armoriizaiion {.l_lf the r'ruu:r_rjr'{af{'

assets acguired in the ICOS acquisition, the
witfavorable impact of foreign exchange rates, ard
Irr{.lrh:n:'rr'u:r volrnes o ot o slower rate than
sales, offset partially by manufacturing expenses
growing af a stower rate than sales.

Gross Margin, Costs, and Expenses

The 2007 gross margin decreased to 77.2 percesaled compared with 77.4 percent for 2006. Thisedese was
primarily due to the expense resulting from the dipation of the intangible assets acquired inl®@S acquisitior
the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange rated,@oduction volumes growing at a slower rate thalps, offset
partially by manufacturing expenses growing atoavek rate than sales.

Operating expenses (the aggregate of researcheaetbgment and marketing, selling, and administea¢ixpenses)
increased 19 percent in 2007. Investment in rebesard development increased 11 percent, to $3lH@nbiln
addition to the acquisition of ICOS, this increases due to increases in discovery research andtage clinical
trial costs. We continued to be a leader in ouugty peer group by investing
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approximately 19 percent of our sales into reseanthdevelopment during 2007. Marketing, sellimg] a
administrative expenses increased 25 percent iil,20(6.10 billion. This increase was largely du¢he impact of
the ICOS acquisition, as well as increased margetimd selling expenses in support of key prodyeis)arily
Cymbalta and the diabetes care products, and tla@anable impact of foreign exchange rates.

Acquired IPR&D charges were $745.6 million in 200 related to the acquisitions of ICOS, Hypnior by, as
well as our licensing arrangements with OSI, Ma@niGs, and Glenmark. We incurred asset impairments,
restructuring, and other special charges of $36#l%n in 2007 as compared to $945.2 million in0B0 See
Notes 3, 4 and 13 to the consolidated financiaéstants for additional informatio

Other income — net decreased $115.8 million, to2& Billion. This line item consists of interespexse, interest
income, the after-tax operating results of theylLitOS joint venture, and all other miscellaneowime and
expense items.

* Interest expense for 2007 decreased $9.8 millmf228.3 million. This decrease is a result of loeserage debt
balances in 2007 compared to 20

* Interest income for 2007 decreased $46.6 millior215.3 million, due to lower cash balances in72€@mpared
to 2006.

* The Lilly ICOS joint-venture income was $11.0 naliin 2007 as compared to $96.3 million in 2006 tuthe
acquisition of ICOS on January 29, 20

» Net other miscellaneous income items increased @él®n to $124.0 million.

We incurred tax expense of $923.8 million in 20@aulting in an effective tax rate of 23.8 percenmpared with
22.1 percent for 2006. The effective tax rate2fa®7 and 2006 were affected primarily by the nondéble ICOS
and Hypnion IPR&D charges of $594.6 million in 20@Ad the product liability charges of $494.9 roifliin 2006.
The tax effect of the product liability charge weass than our effective tax rate, as the tax benefs calculated
based upon existing tax laws in the countries irclvive reasonably expect to deduct the chargeNs&z 11 to the
consolidated financial statements for addition&imation.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INVESTMENT
INCREASING
[% millions, percent of net salas)

Research and development expenditures increased by
11 paercent, to 53,5 billion, in 2007 dite to increases in
discovery research and late-stage clinical trial costs,
This sustaireed level of investiment in research and
development enabled s to move an unprecedented
mumber of drivg candidates into human clinical irials in
2007, supporting our commitment to develop
best-inrclnss amd firstin-closs medicines to provide
answers for the unmet medical needs of our customers,

82,02 | 20,7%
w28 | 19,90
s3.487 | 16.7%

$2601 | 19.4%

52250 | 10.7%
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OPERATING RESULTS — 2006
Financial Results

We achieved worldwide sales growth of 7 percenmarily as a result of strong growth of our newesgucts. We
increased our investment in marketing expensesppart of key products, primarily Cymbalta and thiabetes car
products, and continued our commitment to reseanchdevelopment, investing approximately 20 peroéour
sales during 2006. Our results also benefited fronmtinued growth in profitability of the Lilly ICOint venture a
well as cost-containment and productivity initi@sv Net income was $2.66 billion, or $2.45 per shar2006 as
compared with $1.98 billion, or $1.81 per share2005, representing an increase in net income arrdrgs per
share of 35 percent. Certain items, reflected moperating results for 2006 and 2005, should msicered in
comparing the two years. The significant items2006 are summarized in the Executive Overview. 205 items
are summarized as follows (see Notes 2, 4, and ii#tconsolidated financial statements for addiiio
information):

» We incurred a charge related to product liabilitigation matters, primarily related to Zyprexa,&if.07 billion
(pretax), which decreased earnings per share iyi.®e second quarter (Notes 4 and

» We recognized asset impairments and other spdw@ages of $171.9 million (pretax) in the fourth gaga which
decreased earnings per share by $.14 (No

» We adopted Financial Accounting Standards BoardS@B)Anterpretation (FIN) 47, Accounting for Condital
Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretatioRrASB Statement No. 143, in the fourth quarter. @&teption of
FIN 47 resulted in an adjustment for the cumulaéffect of a change in accounting principle of $2@illion
(after-tax), which decreased earnings per share by $.62(R).

Sales

Our worldwide sales for 2006 increased 7 percer16.69 billion, driven primarily by sales grondhCymbalta,
Forteo, Byetta, Zyprexa, and Alimta. Worldwide salelume increased 3 percent, and selling priceeased sales
by 4 percent. Foreign exchange rates did not impaicoverall sales growth. Sales in the U.S. ireedal0 percent,
to $8.60 billion, driven primarily by increasedesiof Cymbalta, diabetes care products, ForteoZgptexa.

U.S. growth comparisons benefited from an estim&tietD million of wholesaler destocking that haduwreed in
2005 as a result of restructuring our arrangemeittsour U.S. wholesalers in the first quarter 603. Additionally
we experienced a sales benefit resulting from # shcertain low-income patients from MedicaidNtedicare and
increased access to medical coverage by certaengmpreviously covered under our LillyAnswérgrogram
following the implementation of MMA in 2006. Thisutributed part of the increases in U.S. net eiffectales
prices of 9 percent. Sales outside the U.S. ineckdspercent, to $7.09 billion, driven by growthQymbalta,
Alimta, and Zyprexa.

Zyprexa sales in the U.S. increased 4 percent® 2friven by higher prices, offset in part by lewlemand. The
increase in net selling prices was partially duthtotransition of certain low-income patients frdfedicaid to
Medicare. Sales outside the U.S. increased 4 perbéven primarily by increased demand, offsepant by
declining prices.

Diabetes care products had aggregate worldwidentegeof $2.96 billion in 2006, an increase of &pat. Diabete
care revenues in the U.S. increased 8 perceni,.@@®illion. Diabetes care revenues outside tt& Wicreased
2 percent, to $1.23 billion. Results from our pryndiabetes care products are as follows:

* Humalog sales increased 10 percent in the U.S.pdoearily to higher prices, and increased 7 peroeitside the
U.S., due primarily to increased volume, offsetipdly by lower prices

* Humulin sales in the U.S. decreased 10 percenpdoerily to decreased volume, offset partiallyibgreased
selling prices. Outside the U.S., Humulin salesel@sed 6 percent due to decreases in demand &ingd pekes.
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* Actos revenues in the U.S. decreased 22 perc@f(6, due to the expiration of our U.S. marketigdts in
September 2006. Sales outside the U.S. increaspdr2ant, due primarily to increased volume in ddito a
favorable impact of foreign exchange rates, offisgtart by lower prices

* Total sales of Byetta, launched in the U.S. in 220@5, were $430.2 million for 200

Sales of Gemzar increased 4 percent in the U.8.pdmarily to higher prices as well as the redutdiin
U.S. wholesaler inventory levels in 2005. Gemzéessmcreased 7 percent outside the U.S., drivestiong
volume.

Sales of Cymbalta increased 82 percent in the dU®. to strong demand. Sales of Cymbalta outsigl&tB. reflect
international launches.

Sales of Evista increased 2 percent in the U.Stabéher prices, offset partially by a declinedemand. Outside
the U.S., sales of Evista decreased 1 percengrdby lower prices, offset by an increase in demand

The following table summarizes our net sales agtivi 2006 compared with 2005:

Year Ended Year Ended Percent

December 31, 200 December 31, 200 Change

Product us.t Outside U.S Total Total from 2005

(Dollars in millions)

Zyprexa $2,106.. $ 2,257.: $ 4,363.¢ $ 4,202.: 4
Gemzai 609.¢ 798.: 1,408.: 1,334.t 6
Cymbalta 1,158. 157.% 1,316. 679.7 94
Humalog 811.( 488.t 1,299.! 1,197. 9
Evista 664.( 381.c 1,045.1 1,036.: 1
Humulin 367.¢ 557.¢ 925.¢ 1,004. (8)
Animal health product 405.¢ 469.¢ 875.k 863.7 1
Alimta 350.1 261.7 611.¢ 463.2 32
Forteo 416.2 178.1 594.: 389.: 53
Strattere 509.2 69.¢ 579.( 552.1 5
Actos 279.1 169.¢ 448.% 493.( 9)
Humatrope 202.C 213. 415.€ 4144 0
Byetta 219.( — 219.( 39.€ NM
Cialis? 3.7 212.1 215.¢ 169.¢ 27
Other pharmaceutical produc 496.1 877.2 1,373.1 1,805.: (24
Total net sale $8,599.. $ 7,091.& $15,691.( $ 14,645.. 7

NM — Not meaningful

1 u.s. sales include sales in Puerto R

2 Cialis had worldwide 2006 sales of $971.0 millicepresenting an increase of 30 percent comparéd20@5. The sales shown in the table
above represent results only in the territoriesliich we marketed Cialis exclusively. The remainsdes relate to the joint-venture territories
of Lilly ICOS LLC (North America, excluding Pueri®ico, and Europe). Our share of the joint-ventereitory sales, net of expenses and
income taxes, is reported in other incc— net in our consolidated statements of inco

Sales of Alimta increased 18 percent and 57 peinght U.S. and outside the U.S., respectivelg, piimarily to
increased demand.

Sales of Forteo increased 57 percent in the U.&ddlition to increased demand, U.S. sales signifigdenefited
from patients’ access to medical coverage throhghMedicare Part D program and from decreasedatiitin of
our U.S. patient assistance program, LillyAnsw&ales outside the U.S. increased 43 percent, tiefiestrong
demand.
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Sales of Strattera increased 2 percent in thedi&1to higher prices as well as the reductions.B Wholesaler
inventory levels in 2005, offset by a decline imdad. Sales outside the U.S. increased 31 peroerpriimarily to
increased demand in addition to a modest favoraipact of foreign exchange rates, offset partibiower prices

Total product sales of Cialis increased 38 pertetite U.S. and 24 percent outside the U.S. WoddvZialis sales
growth reflects the impact of market share gairerket growth, and price increases during 2006.

Animal health product sales in the U.S. increadeg@drcent, due primarily to increased demand leRiyensir®
and Tylan® . Sales outside the U.S. decreased 5 percentndpivearily by the decrease in the sales of Surfhas
a result of the European Union’s growth promotige ban on the product, effective January 1, 2006.

Gross Margin, Costs, and Expenses

The 2006 gross margin increased to 77.4 percesdles compared with 76.3 percent for 2005. Thiseesme was
primarily due to increased product prices and iaseel production volume, partially offset by highmmnufacturing
expenses.

Operating expenses increased 7 percent in 2006stment in research and development increasedc8ngeto
$3.13 billion, primarily due to increases in diseoyvresearch and clinical trial costs. We continteede a leader in
our industry peer group by investing approxima®ypercent of our sales into research and developthging
2006. Marketing, selling, and administrative exganisicreased 9 percent in 2006, to $4.89 billidnis Thcrease wi
largely attributable to increased marketing antirepexpenses in support of key products, primatijymbalta and
the diabetes care franchise, and an increasegatidn-related costs.

Other income — net decreased $76.4 million, to $237illion.

* Interest expense for 2006 increased $132.9 miltm®$238.1 million. This increase was a resultighbr interest
rates and less capitalized interest due to the tdiop in late 2005 of certain manufacturing fa@#.

* Interest income for 2006 increased $49.8 millien$261.9 million, due to higher sh-term interest rate:

* The Lilly ICOS jointventure income was $96.3 million in 2006 as comgéoe$11.1 million in 2005. The incre¢
was due to increased Cialis sales and decreadedyseid marketing expense

* Net other miscellaneous income items decreased $ilion, to $117.7 million, primarily as a resuft less
income related to the outlicensing of legacy prasland partnered compounds in developrr

We incurred tax expense of $755.3 million in 20@&ulting in an effective tax rate of 22.1 percenmpared with
26.3 percent for 2005. The effective tax rate2fa®6 and 2005 were affected primarily by the prodiability
charges of $494.9 million and $1.07 billion, respay. The tax benefit associated with these changas less than
our effective tax rate, as the tax benefit wasudated based upon existing tax laws in the coumtriavhich we
reasonably expect to deduct the charge. See Ndteth& consolidated financial statements for aolokt
information.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31, 2007, cash, cash equivalentssiaort-term investments totaled $4.83 billion canegl with
$3.89 hillion at December 31, 2006. Cash flow froperations in 2007 of $5.15 billion and net prosefedm the
issuance of long-term debt of $1.45 billion excekte total of the net cash paid for corporate mitipns of
$2.67 billion, dividends paid of $1.85 billion, apdrchases of property and equipment of $1.080billi

Capital expenditures of $1.08 billion during 200&res consistent with 2006, due primarily to the nggamaent of
capital spending. We expect near-term capital ediperes to remain approximately the same as 2083idevhile
we invest in our biotech and research and develapimgiatives, continue to upgrade our
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manufacturing facilities to enhance productivitylaality systems, and invest in the long-term dghoef our
diabetes care products.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE MANAGEMENT CONTRIBUTES
TO CASH FLOW
[% millions]

| 512

We maintaired our capitol expenditures af a
stable level of 31,0 billion in 2oy, from o peak of
1.9 billion in 2004, We expect fo continue this
treved into 2008 by managing our capital spending
while we grmeest in our biotech and research and
development initiatives, continue to upgrade oir
mnifecturing facilities to enhance prodictivity
annd quenality systems, and fnvest in the long-term
growth of our diabetes core products,

| 1007

[ 31.29m

| 5102

| 1.0
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Total debt as of December 31, 2007 increased $iil$n, to $5.01 billion, reflecting the $2.50 lin of debt we
issued in 2007 to finance our acquisition of ICOffset by long-term debt repayment of $1.06 billi@Qur current
debt ratings from Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s aenat AA and Aa3, respectively.

Dividends of $1.70 per share were paid in 20074narease of 6 percent from 2006. In the fourth tgraosf 2007,
effective for the first-quarter dividend in 200Betquarterly dividend was increased to $.47 perestaal10.6 percent
increase), resulting in an indicated annual rat2@®8 of $1.88 per share. The year 2007 was tBedlnsecutive
year in which we made dividend payments and thk d6hsecutive year in which dividends have beereased

We believe that cash generated from operationagahith available cash and cash equivalents, \eilsbfficient to
fund our normal operating needs, including debtiser capital expenditures, costs associated witkyzt liability
litigation, dividends, and taxes in 2008. We badi¢ivat amounts accessible through existing commilgraper
markets should be adequate to fund short-term amgs, if necessary. We currently have $1.24 hillod unused
committed bank credit facilities, $1.20 billionwhich backs our commercial paper program. Our actesredit
markets has not been adversely affected by thatdbguidity in the market. Various risks and wertainties,
including those discussed in the Financial Expamtatfor 2008 section, may affect our operatingiitesand cash
generated from operations.
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DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE CONTINUE TO GROW
1% dellars)

| #1.40
| $1.70

| s157

Dividends paia diring zoo7 increased to $1.70 per share.
This constitutes the goth consecutive increase in ool

| £1.2
| $1.82

dividends, Our strong zoo7 results enabled us to increase
the first-quarter zo08 dividend by 10.6 percent, to 547
prer share, This substantial increase reflects our contined
commitment te enhancing shareholder return.
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In the normal course of business, our operatioagaposed to fluctuations in interest rates anceaay values.
These fluctuations can vary the costs of financimggsting, and operating. We address a portichede risks
through a controlled program of risk managemernttitidudes the use of derivative financial instrumse The
objective of controlling these risks is to limietimpact on earnings of fluctuations in interest anrrency exchang
rates. All derivative activities are for purposdisay than trading.

Our primary interest rate risk exposure resultefidhanges in short-term U.S. dollar interest rdtean effort to
manage interest rate exposures, we strive to aelaieacceptable balance between fixed and flosditegdebt
positions and may enter into interest rate denrrestto help maintain that balance. Based on ourathiaterest rate
exposure at December 31, 2007 and 2006, includingatives and other interest rate risk-sensithstruments, a
hypothetical 10 percent change in interest ratpfiexpto the fair value of the instruments as ot&uaber 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively, would have no material kchpa earnings, cash flows, or fair values of iestrrate risk-
sensitive instruments over a one-year period.

Our foreign currency risk exposure results fronttilating currency exchange rates, primarily the. ddiar agains
the euro and the Japanese yen, and the Britishdpageinst the euro. We face transactional currerpgpsures that
arise when we enter into transactions, generallgromtercompany basis, denominated in currendlesr than the
local currency. We also face currency exposureahiaes from translating the results of our glag@rations to the
U.S. dollar at exchange rates that have fluctuxted the beginning of the period. We use forwardtracts and
purchased options to manage our foreign currenpg®xes. Our policy outlines the minimum and maximhedge
coverage of such exposures. Gains and losses s@ degivative positions offset, in part, the impafoturrency
fluctuations on the existing assets, liabilitiesmenitments, and anticipated revenues. Considetimglerivative
financial instruments outstanding at December 80,72and 2006, a hypothetical 10 percent changrahaage
rates (primarily against the U.S. dollar) as of &eaber 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, would havenaterial
impact on earnings, cash flows, or fair valuesooéign currency rate risk-sensitive instrumentsr @a/ene-year
period. These calculations do not reflect the impdithe exchange gains or losses on the underfyarsitions that
would be offset, in part, by the results of theiviive instruments.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligabins

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements thatdenagerial current effect or that are reasonaképyl to have a
material future effect on our financial conditiaanges in financial condition, revenues or expgnssults of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, oritalresources. We acquire and partner assetsmnstibvelopment
and enter into research and development arrangemthtthird parties that often require milestonel aoyalty
payments to the third party contingent upon theuoemce of certain future events linked to the sgsmf the asset
in development. Milestone payments may be requioedingent upon the successful achievement of goitant
point in the development life cycle of the pharmaial product (e.g., approval of the product farketing by the
appropriate regulatory agency or upon the achiem¢wfecertain sales levels). If required by theaagement, we
may have to make royalty payments based upon a@m@ge of the sales of the pharmaceutical produtte event
that regulatory approval for marketing is obtainBdcause of the contingent nature of these paynidetg are not
included in the table of contractual obligations.

Individually, these arrangements are not matemnialny one annual reporting period. However, if sibaes for
multiple products covered by these arrangementddamappen to be reached in the same reporting ghethie
aggregate charge to expense could be materia¢teetiults of operations in any one period. Therierisk in
pharmaceutical development makes it unlikely this will occur, as the failure rate for productdevelopment is
very high. In addition, these arrangements oftee g the discretion to unilaterally terminate depment of the
product, which would allow us to avoid making tlmmtingent payments; however, we are unlikely teseea
development if the compound successfully achielin&al testing objectives. We also note that, frarhusiness
perspective, we view these payments as positivausecthey signify that the product is successtalbying througt
development and is now generating or is more likelgenerate cash flows from sales of products.

Our current noncancelable contractual obligatitwas will require future cash payments are as fadl@iw millions):

Payments Due by Period

Less Thar 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-term debt, including intere
payments! $ 9582 $ 6456 $ 522« $1,000.. $7,413.¢
Capital lease obligatior 72.5 5.2 20.2 5.8 30.€
Operating lease 305. 93.7 129.t 76.2 6.C
Purchase obligatior? 5,101.7 4,575.! 330.< 149.% 46.2
Other long-term liabilities reflected on our balanc
sheef 829.: — 154.: 159.7 515.:
Other4 146.3 146.3 — — —
Total $16,037.! $5,476.¢ $1,156.f $1,392.. $ 8,012.(

1 Our longterm debt obligations include both our expectedgpial and interest obligations and our interet# savaps. We used the interest
forward curve at December 31, 2007 to compute theust of the contractual obligation for interesttba variable rate debt instruments and
swaps.

We have included the followin

« Purchase obligations, consisting primarily of gdea purchase orders at our significant operationgtions as of December 31, 2007. S
of these purchase orders may be cancelable; howfeverurposes of this disclosure, we have noirdisished between cancelable and
noncancelable purchase obligatic

« Contractual payment obligations with each of ogn#icant vendors, which are noncancelable anchateontingent

3 We have included our long-term liabilities consigtprimarily of our nonqualified supplemental pemsfunding requirements and deferred
compensation liabilities. Liabilities for unrecoged tax benefits of $1.57 billion are excludedesspnable estimates could not be made
regarding the timing of future cash outflows asatex with those liabilities

This category comprises primarily minimum pensionding requirement:
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The contractual obligations table is current aBe¢ember 31, 2007. The amount of these obligatanshe
expected to change materially over time as newraot#t are initiated and existing contracts are detag,
terminated, or modified.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing our financial statements in accordamitie generally accepted accounting principles (GAAve must
often make estimates and assumptions that affeaefported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenexgeenses, and
related disclosures. Some of those judgments cauliijective and complex, and consequently actsaltsecould
differ from those estimates. For any given indidbestimate or assumption we make, it is posshaedther peopl
applying reasonable judgment to the same factsmodmstances could develop different estimatesbdlieve
that, given current facts and circumstances, tnigely that applying any such other reasonabdigjonent would
cause a material adverse effect on our consolidatadts of operations, financial position, or ldjty for the
periods presented in this report. Our most criticalounting policies have been discussed with odit aommittee
and are described below.

Revenue Recognition and Sales Rebate and Discourntchuals

We recognize revenue from sales of products dtirtiestitle of goods passes to the buyer and thebagsumes the
risks and rewards of ownership. For more than 36gue of our sales, this is at the time produotsshipped to the
customer, typically a wholesale distributor or ganaetail chain. The remaining sales are recomtetie point of
delivery. Provisions for discounts and rebateseatablished in the same period the related sateseaorded.

We regularly review the supply levels of our sigraht products sold to major wholesalers in the. @rgl in major
markets outside the U.S., primarily by reviewingipdic inventory reports supplied by our major wésdlers and
available prescription volume information for oungucts, or alternative approaches. We attemptaimtain
wholesaler inventory levels at an average of agprately one month or less on a consistent bas@saaur produs
portfolio. Causes of unusual wholesaler buyinggratt include actual or anticipated product supgdyés, weather
patterns, anticipated changes in the transportagétwork, redundant holiday stocking, and changeshiolesaler
business operations. An unusual buying pattern emetpwith underlying demand of our products outsice

U.S. could also be the result of speculative buyingvholesalers in anticipation of price increas®¥ben we believ
wholesaler purchasing patterns have caused an ainnstease or decrease in the sales of a majdupt@ompare
with underlying demand, we disclose this in ourdarct sales discussion if the amount is believdaetonaterial to
the product sales trend; however, we are not alablesto accurately quantify the amount of stoclonglestocking

As a result of restructuring our arrangements withU.S. wholesalers in early 2005, reductions oeclin
wholesaler inventory levels for certain productsniarily Strattera, Prozac, and Gemzar) that redueeg 2005
sales by approximately $170 million. The modifiéaisture eliminates the incentive for speculativeolesaler
buying and provides us improved data on inventevgls at our U.S. wholesalers. Wholesaler stociim
destocking activity historically has not caused araterial changes in the rate of actual producirnst which have
been approximately 1 percent of our net sales thepast three years and have not fluctuated gignily as a
percent of sales.

We establish sales rebate and discount accru#tie isame period as the related sales. The relstelniit amounts
are recorded as a deduction to arrive at our he$.s3ales rebates/discounts that require thefyadgment in the
establishment of the accrual include Medicaid, ngadacare, Medicare, chargebacks, long-term-casmitad,
patient assistance programs, and various othergment programs. We base these accruals primgron our
historical rebate/discount payments made to ouoowsr segment groups and the provisions of current
rebate/discount contracts.

The largest of our sales rebate/discount amourtseates associated with sales covered by Medicaid
determining the appropriate accrual amount, weidensur historical Medicaid rebate payments bydpiai as a
percentage of our historical sales as well as @njfeant changes in sales trends, an evaluatidheocurrent
Medicaid rebate laws and interpretations, the peagge of our products that are sold to Medicaid
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recipients, and our product pricing and currenatelliscount contracts. Although we accrue a lighfibr Medicaid
rebates at the time we record the sale (when thdugt is shipped), the Medicaid rebate relatethad sale is
typically paid up to six months later. Due to thed lag, in any particular period our rebate adjestts may
incorporate revisions of accruals for several migio

Most of our rebates outside the U.S. are contraciulegislatively mandated and are estimated aedgnized in th
same period as the related sales. In some larggEain countries, government rebates are basecd: @nticipated
pharmaceutical budget deficit in the country. Atlesgimate of these rebates, updated as governhaeniterities
revise budgeted deficits, is recognized in the spar®d as the related sale. If our estimates atredflective of the
actual pharmaceutical budget deficit, we adjustrebate reserves.

We believe that our accruals for sales rebategd@udunts are reasonable and appropriate basegr@ntfacts an
circumstances. Federally mandated Medicaid rebatestate pharmaceutical assistance programs (Mdyemad
Medicare rebates reduced sales by $642.1 millibril¥ million, and $637.1 million in 2007, 2006 da2005,
respectively. A 5 percent change in the Medicaidl ledicare rebate amounts we recognized in 2007dnead to
an approximate $32 million effect on our incomedbefincome taxes. As of December 31, 2007, our béediand
Medicare rebate liability was $308.8 million.

Approximately 75 percent and 85 percent of our glabbate and discount liability resulted from sadéour
products in the U.S. as of December 31, 2007 af8,2@spectively. The following represents a rolwfard of our
most significant U.S. rebate and discount liabifigtances, including Medicaid (in millions):

2007 2006

Rebate and discount liability, beginning of y. $ 383: $ 379«
Reduction of net sales due to discounts and re! 1,314.: 1,246.:
Cash payments of discounts and reb (1,228.9) (1,242.)
Rebate and discount liability, end of yt $ 468. $ 383:

1 Adjustments of the estimates for these rebateslawdunts to actual results were less than 0.3epéaf net sales for each of the years
presented

Product Litigation Liabilities and Other Contingencies

Product litigation liabilities and other contingésare, by their nature, uncertain and are baged complex
judgments and probabilities. The factors we condieeveloping our product litigation liability serves and othe
contingent liability amounts include the merits amdsdiction of the litigation, the nature and tnember of other
similar current and past litigation cases, the reatf the product and the current assessment afdieace subject to
the litigation, and the likelihood of settlementlazurrent state of settlement discussions, if &mgddition, we
accrue for certain product liability claims incutrdout not filed, to the extent we can formulateasonable estima
of their costs. We estimate these expenses basrdrpy on historical claims experience and datareing produc
usage. We accrue legal defense costs expectedrioureed in connection with significant produetility
contingencies when probable and reasonably estenabl

We also consider the insurance coverage we hadieniaish the exposure for periods covered by inscealn
assessing our insurance coverage, we consideptivy poverage limits and exclusions, the poterfbaldenial of
coverage by the insurance company, the financisitipa of the insurers, and the possibility of ahe length of
time for collection.

The litigation accruals and environmental liakglitiand the related estimated insurance recoveradlesbeen
reflected on a gross basis as liabilities and assetpectively, on our consolidated balance sheets

We believe that the accruals and related insuresm®/eries we have established for product litagatiabilities anc
other contingencies are appropriate based on duaets and circumstances.
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Pension and Retiree Medical Plan Assumption

Pension benefit costs include assumptions for iheodnt rate, retirement age, and expected retupian assets.
Retiree medical plan costs include assumptionthfodiscount rate, retirement age, expected retmnplan assets,
and health-care-cost trend rates. These assumpiamesa significant effect on the amounts repotiredddition to
the analysis below, see Note 12 to the consolidatadcial statements for additional informatiogaeding our
retirement benefits.

Periodically, we evaluate the discount rate ancettpected return on plan assets in our definedfibgremsion and
retiree health benefit plans. In evaluating thessimptions, we consider many factors, including\aluation of th
discount rates, expected return on plan assetthantkalth-care-cost trend rates of other compaaigshistorical
assumptions compared with actual results; an aisadysurrent market conditions and asset allocatio
(approximately 85 percent to 95 percent of whidhgmowth investments); and the views of leadingffitial
advisers and economists. We use an actuariallyrdeted, company-specific yield curve to determime discount
rate. In evaluating our expected retirement agemagson, we consider the retirement ages of our garployees
eligible for pension and medical benefits togethigh our expectations of future retirement ages.

We believe our pension and retiree medical planraptions are appropriate based upon the aboverfad¢tdhe
health-care-cost trend rates were to be increagemé percentage point each future year, the agtgeg the
service cost and interest cost components of th& 2@nual expense would increase by approximagsyndillion.
A one-percentage-point decrease would lower theeggde of the 2007 service cost and interest gost b
approximately $23 million. If the 2007 discountadbr the U.S. defined benefit pension and retireglth benefit
plans (U.S. plans) were to be changed by a quaeieentage point, income before income taxes wcheéahge by
approximately $32 million. If the 2007 expectediraton plan assets for U.S. plans were to be clibbgea quarter
percentage point, income before income taxes wcheahge by approximately $14 million. If our assuimpt
regarding the 2007 expected age of future retif@eld.S. plans were adjusted by one year, our ircbefore
income taxes would be affected by approximately ®8lion. The U.S. plans represent approximatelyp8€cent of
the total accumulated postretirement benefit okiigeand approximately 83 percent of total plaretssat
December 31, 2007.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

We review the carrying value of long-lived assetsdotential impairment on a periodic basis andwever events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carryaigevof an asset may not be recoverable. Impairieetgtermine
by comparing projected undiscounted cash flowsetgdnerated by the asset to its carrying valuen ifnpairment
is identified, a loss is recorded equal to the ssad the asset’s net book value over its fair@adund the cost basis
is adjusted. The estimated future cash flows, bagagasonable and supportable assumptions arecpoojs,
require management’s judgment. Actual results cualy from these estimates.

Income Taxes

We prepare and file tax returns based on our ingémfion of tax laws and regulations and recorareges based on
these judgments and interpretations. In the noomatse of business, our tax returns are subjestdmination by
various taxing authorities, which may result irufg tax, interest, and penalty assessments by thakerities.
Inherent uncertainties exist in estimates of mamypiositions due to changes in tax law resultiogifiegislation,
regulation and/or as concluded through the varjorsdictions’ tax court systems. We recognizetdebenefit
from an uncertain tax position only if it is mofkely than not that the tax position will be sustd on examination
by the taxing authorities, based on the techniagitsof the position. The tax benefits recognirethe financial
statements from such a position are measured loastitk largest benefit that has a greater thareb@ept
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resabuti The amount of unrecognized tax benefits issidflifor
changes in facts and circumstances. For exampglestatents could result from significant amendméatsxisting
tax law and the issuance of regulations or intégpiens by the taxing authorities, new informatabtained during
tax examination, or resolution of
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an examination. We believe that our estimates if@ettain tax positions are appropriate and sufficie pay
assessments that may result from examinationsrabaureturns. We recognize both accrued intenegtpeenalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits in incomeetepense.

We have recorded valuation allowances againstinesfaour deferred tax assets, primarily those Heate been
generated from net operating losses in certaimgpixirisdictions. In evaluating whether we wouldrebikely than
not recover these deferred tax assets, we hav@ssatmed any future taxable income or tax planrtiragegjies in th
jurisdictions associated with these carryforwardiere history does not support such an assumptiggiementatiol
of tax planning strategies to recover these dedaar assets or future income generation in thessdjctions could
lead to the reversal of these valuation allowargsa reduction of income tax expense.

We believe that our estimates for the uncertairptasitions and valuation allowances against therded tax assets
are appropriate based on current facts and ciramoss. A 5 percent change in the amount of thertaigeaax
positions and the valuation allowance would reisu#t change in net income of approximately $78iarilland

$26 million, respectively.

FINANCIAL EXPECTATIONS FOR 2008

For the full year of 2008, we expect earnings pares to be in the range of $3.80 to $3.95. Thisauie includes
the anticipated acquired in-process research anglafgment charges of $.05 related to the BioMSdarsing
agreement. We expect sales to grow in the midgb-kingle digits, driven primarily by increased voluarad stron
sales growth for Cymbalta, Cialis, Byetta, Aliméad Humalog. We expect modest improvement in graagin as
a percent of net sales, driven primarily by manufdeg expenses growing more slowly than salesdidition, we
expect operating expenses to grow more slowly sades in 2008, with growth in the mid-single dighgarketing,
selling, and administrative expenses are expeotgdow in the lowsingle digits, driven by investments in prasu
Cymbalta, Evista for invasive breast cancer riskuotion, Humalog, and Byetta, offset by decreasesher areas.
Research and development expenses are expectamitdangthe high-single to low-double digits. Othecome —
net is expected to contribute less than $100 milliche effective tax rate is expected to be appnaieély 23 percer
We expect capital expenditures of approximatelyl &illion.

Actual results could differ materially and will dapd on, among other things, the continuing grovithuo currently
marketed products; developments with competitivapcts; the timing and scope of regulatory appoaald the
success of our new product launches; asset impaismestructurings, and acquisitions of compourrdier
development resulting in acquired in-process reteand development charges; foreign exchange r@tasges in
effective tax rates; wholesaler inventory changéser regulatory developments, litigation, and goweent
investigations; and the impact of governmentaloactiregarding pricing, importation, and reimbursenfier
pharmaceuticals. We undertake no duty to updatetfeward-looking statements.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS

We are a party to various legal actions and goventrimvestigations. The most significant of thesedescribed
below. While it is not possible to determine thécome of these matters, we believe that, exceppasifically
noted below, the resolution of all such matters mot have a material adverse effect on our codat#d financial
position or liquidity, but could possibly be matgrio our consolidated results of operations in ang accounting
period.

Patent Litigation

We are engaged in the following patent litigatioattars brought pursuant to procedures set outiitttch-
Waxman Act (the Drug Price Competition and PaterhT Restoration Act of 1984):

* Barr Laboratories, Inc. (Barr), submitted an Ablated New Drug Application (ANDA) in 2002 seeking
permission to market a generic version of Evistarfo the expiration of our relevant U.S. patefetspiring
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in 2012-2017) and alleging that these patentsreva&id, not enforceable, or not infringed. In Noummn 2002, we
filed a lawsuit against Barr in the U.S. Districd@t for the Southern District of Indiana, seekingiling that these
patents are valid, enforceable, and being infringe&arr. Teva has also submitted an ANDA seekieignission
to market a generic version of Evista. In June 2086filed a similar lawsuit against Teva in th&SUDistrict Cout
for the Southern District of Indiana. The lawsgamst Teva is currently scheduled for trial begigrMarch 9,
2009, while no trial date has been set in the l@vegiainst Barr. We believe that Barr's and Tev@d&ms are
without merit and we expect to prevail. Howeversihot possible to determine the outcome of ligaltion, and
accordingly, we can provide no assurance that vilgrevail. An unfavorable outcome could have aenat
adverse impact on our consolidated results of dieeis liquidity, and financial positiol

» Sicor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Sicor), Mayne Phargdfa4) Inc. (Mayne), and Sun Pharmaceutical Industimie.
(Sun) each submitted ANDAs seeking permission tdketageneric versions of Gemzar prior to the exjraof
our relevant U.S. patents (compound patent expirirRP10 and method-of-use patent expiring in 2048y
alleging that these patents are invalid. We fikadduits in the U.S. District Court for the SouthBistrict of
Indiana against Sicor (February 2006) and Mayneqia 2006), seeking rulings that these patentsalié and
are being infringed. In November 2007, the lawag#inst Mayne was stayed and administratively ddsethe
court. Also in November 2007, Sun filed a declangafadgment action in the United States Districu@dor the
Eastern District of Michigan, seeking a ruling tbat method-of-use patent is invalid or unenforéeatr would
not be infringed by the sale of Sun’s generic potd8un informed us in December 2007 that it is alsallenging
our compound patent, and that patent has now ddedao the declaratory judgment action. In Jan2868, we
filed a second lawsuit against Mayne in responsegecond ANDA filed by Mayne for a new dosagersitie. We
expect to prevail in this litigation and believatlthese claims are without merit. However, itas possible to
determine the outcome of this litigation, and adewgly, we can provide no assurance that we wélpil. An
unfavorable outcome could have a material advenpaét on our consolidated results of operatiogsjdity, and
financial position

* Actavis Elizabeth LLC (Actavis), Glenmark Pharmatieals Inc., USA (Glenmark), Sun Pharmaceuticauides
Limited (Sun), Sandoz Inc. (Sandoz), Mylan Pharmécels Inc. (Mylan), Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc
(Teva), Apotex Inc. (Apotex), Aurobindo Pharma L{8lurobindo), Synthon Laboratories, Inc. (Synthand
Zydus Pharmaceuticals, USA, Inc. (Zydus) each stibchan ANDA seeking permission to market generic
versions of Strattera prior to the expiration of mlevant U.S. patent (expiring in 2017), andgiflg that this
patent is invalid. We filed a lawsuit against Adtaw the United States District Court for the Didtof New
Jersey in August 2007. Sandoz filed a declarataiginent action in the same court, but its caséban
dismissed. In September 2007, we amended the cormhjplahe New Jersey lawsuit to add Glenmark, Sun,
Sandoz, Mylan, Teva, Apotex, Aurobindo, Synthord Zgdus as defendants. We filed a second actioimsiga
Synthon in the United States District Court for Brestern District of Virginia. Synthon has filearation to
dismiss our lawsuit in New Jersey. In December 2@9dus agreed to entry of a consent judgment iichvAydus
conceded the validity and enforceability of thegpatand agreed to a permanent injunction. We expgatevail in
this litigation and believe that these claims ai@eut merit. However, it is not possible to detarenthe outcome
of this litigation, and accordingly, we can provige assurance that we will prevail. An unfavoratiécome could
have a material adverse impact on our consolida®dts of operations, liquidity, and financial fims.

We have received challenges to Zyprexa patentsiimaber of countries outside the U.S.:

* In Canada, several generic pharmaceutical manuésthave challenged the validity of our Zyprexenpound
and method-of-use patent (expiring in 2011). IniA2007, the Canadian Federal Court ruled agahesfitst
challenger, Apotex Inc. (Apotex), and Apotex hapesgled that ruling. In June 2007, the Canadian aé@murt
held that the invalidity allegations of a secondlt#nger, Novopharm Ltd. (Novopharm), were justfend denie
our request that Novopharm be prohibited from réngimarketing approval for generic olanzapine an@da.
Novopharm began selling generic olanzapine in Carathe third quarter of 2007. We have appealat
decision and sued Novopharm for patent infringemEiné appeal was dismissed. In November 2007, AXddesl
an action seeking a declaration of the invalidit
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our Zyprexa compound and method-of-use patentsr{egpn 2011). The trial court ruled in our favior February
2007. Apotex will likely appea

* In Germany, generic pharmaceutical manufactureis-6gogyszergyar and Neolabs Ltd. challenged tlielitsa
of our Zyprexa compound and method-of-use patemxgiing in 2011). In June 2007, the German Fedea&bnt
Court held that our patent is invalid. We are afipgahe decision. Generic olanzapine was laundhed
competitors in Germany in the fourth quarter of 2(

» We have received challenges in a number of othentcies, including Spain, the United Kingdom (U .kahd
several smaller European countries. In Spain, we baen successful at both the trial and appeitatet levels in
defeating the generic manufacturers’ challengewsuanticipate further legal challenges from gemeri
manufacturers. In the U.K., a trial date has téveht been set for July 200

We are vigorously contesting the various legal leingles to our Zyprexa patents on a country-by-ggubdsis. We
cannot determine the outcome of this litigatione Bvailability of generic olanzapine in Canada @simany will
have a material adverse impact on our consolid&®dts of operations. The availability of generianzapine in
additional markets could have a material advergmanhon our consolidated results of operations.

In June 2002, Ariad Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the Blefsssetts Institute of Technology, the Whiteheatitirte for
Biomedical Research, and the President and Felldwdarvard College in the U.S. District Court foetDistrict of
Massachusetts sued us, alleging that sales of fworgroducts, Xigri® and Evista, were inducing the infringerr
of a patent related to the discovery of a natuelisignaling phenomenon in the human body, anlisgeaoyalties
on past and future sales of these products. OnMago6, a jury in Boston issued an initial deaisio the case that
Xigris and Evista sales infringe the patent. Thg pwarded the plaintiffs approximately $65 milliomndamages,
calculated by applying a 2.3 percent royalty td_alb. sales of Xigris and Evista from the datesstiance of the
patent through the date of trial. In addition, pasate bench trial with the U.S. District Court\Mdissachusetts was
held in August 2006, on our contention that theephis unenforceable and impermissibly covers maprocesses.
In June 2005, the United States Patent and Trade@ffice (USPTO) commenced a reexamination of tkept,
and in August 2007 took the position that the Adéaims at issue are unpatentable, a positionAhat continues
to contest. In September 2007, the Court entefathBjudgment indicating that Ariad’claims are patentable, val
and enforceable, and finding damages in the amafusi5 million plus a 2.3 percent royalty on neSUsales of
Xigris and Evista since the time of the jury demisiHowever, the Court deferred the requiremepipany
damages until after all rights to appeal have ledrausted. We plan to appeal this judgment. Webelihat these
allegations are without legal merit, that we witimately prevail on these issues, and therefoag tthe likelihood of
any monetary damages is remote.

Government Investigations and Related Litigation

In March 2004, the Office of the U.S. Attorney fthe Eastern District of Pennsylvania (EDPA) advissdhat it
had commenced an investigation related to our &keting and promotional practices, including our
communications with physicians and remuneratioplgfsician consultants and advisors, with respegytirexa,
Prozac, and Prozac Weekly. In November 2007, weived a grand jury subpoena from the EDPA for abtnang
of documents related to Zyprexa. A number of Stégeicaid Fraud Control Units are coordinating viite EDPA
in its investigation of any Medicaid-related clainetating to our marketing and promotion of ZyprekaOctober
2005, the EDPA advised that it is also conductimgnguiry regarding certain rebate agreements ered into
with a pharmacy benefit manager covering ARidevista, Humalog, Humulin, Prozac, and Zyprexae Tryuiry
includes a review of our Medicaid best price reipgrtelated to the product sales covered by thateehgreements.

In June 2005, we received a subpoena from the ©ffiche Attorney General, Medicaid Fraud ContraitJof the
State of Florida, seeking production of documealasting to sales of Zyprexa and our marketing anodnotional
practices with respect to Zyprexa.
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In September 2006, we received a subpoena fror@alitornia Attorney General’s Office seeking protian of
documents related to our efforts to obtain and taairZyprexa’s status on California’s formulary, nketing and
promotional practices with respect to Zyprexa, serduneration of health care providers.

In February 2007, we received a subpoena from ffieef the Attorney General of the State of Itis, seeking
production of documents and information relatingates of Zyprexa and our marketing and promotipradtices,
including our communications with physicians anchu@eration of physician consultants and advisoith, kespect
to Zyprexa.

Beginning in August 2006, we have received civildstigative demands or subpoenas from the attogeysral of
a number of states under various state consumexgbian laws. Most of these requests are now gaatroultistate
investigative effort being coordinated by an exemutommittee of attorneys general. We are awaat th
approximately 30 states are participating in thiatjeffort, and it is possible that additionaltegawill join the
investigation. These attorneys general are seekimgad range of Zyprexa documents, including desumrelatin:
to sales, marketing and promotional practices,rantlineration of health care providers. In additige,have been
named as a defendant in a private suit in Caligo8tate Court, which was removed to federal caligging
violations of the California False Claims Act witlspect to certain Zyprexa marketing and promotiprectices.
This suit was brought by an individual on behalfle government, under the qui tam provision ofG@adifornia
False Claims Act.

We are cooperating in each of these investigatioefyding providing a broad range of documents iafirmation
relating to the investigations. It is possible tb#ter Lilly products could become subject to irtigation and that
the outcome of these matters could include crinthakges and fines, penalties, or other monetanpomonetary
remedies. We cannot determine the outcome of timesers or reasonably estimate the amount or rahgmounts
of any fines or penalties that might result fromaalverse outcome. It is possible, however, thaduerse outcome
could have a material adverse impact on our cotest@d results of operations, liquidity, and finahgosition. We
have implemented and continue to review and enharreadly based compliance program that includes
comprehensive compliance-related activities desidoesnsure that our marketing and promotionaltmes,
physician communications, remuneration of healtle gaofessionals, managed care arrangements, aditaite
best price reporting comply with applicable laws aagulations.

Product Liability and Related Litigation

We have been named as a defendant in a large nwhBgprexa product liability lawsuits in the Unit&tates and
have been notified of many other claims of indigtbuwho have not filed suit. The lawsuits and eafitlaims
(together the “claims”) allege a variety of injugirom the use of Zyprexa, with the majority altegjthat the
product caused or contributed to diabetes or highdsglucose levels. The claims seek substantial congtensani
punitive damages and typically accuse us of inaddytesting for and warning about side effectgyjfrexa.
Many of the claims also allege that we improperigrpoted the drug. Almost all of the federal lawsuite part of a
Multi-District Litigation (MDL) proceeding beforeffle Honorable Jack Weinstein in the Federal Dis@mirt for
the Eastern District of New York (MDL No. 1596).

Since June 2005, we have entered into agreemetityvarious claimants’ attorneys involved in U.SpFgxa
product liability litigation to settle a substantmajority of the claims. The agreements covertal tof approximatel
31,200 claimants, including a large number of prasiy filed lawsuits and other asserted claims. tifeeprimary
settlements were as follows:

* In June 2005, we reached an agreement in prin@pie in September 2005 a final agreement) to seitie than
8,000 claims for $690.0 million plus $10.0 millibmcover administration of the settleme

* In January 2007, we reached agreements with a nuofiipdaintiffs’ attorneys to settle more than 18,000 claim
approximately $500 millior

The 2005 settlement totaling $700.0 million wagdpduring 2005. The January 2007 settlements weadedueing
2007.
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We are prepared to continue our vigorous defen@ypfexa in all remaining claims. The U.S. Zyprexaduct
liability claims not subject to these agreementduide approximately 325 lawsuits in the U.S. cawgri
approximately 1,235 plaintiffs. Trial dates havembaet for June 23, 2008, in the Eastern Distfittew York, for
several of the U.S. plaintiffs.

In early 2005, we were served with four lawsuitskseg class action status in Canada on behalf tiénta who tool
Zyprexa. One of these four lawsuits has been g=itibr residents of Quebec, and a second hasdegtfied in
Ontario and includes all Canadian residents, exfwepesidents of Quebec and British Columbia. @hegations in
the Canadian actions are similar to those in tigation pending in the U.S.

We have insurance coverage for a portion of our@yg product liability claims exposure. The thparty insuranc
carriers have raised defenses to their liabilitgamthe policies and are seeking to rescind thieipsl The dispute
was the subject of litigation in the federal caartndianapolis against certain of the carriers enarbitration in
Bermuda against other carriers. In the seconddi@007, we reached settlements resolving themagarity of the
disputed insurance claims, and a portion of therarsce proceeds were paid to us prior to the e2d@7.

Since the beginning of 2005, we have recorded gageeanet pretax charges of $1.61 billion for Zyprexoduct
liability matters. The net charges, which take iat@ount our actual and expected insurance re@syevered the
following:

* The cost of the Zyprexa product liability settlertseto date; an

* Reserves for product liability exposures and defarosts regarding the known Zyprexa product ligbdiaims
and expected future claims to the extent we cauich@llate a reasonable estimate of the probable auamd cost
of the claims

In December 2004, we were served with two lawduitgight in state court in Louisiana on behalf & tlouisiana
Department of Health and Hospitals, alleging thgtiréxa caused or contributed to diabetes or highdsglucose
levels, and that we improperly promoted the drutese cases have been removed to federal courtamdwa part
of the MDL proceedings in the Eastern District aiNYork. In these actions, the Department of Heaiftti
Hospitals seeks to recover the costs it paid fgréya through Medicaid and other driogrefit programs, as well
the costs the department alleges it has incurrddmdhincur to treat Zyprexa-related illnesses. Waye been served
with similar lawsuits filed by the states of Alaskdississippi, Montana, New Mexico, Pennsylvaniayth

Carolina, Utah, and West Virginia in the courtgted respective states. The Mississippi, Montanay Mexico, and
West Virginia cases have been removed to federat emd are now part of the MDL proceedings inHastern
District of New York. The Alaska case is schedutattrial beginning March 3, 2008.

In 2005, two lawsuits were filed in the Easterntf)is of New York purporting to be nationwide clesstions on
behalf of all consumers and third-party payors)wiag governmental entities, which have made drmake
payments for their members or insured patientsgopiascribed Zyprexa. These actions have now beesotidatec
into a single lawsuit, which is brought under certtate consumer protection statutes, the fed@@rlRICO statute
and common law theories, seeking a refund of tisé @oZyprexa, treble damages, punitive damagebattorneys’
fees. Two additional lawsuits were filed in the teas District of New York in 2006 on similar groundn 2007,
The Pennsylvania Employees Trust Fund brought dainstate court in Pennsylvania as insurer of Bgmania
state employees, who were prescribed Zyprexa oitesigrounds as described in the New York casesvifisthe
product liability suits, these lawsuits allege thatinadequately tested for and warned about $fdete of Zyprexa
and improperly promoted the drug.

We cannot determine with certainty the additionahber of lawsuits and claims that may be assefiee.ultimate
resolution of Zyprexa product liability and relat@dyation could have a material adverse impacbanconsolidate
results of operations, liquidity, and financial jhias.

In addition, we have been named as a defendantmrerous other product liability lawsuits involvipgmarily
diethylstilbestrol (DES) and thimerosal. The mdjodf these claims are covered by insurance, stitjeteductible
and coverage limits.
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Because of the nature of pharmaceutical produdtspbssible that we could become subject to latgabers of
product liability and related claims for other puats in the future. In the past few years, we reyserienced
difficulties in obtaining product liability insurae due to a very restrictive insurance market. &foee, for
substantially all of our currently marketed produete have been and expect that we will contindgettargely self-
insured for future product liability losses. In &dih, as noted above, there is no assurance thavilbe able to
fully collect from our insurance carriers on pdsiros.

PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 — A CAUTION CONCERNING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Under the safe harbor provisions of the PrivatauBges Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we cautiamvestors that
any forward-looking statements or projections miag@s, including those made in this document, aset on
management’s expectations at the time they are nhad¢hey are subject to risks and uncertaintias may cause
actual results to differ materially from those gaipd. Economic, competitive, governmental, teabgiobl, legal,
and other factors that may affect our operatiorms@nspects are discussed earlier in this sectidroar most rece
report on Forms 10-Q and 10fked with the Securities and Exchange Commissive.undertake no duty to upd
forward-looking statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MaArRisk

You can find quantitative and qualitative disclesiabout market riske.g.,interest rate risk) in Part Il, Iltem 7 at
“Review of Operations — Financial Condition.” Thiatormation is incorporated in this report by refiece.

-30-




Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary |
Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December .

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in millions, except p-share data

Net sales $18,633.! $15,691.( $14,645..
Cost of sale: 4,248.¢ 3,546.! 3,474..
Research and developmt 3,486." 3,129.: 3,025t
Marketing, selling, and administrati' 6,095.! 4,889.¢ 4,497 (
Acquired ir-process research and development (No 745.¢ — —
Asset impairments, restructuring, and other spe@tiatges (Note < 302.t 945.2 1,245.:
Other income— net (222.0) (237.9) (314.2)

14,756." 12,273.(  11,927.

Income before income taxes and cumulative effeet ciange in accounting

principle 3,876.¢ 3,418.( 2,717t
Income taxes (Note 1: 923.¢ 755.% 715.¢
Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle 2,953.( 2,662. 2,001.¢
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting priteipet of tax (Note 2 — — (22.0
Net income $ 2,953.C $ 2,662.° $ 1,979.¢
Earnings per sha— basic (Note 10

Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.8¢

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite — — (0.09

Net income $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.82
Earnings per sha— diluted (Note 10

Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.8¢

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite — — (0.02)

Net income $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.81

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheetf

December 3:
ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 2007 2006
(Dollars in millions)

Assets
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivalel $ 3,220 $ 3,109.:
Shor-term investment 1,610. 781.%
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1030D7 and $82.5 (200t 2,673.¢ 2,298.¢
Other receivables (Note 1,030.¢ 395.¢
Inventories 2,523.° 2,270.:
Deferred income taxes (Note 1 583.¢ 519.2
Prepaid expenst 613.€ 319t

Total current asse 12,256.¢ 9,694
Other Asset
Prepaid pension (Note 1 1,670. 1,001t
Investments (Note £ 577.1 1,001.¢
Goodwill and other intangible— net (Note 3’ 2,455.¢ 130.C
Sundry (Note 8 1,252.¢ 1,885.:

5,955.¢ 4,108."

Property and Equipment, n 8,575.. 8,152.:

$26,787.  $21,955.

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current Liabilities

Shor-term borrowings and current maturities of I-term debt (Note € $ 4137 $ 219«
Accounts payabl 1,018t 789.4
Employee compensatic 823.¢ 641.¢
Sales rebates and discou 706.¢ 508.:
Dividends payabli 513.¢ 463.<
Income taxes payable (Note 1 238.¢ 640.¢
Other current liabilities (Note ¢ 1,553t 1,822.¢
Total current liabilities 5,268.! 5,085.!
Other Liabilities
Long-term debt (Note € 4,593.! 3,494«
Accrued retirement benefit (Note 1 1,145.: 1,586.¢
Long-term income taxes payable (Note . 1,196.° —
Deferred income taxes (Note 1 287.k 62.2
Other noncurrent liabilities (Note 632.2 745.7

7,855.; 5,889.:
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Shareholder Equity (Notes 7 and ¢
Common stocl— no par value
Authorized shares: 3,200,000,0

Issued shares: 1,135,212,894 (2007) and 1,132 3782D06) 709.t 707.¢
Additional paic-in capital 3,805.: 3,571.¢
Retained earning 11,967.. 10,926.
Employee benefit trus (2,635.() (2,635.0
Deferred cost— ESOP (95.9) (100.%)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (Mdj 13.2 (1,388.)

13,764.¢ 11,082.:
Less cost of common stock in treas
2007— 899,445 share
2006— 909,573 share 100.t 101.
13,664 . 10,980."

$26,787. $21,955.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments To Reconcile Net Income To Cash Flow
From Operating Activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Change in deferred tax
Stocl-based compensation expel
Acquired ir-process research and development, net ¢
Asset impairments, restructuring, and other spetiatges
net of tax
Other, ne:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqbiisitions
Receivable— (increase) decrea:
Inventories— (increase) decrea:
Other asset— increase
Accounts payable and other liabiliti— increase (decreas

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipm

Disposals of property and equipm

Net (repayments) proceeds of sl-term investment
Proceeds from sales and maturities of noncurreseisiment:
Purchases of noncurrent investme

Purchases of -process research and developn

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqt

Other, ne

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Activitie

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Dividends paic

Net repayments of shi-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt
Repayments of lor-term debi

Purchases of common sta

Issuances of common stock under stock p
Other, ne

Net Cash Used for Financing Activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Yea

Year Ended December :
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in millions)

$2,953. $2,662. $1,979.¢

1,047.¢ 801.¢ 726.2
122.¢ 346.¢ (347.5)
282.( 359. 403
692.¢€ — —
181.F 797 1,128

8.4  (196.9 (30.0)
5271  4771..  3,860.

(842.7) 243.¢ (286.4)
154.¢ (60.2) 72.1
(355.9) (43.0  (269.9)
927.: (936.0)  (1,463.)
(117.0  (795.9 (1,947.)

5,154.! 3,975.¢ 1,913.¢

(1,082.9 (1,077.9 (1,298.)

32.2 65.2 11.1
(376.5)  1,247. 62.7
800.1  1,507. 545.1
(750.7) (1,313 (1,183.)
(111.0 — —
(2,673.) —

(166.) 179.0 (353.6)
(4,328.) 608.. (2,215.9

(1,853.0 (1,736  (1,654.9)
(468.5) (8.4) (1,988.)
2,512.¢ —  3,000.(
(1,059.) (2,7815  (1,004.)
— (122.)  (377.9

24.7 59.€ 105.¢
(0.6) 9. 39.€
(8445 (4,578 (1,880.)
129.7 97.1 (175.9)
111. 102.6  (2,358.9)
3,109..  3,006.  5,365.

$3,220.! $3,109.0 $3,006..

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incon

Year Ended December .

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in millions)
Net income $2,953.( $2,662.7 $1,979.¢
Other comprehensive income (lo
Foreign currency translation gains (loss 756.¢ 542.¢ (533.9
Net unrealized gains (losses) on secur (11.9 (3.2 0.3
Minimum pension liability adjustment (Note 1 — (18.8) (87.9)
Defined benefit pension and retiree health bemédits (Note 12 943.¢ — —
Effective portion of cash flow hedg (0.7) 143.% (81.7)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before incomes 1,688.¢ 663.7 (702.6)
Provision for income taxes related to other comensive income (loss) iten (287.0) (43.7) 63.4
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 1,401.¢ 620.¢ (639.9
Comprehensive incon $4,354.¢ $3,283.0 $1,340.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Segment Information

We operate in one significant business segmempharmaceutical products. Operations of the aniraalth busines
segment are not material and share many of the saor®@mic and operating characteristics as phantiaaé
products. Therefore, they are included with phaentical products for purposes of segment reporting.

Year Ended December :
ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 2007 2006 2005

(Dollars in millions)

Net sale— to unaffiliated customei

Neuroscience $ 7,851.( $6,728.f $ 6,080.(
Endocrinology 5,479.¢ 5,014.t 4,636.¢
Oncology 2,446« 2,020.: 1,801.(
Cardiovascula2 1,624.: 730.< 778.¢
Animal health 995.¢ 875.t 863.7
Other pharmaceutica 236.¢ 321.¢ 484.¢
Net sales $18,633.! $15,691.( $14,645.:

Geographic Information
Net sale— to unaffiliated customei®

United State! $10,145.! $ 8,599.. $ 7,798.:
Europe 4,844 3,894.: 3,818.¢
Other foreign countrie 3,643t 3,197t 3,028.¢

$18,633.! $15,691.( $14,645.

Long-lived asset:

United State: $ 5905« $ 6,207« $ 6,524.!
Europe 2,057.; 1,733.¢ 1,554.¢
Other foreign countrie 1,768.¢ 1,718.¢ 1,748.¢

$ 9,731 $ 9,659.t $ 9,828.

1 Net sales are attributed to the countries basdtetocation of the custome

2 Cialis sales for 2007 are included in Cardiovasgiad 2006 and 2005 Cialis sales have been ré&aassom
other pharmaceuticals to be consistent with the7 208sentatior

The largest category of products is the neuroseggcoup, which includes Zyprexa, Cymbalta, Strajftend
Prozac. Endocrinology products consist primarilyntélog, Humulin, Actos, Byetta, Evista, Forteo, &htmatrope
Oncology products consist primarily of Gemzar arithda. Cardiovascular products consist primarilyGdlis,
ReoPrdR?, and Xigris. Animal health products include TyRanRumensir®, Cobar®, and other products for
livestock and poultry. The other pharmaceuticategary includes anti-infectives, primarily Cecfoand Vancocin
® and other miscellaneous pharmaceutical produnisarvices.

Most of our pharmaceutical products are distributedugh wholesalers that serve pharmacies, playscnd other
health care professionals, and hospitals. In 2007three largest wholesalers each accounted farele® 12 perce
and 16 percent of consolidated net sales. Furthey,each accounted for between 9 percent andrt@mmeof
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2007. Artigalth products are sold primarily to wholesakdridutors.

Our business segments are distinguished by theaiki end user of the product: humans or animafforffgance is
evaluated based on profit or loss from operati@ferie income taxes. The accounting policies ofinkesidual
segments are substantially the same as those laeddni the summary of significant accounting pekcin Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements. Income leaftcome taxes for the
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animal health business was approximately $173onill$184 million, and $215 million in 2007, 200642005,
respectively.

The assets of the animal health business are intedrwith those of the pharmaceutical productsess. Long-
lived assets disclosed above consist of propedyeguipment and certain sundry assets.

We are exposed to the risk of changes in sociditiqgad, and economic conditions inherent in foreigperations,
and our results of operations and the value ofagign assets are affected by fluctuations inifpreurrency
exchange rates.
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Selected Quarterly Data (unaudited’

2007
ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES Fourth Third Seconc First
(Dollars in millions, except p-share data

Net sales $518.6 $4,58.8 $4,631.0 $4,22¢1
Cost of sale: 1,272.8 1,056 99€.9 922.5
Operating expens 2,70%4 2,323 2,37¢1 2,171.0
Acquired ir-process research and developn 89.0 — 32E.1 32E5
Asset impairments, restructuring, and other sp&tiatge: 98.2 81.3 — 123.0
Other income— net (32.1) (49.8) (1.8) (38.3)
Income before income tax 1,052.3 1,17¢.4 92€.7 71¢4
Net income 854.4 92€.3 662.6 50€.7
Earnings per sha— basic .78 .85 .61 A7
Earnings per sha— diluted .78 .85 .61 A7
Dividends paid per sha A2t A2t A2t A2t
Common stock closing prict

High 58.47 58.44 60.56 54.99

Low 49.09 54.09 54.39 51.63

2006
Fourth Third Seconc First

Net sales $4,24t3 $3,8641 $3,86€9 $3,7147
Cost of sale: 1,01¢0 86C.4 86C.6 80€.5
Operating expenss 2,16¢.8 1,95%.9 2,012.7 1,887
Asset impairments, restructuring, and other spetiatges 94t.2 — — —
Other income— net (202.7) (56.0) (46.9) (32.2)
Income before income tax 21£.0 1,108 1,04(5 1,05¢.7
Net income 132.3 873.6 822.0 834.8
Earnings per sha— basic 12 .8C 7€ 77
Earnings per sha— diluted A2 .8C 7€ 77
Dividends paid per sha AC AC AC AC
Common stock closing prict

High 58.25 57.32 55.27 58.8€

Low 51.35 54.2€ 50.41 54.9€

Our common stock is listed on the New York, Londamg Swiss stock exchanges.
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Selected Financial Data (unaudited

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 20072 2006 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in millions, except net sales per emplogied pe-share data

Operations
Net sales $18,633.! $15,691.0 $14,645.. $13,857.! $12,582.!
Cost of sale: 4,248.¢ 3,546.! 3,474.. 3,223.¢ 2,675.:
Research and developmt 3,486." 3,129.: 3,025t 2,691.: 2,350.:
Marketing, selling, and administrati' 6,095.! 4,889.¢ 4,497 .( 4,284.. 4,055.
Other 926.1 707 . 931.1 716.¢ 240.1
Income before income taxes and cumulative e

of a change in accounting princif 3,876.¢ 3,418.( 2,717.! 2,941.¢ 3,261.
Income taxe: 923.¢ 755.c 715.¢ 1,131.¢ 700.¢
Net income 2,953.( 2,662. 1,979.¢4 1,810.: 2,560.¢
Net income as a percent of sa 15.€% 17.(% 13.5% 13.1% 20.2%
Net income per sha— diluted 2.71 2.4k 1.81 1.6¢ 2.37
Dividends declared per she 1.7t 1.6 1.54 1.4t 1.3€
Weightec-average number of shar

outstandin¢— diluted (thousands 1,090,751 1,087,491 1,092,155 1,088,931 1,082,23
Financial Position
Current assel $12,256.! $9,694.. $10,795. $12,835.0  $8,768.¢
Current liabilities 5,268.! 5,085.! 5,716. 7,593.° 5,560.¢
Property and equipme— net 8,575.! 8,152.: 7,912 7,550.¢ 6,539.(
Total asset 26,787.¢ 21,955.. 24,580.! 24,867. 21,688..
Long-term debt 4,593.! 3,494 .« 5,763.! 4,491.¢ 4,687.¢
Shareholder equity 13,664 10,980. 10,791.¢ 10,919.! 9,764.¢
Supplementary Data
Return on shareholde¢ equity 24.(% 24.5% 18.2% 17.5% 28.2%
Return on asse 12.2% 11.2% 8.2% 7.&% 12.%
Capital expenditure $1,082..  $1,077.C $1,298. $1,898.. $1,706.(
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,047.¢ 801.¢ 726.¢ 597.t 548.t
Effective tax rate 23.8% 22.1% 26.2% 38.5% 21.5%
Net sales per employ:t $459,000  $378,00  $344,000 $311,000 $280,00t
Number of employee 40,60( 41,50( 42,60( 44,50( 45,00(
Number of shareholders of recc 41,70( 44,80( 50,80( 52,40( 54,60(

1 Reflects the impact of a cumulative effect of ar®in accounting principle in 2005 of $22.0 mitljmet of
income taxes of $11.8 million. The diluted earnipgs share impact of this cumulative effect of ange in
accounting principle was $.02. The net income jdlatatl share before the cumulative effect of a ¢fesin
accounting principle was $1.83. See Note 2 for il information.

2 Reflects the ICOS acquisition, effective JanuaryZl®7. See Note 3 for additional informati
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollars in millions, except per-share data)

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation:The accompanying consolidated financial statemesng been prepared in accordance with
accounting practices generally accepted in theddritates (GAAP). The accounts of all wholly owaed
majority-owned subsidiaries are included in thesmtidated financial statements. Where our ownership
consolidated subsidiaries is less than 100 pertemutside shareholders’ interests are refleictether noncurrent
liabilities. All intercompany balances and trangats have been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith GAAP requires management to make estimantes
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etsd&bilities, revenues, expenses, and relatadodures at the
date of the financial statements and during thenteqg period. Actual results could differ from Swestimates.

All per-share amounts, unless otherwise notedérfdbtnotes, are presented on a diluted basisighidased on the
weighted-average number of outstanding common shdus the effect of dilutive stock options andewth
incremental shares.

Cash equivalents:We consider all highly liquid investments, with atourity of three months or less, to be cash
equivalents. The cost of these investments appmteistfair value. If items meeting this definitia® @art of a largt
investment pool, they are classified consistentwit classification of the pool.

Inventories: We state all inventories at the lower of cost orkah We use the last-in, first-out (LIFO) methad f
substantially all our inventories located in thatimental United States, or approximately 39 peroéour total
inventories. Other inventories are valued by th&-in, first-out (FIFO) method. FIFO cost approxsites current
replacement cost. Inventories at December 31 deaisedf the following:

2007 2006

Finished product $ 6534 $ 644.t
Work in proces: 1,803.( 1,551t
Raw materials and suppli 202.7 187.(
2,659.: 2,383.(

Reduction to LIFO cos (135.9 (112.%)

$2,523.°  $2,270.

Investments: Substantially all debt and marketable equity séiesriare classified as available-for-sale.
Available-for-salesecurities are carried at fair value with the ulized gains and losses, net of tax, reported ier
comprehensive income. Unrealized losses considerkee other-than-temporary are recognized in egsiiRactors
we consider in making this evaluation include conypspecific drivers of the decrease in stock pratatus of
projects in development, near-term prospects ofsthiger, the length of time the value has beenedspd, and the
financial condition of the industry. We do not exatle cost-method investments for impairment urtlese is an
indicator of impairment. We review these investradnt indicators of impairment on a regular baRisalized gain
and losses on sales of available-for-sale secsidtie computed based upon specific identificaticdh@initial cost
adjusted for any other-than-temporary declinesinvalue. Investments in companies over which exeh
significant influence but not a controlling interese accounted for using the equity method withshare of
earnings or losses reported in other income —\Wetown no investments that are considered to loénga
securities.

Risk-management instruments:Our derivative activities are initiated within tbaidelines of documented
corporate risknanagement policies and do not create additiogslall®cause gains and losses on derivative con
offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilitied,transactions being hedged. As derivative
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contracts are initiated, we designate the instrusieividually as either a fair value hedge omalcflow hedge.
Management reviews the correlation and effectiveimé®ur derivatives on a quarterly basis.

For derivative contracts that are designated amdifguas fair value hedges, the derivative instrairie marked to
market with gains and losses recognized currentigégome to offset the respective losses and gatmgnized on
the underlying exposure. For derivative contrao#t are designated and qualify as cash flow hedge®ffective
portion of gains and losses on these contracepisrted as a component of other comprehensive iecord
reclassified into earnings in the same period #tgkd transaction affects earnings. Hedge inefimsiss is
immediately recognized in earnings. Derivative cacts that are not designated as hedging instrinagatrecorded
at fair value with the gain or loss recognizedunrent earnings during the period of change.

We enter into foreign currency forward and optionmttacts to reduce the effect of fluctuating cucseaxchange
rates (principally the euro, the British pound, éimel Japanese yen). Foreign currency derivatived fas hedging
are put in place using the same or like curreremsduration as the underlying exposures. Forwanttacts are
principally used to manage exposures arising frobsigliary trade and loan payables and receivaldesrdinated
in foreign currencies. These contracts are recoadéair value with the gain or loss recognizedther income. The
purchased option contracts are used to hedge aattci foreign currency transactions, primarily iotenpany
inventory activities expected to occur within thexhyear. These contracts are designated as aaslinédges of
those future transactions and the impact on eagriswgncluded in cost of sales. We may enter inteifjn currency
forward contracts and currency swaps as fair vakdges of firm commitments. Forward and option i@ois
generally have maturities not exceeding 12 months.

In the normal course of business, our operatioegaposed to fluctuations in interest rates. Tliestuations can
vary the costs of financing, investing, and ope@tWe address a portion of these risks througinéralled
program of risk management that includes the usken¥ative financial instruments. The objectivecoftrolling
these risks is to limit the impact of fluctuatidngnterest rates on earnings. Our primary interat risk exposure
results from changes in short-term U.S. dollarregerates. In an effort to manage interest raposures, we strive
to achieve an acceptable balance between fixedl@atihg rate debt and investment positions and eragr into
interest rate swaps or collars to help maintai ladance. Interest rate swaps or collars that edrour fixed-rate
debt or investments to a floating rate are desaghas fair value hedges of the underlying instruménterest rate
swaps or collars that convert floating rate delihwestments to a fixed rate are designated asftasthedges.
Interest expense on the debt is adjusted to indhelpayments made or received under the swapragres.

Gooduwill and other intangibles: Goodwill is not amortized. All other intangiblessang from acquisitions and
research alliances have finite lives and are ameattover their estimated useful lives, ranging fiito 20 years,
using the straight-line method. The weighted-aver@gortization period for developed product techgglis
approximately 10 years. Amortization expense fd72®006, and 2005 was $172.8 million, $7.6 milliand

$5.4 million before tax, respectively. The estindagenortization expense for the five succeedings/approximates
$180 million before tax, per year. Substantiallyodithe amortization expense is included in cdstades. See

Note 3 for further discussion of goodwill and oth@angibles acquired in 200
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Goodwill and other intangible assets at Decembex&E as follows:

2007 2006
Goodwill $ 7457 $ 73.¢
Developed product technolo+— gross 1,767t —
Less accumulated amortizati (162.6) —
Developed product technolo+— net 1,604.¢ —
Other intangible— gross 142.¢ 89.2
Less accumulated amortizati (38.0 (33.0
Other intangible— net 104.¢ 56.2
Total intangibles— net $2,455.«  $130.(

Goodwill and net other intangibles are revieweddsess recoverability at least annually and whenaine
impairment indicators are present. No material iimmpents occurred with respect to the carrying valtieur
goodwill or other intangible assets in 2007, 20162005.

Property and equipment: Property and equipment is stated on the basissif Poovisions for depreciation of
buildings and equipment are computed generallyhbystraight-line method at rates based on thémagtd useful
lives (12 to 50 years for buildings and 3 to 18rgdar equipment). We review the carrying valudoofg-lived
assets for potential impairment on a periodic basgwhenever events or changes in circumstandesate the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoveralgairment is determined by comparing projectediscalinted
cash flows to be generated by the asset to itgingrvalue. If an impairment is identified, a lassecorded equal to
the excess of the asset’s net book value oveaittvélue, and the cost basis is adjusted.

At December 31, property and equipment consistetefollowing:

2007 2006
Land $ 180.C $ 168.7
Buildings 5,543." 4,852.¢
Equipment 7,454.¢ 6,718.!
Construction in progres 1,662." 1,976.
14,841.. 13,716.
Less allowances for depreciati (6,266.7) (5,564.9)

$ 8575.0 $ 8,152.

Depreciation expense for 2007, 2006, and 2005 w&8.8 million, $627.4 million, and $577.2 milliorespectively
Approximately $95.3 million, $106.7 million, and 415 million of interest costs were capitalizedast of propert
and equipment in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectiVeltal rental expense for all leases, includingtcment rentals
(not material), amounted to approximately $294.Rioni, $293.6 million, and $294.4 million for 2002006, and
2005, respectively. Assets under capital leasdsded in property and equipment in the consolidéi@dnce shee
capital lease obligations entered into, and futoi®mum rental commitments are not material.

Litigation and environmental liabilities: Litigation accruals and environmental liabilitiesdethe related estimated
insurance recoverables are reflected on a gross &mfiabilities and assets, respectively, onammsolidated
balance sheets. With respect to the product ltghdlaims currently asserted against us, we hageuad for our
estimated exposures to the extent they are bothapte and estimable based on the information dveik® us. We
accrue for certain product liability claims incudrkut not filed to the extent we can formulate asmnable estimate
of their costs. We estimate these expenses basrdrpy on historical claims experience and datgareing produc
usage. Legal defense costs expected to be incurm@hnection
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with significant product liability loss contingersi are accrued when probable and reasonably estindaportion
of the costs associated with defending and dispasiithese suits is covered by insurance. We reaeivables fc
insurance-related recoveries when it is probaldg till be realized. These receivables are classifis a reduction
of the litigation charges on the statement of ineolive estimate insurance recoverables based aimgxis
deductibles, coverage limits, our assessment oflafgnses to coverage that might be raised byaireecs, and the
existing and projected future level of insolven@esong the insurance carriers.

Revenue recognition:We recognize revenue from sales of products diitieetitle of goods passes to the buyer
the buyer assumes the risks and rewards of owmpersbr more than 90 percent of our sales, this flseatime
products are shipped to the customer, typicalijhalesale distributor or a major retail chain. Temaining sales
are recorded at the point of delivery. Provisiamsdiscounts and rebates are established in the pand the
related sales are recorded.

We also generate income as a result of collabaraipeements. Revenue from copromotion servideased upon
net sales reported by our copromotion partnersidagplicable, the number of sales calls we penfdnitial fees
we receive from the partnering of our compoundseumigvelopment are amortized through the expeatadlipt
approval date. Initial fees received from dinensing agreements that include both the safearketing rights to ot
commercialized products and a related commitmeastipply the products are generally recognized tisales over
the term of the supply agreement. We immediatedpgaize the full amount of milestone payments aueastupon
the achievement of the milestone event if the eiestibstantive, objectively determinable, andesents an
important point in the development life cycle of thharmaceutical product. Milestone payments edogads are
generally recorded in other income — net.

Research and developmentWe recognize as incurred the cost of directly atogiassets to be used in the rese
and development process that have not yet receggrdatory approval for marketing and for whichalternative
future use has been identified. Once the produsbhéained regulatory approval, we capitalize thlestones paid
and amortize them over the period benefited. Miless paid prior to regulatory approval of the piddare
generally expensed when the event requiring paywofahie milestone occurs.

Other income — net:Other income — net consisted of the following:

2007 2006 2005
Interest expens $228.: $238.1 $105.2
Interest incom (215.9 (261.9 (212.)
Joint venture incom (11.0 (96.%) (11.7)
Other (124.00 (117.%) (196.9)

$(122.() $(237.¢) $(314.2)

The joint venture income represents our shareef tly ICOS LLC joint venture results of operatimet of
income taxes. We acquired the outstanding ownerdttipe joint venture in January 2007 as a resubio
acquisition of ICOS. See Note 3 for further disdoiss

Income taxes:Deferred taxes are recognized for the future téeces of temporary differences between financial
and income tax reporting based on enacted taxdmdgates. Federal income taxes are provided opati®n of
the income of foreign subsidiaries that is expetdeloe remitted to the United States and be taxable

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provssimfithe Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB
Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty ircbme Taxes (FIN 48). Pursuant to FIN 48, we musigaize the
tax benefit from an uncertain tax position onljt is more likely than not that the tax positioriieie sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based ortebbnical merits of the position. The tax benefisognized in tt
financial statements from such a position are nregisbased on the largest benefit that has a grieter50 percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resabuati
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Earnings per share:We calculate basic earnings per share based omeighted-average number of outstanding
common shares and incremental shares. We caldilated earnings per share based on the weightethge
number of outstanding common shares plus the affeditutive stock options and other incrementadrgls.

Stock-based compensationiWe recognize the fair value of stock-based compensas expense over the requisite
service period of the individual grantees, whicheyally equals the vesting period. Under our paditystock-based
awards are approved prior to the date of grant.Jémapensation Committee of the Board of Direct@sraves the
value of the award and date of grant. Stock-baseatpensation that is awarded as part of our anrguatyegrant is
made on a specific grant date scheduled in advance.

Reclassifications:Certain reclassifications have been made to thember 31, 2006 and 2005 consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes tooconifvith the December 31, 2007 presentation.

Note 2: Implementation of New Financial Accounting Pronounements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansi&uoiard (FASB) revised and issued Statement ofri€éiah
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 141, Business Coatlins (SFAS 141(R)). SFAS 141(R) changes how the
acquisition method is applied in accordance withSH41. The primary revisions to this Statementin@gan
acquirer in a business combination to measuresaasqtired, liabilities assumed, and any noncdimiginterest in
the acquiree at the acquisition date, at theinfalues as of that date, with limited exceptionscHed in the
Statement. This Statement also requires the agdnieebusiness combination achieved in stagesdognize the
identifiable assets and liabilities, as well astbacontrolling interest in the acquiree, at tHedmounts of their fai
values (or other amounts determined in accordaiittetide Statement). Assets acquired and liabildiesumed
arising from contractual contingencies as of thguistion date are to be measured at their acquisdate fair
values, and assets or liabilities arising fronoétler contingencies as of the acquisition date@be measured at
their acquisition-date fair value, only if it is meolikely than not that they meet the definitionaof asset or a liability
in FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Ki@iStatements. This Statement significantly ansesttier
Statements and authoritative guidance, includingBAnterpretation No. 4, Applicability of FASB Sesent No. 2
to Business Combinations Accounted for by the PasetMethod, and now requires the capitalizatiorséarch
and development assets acquired in a business catitn at their acquisition-date fair values, safsy from
goodwill. SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxess also amended by this Statement to requiradteirer
to recognize changes in the amount of its defelardbenefits that are recognizable because of iadss
combination either in income from continuing op&nas in the period of the combination or directlyciontributed
capital, depending on the circumstances. This Btateis effective for us for business combinatifamsvhich the
acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, in conjunction with SFAS 141Rg FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Accounting for
Noncontrolling Interests. This Statement amendsofinting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Rl
Statements (ARB 51), by requiring companies to mepmoncontrolling interest in a subsidiary asiggn its
consolidated financial statements. Disclosure efamounts of consolidated net income attributabtbe parent ar
the noncontrolling interest will be required. TBiatement also clarifies that transactions thatlr@sa change in a
parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary thabdbresult in deconsolidation will be treated qaity transactions,
while a gain or loss will be recognized by the parghen a subsidiary is deconsolidated. This Staténs effective
for us January 1, 2009, and we do not anticipagerttplementation to be material to our consoliddieancial
position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified the consensastred by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITHFsue

No. 01 (EITF 07-1), Accounting for Collaborative Arraemgents. EITF 07-1 defines collaborative arrangement
and establishes reporting requirements for trafgacbetween participants in a collaborative aresmgnt and
between participants in the arrangement and thardgs. This Issue is effective for us beginninguiay 1, 2009 ar
will be applied retrospectively to all prior pergdresented for all collaborative arrangementsiexgiss of the
effective date. While we have not yet completedanalysis, we
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do not anticipate the implementation of this Issube material to our consolidated financial positor results of
operations.

In June 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus exhbly the EITF on Issue No. 07-3 (EITF 07-3), Acuting for
Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Ses\Reeeived for Use in Future Research and Develog
Activities. Pursuant to EITF 07-3, nonrefundableatte payments for goods or services that will eor
rendered for future research and development etvshould be deferred and capitalized. Such atsalould be
recognized as an expense when the related goodelarered or services are performed, or when tuslg or
services are no longer expected to be received. [Fhue is effective for us beginning January 882@nd is to be
applied prospectively for contracts entered intmoafter the effective date. We do not anticiphte
implementation of this Issue to be material to camsolidated financial position or results of opierss.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, HdieValue Option for Financial Assets and Finahci
Liabilities. SFAS 159 permits entities to chooserteasure many financial instruments and certaiaratms at fai
value. The objective is to improve financial repagtby providing entities with the opportunity tatigate volatility
in reported earnings caused by measuring relatstsaand liabilities differently without havingapply complex
hedge accounting provisions. This Statement it for us beginning January 1, 2008, if adoptexlyever, we
do not anticipate adopting this Statement.

We adopted the provisions of FASB InterpretatiomNjANo. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Incomexess, on
January 1, 2007. FIN 48 prescribes a recognitioestivld and measurement attribute for the finarst&ement
recognition and measurement of a tax position takesxpected to be taken in a tax return. See Nbter further
discussion of the impact of adopting this Interatien.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 Madue Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valuB AP, and expands disclosures about fair valuesomeanents.
This Statement is effective for us beginning Janda2008, and applies to interim periods. We dbamticipate the
implementation of this Statement will be mater@btir consolidated financial position or result®pérations.

In 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, Accounting for @ibional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interatien of
FASB Statement No. 143. FIN 47 requires us to eetoe fair value of a liability for conditional atsetirement
obligations in the period in which it is incurredhich is adjusted to its present value each sulesdqeriod. In
addition, we are required to capitalize a correslpanamount by increasing the carrying amount efrédated long-
lived asset, which is depreciated over the usé@kibf the related long-lived asset. The adoptibRIdl 47 on
December 31, 2005 resulted in a cumulative effeaet@hange in accounting principle of $22.0 millioret of
income taxes of $11.8 million.

Note 3: Acquisitions

ICOS Corporation Acquisition

On January 29, 2007, we acquired all of the outht@ncommon stock of ICOS Corporation (ICOS), oartper in
the Lilly ICOS LLC joint venture for the manufaceuand sales of Cialis for the treatment of eredyisfunction.
The acquisition brings the full value of Cialisus and enables us to realize operational efficénici the further
development, marketing, and selling of this prodUctder the terms of the agreement, each outstgrstiare of
ICOS common stock was redeemed for $34 in cashrf@ggregate purchase price of approximately $2i8mh
which was financed through borrowings.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a bssawesbination under the purchase method of acaugiritinder
the purchase method of accounting, the assetsradaamd liabilities assumed from ICOS are recowtdateir
respective fair values as of the acquisition dateur consolidated financial statements. The exot® purchase
price over the fair value of the acquired net askast been recorded as goodwill in the amount 46 $6million. Na
portion of this goodwill is expected to be deduetifor tax purposes. ICOS’s results of operatiaesimciuded in
our consolidated financial statements from the dacquisition.
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We have determined the following estimated faiuealfor the assets purchased and liabilities assamef the da
of acquisition. The determination of estimated failue requires management to make significantnasés and
assumptions.

Estimated Fair Value at January 29, 2!

Cash and shc-term investment $ 197.7
Developed product technology (Cialt 1,659.¢
Acquired ir-process research and developn 303.t
Tax benefit of net operating loss 404.1
Goodwill 646.7
Other assets and liabiliti— net (32.7)
Deferred taxe (583.5)
Long-term debt assume (275.6)

Total estimated purchase pri $2,320."

1 The intangible asset will be amortized over theaiimg expected patent lives of Cialis in each ¢gymwhich range from 2015 to 201

The acquired irprocess research and development (IPR&D) representpounds currently under development
have not yet achieved regulatory approval for miamge New indications for and formulations of th&al
compound in clinical testing at the time of the aisiion represented approximately 48 percent efdgstimated fair
value of the IPR&D. The remaining value of IPR&[presents several other products in developmertt, watone
asset comprising a significant portion of this alln accordance with FIN 4, Applicability of FASBatement

No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for byRhechase Method, these IPR&D intangible asseddingt
$303.5 million have been written off by a chargénmome immediately subsequent to the acquisitecabse the
compounds do not have any alternative future ulis. dharge is not deductible for tax purposes. drgoing
activity with respect to each of these compoundteundevelopment is not material to our researchdavelopment
expenses.

There are several methods that can be used tordetethe estimated fair value of the acquired IPR&E utilized
the “income method,” which applies a probabilityigteing to the estimated future net cash flows #dratderived
from projected sales revenues and estimated cldstse projections are based on factors such asarglmarket
size, patent protection, historical pricing of damiproducts, and expected industry trends. Thenastd future net
cash flows are then discounted to the present vading an appropriate discount rate. This analggierformed for
each project independently. The discount rate vee s valuing the acquired IPR&D projects was 2fcpst.

Other Acquisitions

During the second quarter of 2007, we acquiredfahe outstanding stock of both Hypnion, Inc. (HHign), a
privately held neuroscience drug discovery comdanysed on sleep disorders, and vy Animal Heditb, (lvy), a
privately held applied research and pharmaceupicaduct development company focused on the aniewgltin
industry, for $445.0 million in cash. The ongoirgiaties with respect to these companipsducts in developme
are not material to our research and developme@reses. The results of operations are includedricansolidate:
financial statements from the respective datesgfisition.

The acquisition of Hypnion provides us with a breadnd more substantive presence in the areaay disorder
research and ownership of HY10275, a novel Phasentipound with a dual mechanism of action aimed at
promoting better sleep onset and sleep maintendihi® was Hypnion’s only significant asset. Fostacquisition,
we recorded a charge of $291.1 million, represerttie estimated fair value of the acquired compotmdcquired
IPR&D in the second quarter of 2007 because theldpment-stage compound acquired did not have any
alternative future use. This charge was not deligctor tax purposes. Because Hypnion was a dewedop-stage
company, the transaction was accounted for as@ustton of assets rather than as a business catibn and,
therefore, goodwill was not recorded.
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The acquisition of Ivy provides us with productattbtomplement those of our animal health produet. IThis
acquisition has been accounted for as a busin@sbination under the purchase method of accouniehave
allocated $88.7 million of the purchase price toentidentifiable intangible assets, primarily rethto marketed
products, $37.0 million to acquired IPR&D, and $Phillion to goodwill. The IPR&D represents prodsiat
development that are not yet approved for markedimd) have no alternative future use. Accordingig, t

$37.0 million allocated to acquired IPR&D was exgpethimmediately subsequent to the acquisition.other
identifiable intangible assets will be amortizeaptheir estimated remaining useful lives of 1@@oyears.
Goodwill resulting from this acquisition has beetiyf allocated to the animal health business segniére amount
allocated to each of the intangible assets acquimetliding goodwill, is expected to be deductifdletax purposes.

Product Acquisitions

In October 2007, we entered into an agreement @igimmark Pharmaceuticals Limited India whereby weguired
the rights to a portfolio of transient receptorguutal vanilloid sub-family 1 (TRPV1) antagonist lacules,
including a clinical-phase compound. The compownclirrently in early clinical phase developmena aotential
nextgeneration treatment for various pain conditionsluding osteoarthritic pain, and had no alterreatiture use
As with many development-phase compounds, launtheoproduct, if approved, was not expected imar term.
Our charge for acquired IPR&D was $45.0 milliondeductible for tax purposes, and was includedpsrese in th
fourth quarter of 2007.

In October 2007, we entered into a global stratatiiance with MacroGenics, Inc. (MacroGenics) avelop and
commercialize teplizumab, a humanized anti-CD3 netor@l antibody, as well as other potential nextagation
anti-CD3 molecules for use in the treatment of mutoune diseases. As part of the arrangement, warachthe
exclusive rights to the molecule, which was indieselopment stage (Phase II/lll clinical trial fodividuals with
recent-onset type 1 diabetes) and had no altemhtiure use. As with many developmgiase compounds, laur
of the product, if approved, was not expected értear term. Our charge for acquired IPR&D was G4dillion, is
deductible for tax purposes, and was included psrese in the fourth quarter of 2007.

In January 2007, we entered into an agreement@&hPharmaceuticals, Inc. to acquire the righitstoompound

for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. At the inepof this agreement, this compound was in theeiigment stage
(Phase I clinical trials) and had no alternativieife use. As with many developmegitase compounds, launch of
product, if approved, was not expected in the texan. Our charge for acquired IPR&D related to #Hrisangement
was $25.0 million, was included as expense initisé quarter of 2007, and is deductible for taxgmses.

In December 2007, we entered into an agreementBigthS Medical Corp. to acquire the rights to itsrgound
for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. This agneat was contingent upon clearance under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Anti-Trust Improvements Act aretame effective after clearance was received inatgr2008.
This compound is in the development stage (Phaséirical trials) and has no alternative futureuds with many
developmenphase compounds, launch of the product, if approwed not expected in the near term. Our char¢
acquired IPR&D related to this arrangement wasG&llion, is deductible for tax purposes, and Wi included
as expense in the first quarter of 2008.

In connection with these arrangements, our partaergenerally entitled to future milestones anglhies based on
sales should these products be approved for conmetization.
Note 4: Asset Impairments, Restructuring, and Other SpecialCharges

The components of the charges included in assetiimpnts, restructuring, and other special chairgesr
consolidated statements of income are describexhbel
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Asset Impairments and Related Restructuring and Otkr Charges

We incurred asset impairment, restructuring, ahérospecial charges of $67.6 million in the fougttarter of 2007.
These charges were a result of decisions approyedanagement in the fourth quarter as well as presly
announced strategic decisions. Components of ki@igge include non-cash charges of $42.5 milliortHerwrite-
down of impaired assets, all of which have no feituse, and other charges of $25.1 million, prirgaglated to
additional severance and environmental cleanupyelsarelated to previously announced strategic basisThe
impairment charges are necessary to adjust thgicgivalue of the assets to fair value. These uesiring activitie:
were substantially complete at December 31, 2007.

In connection with previously announced strategicisions, we recorded asset impairment, restrungtuand other
special charges of $123.0 million in the first geanf 2007. These charges primarily relate tolartary severance
program at one of our U.S. plants and other c@déded to this action as well as management actake in the
fourth quarter of 2006 as described below. The aomapt of this charge related to the non-cash asgatirment
was $67.6 million, and was necessary to adjustaneying value of the assets to fair value. Thesg¢ructuring
activities were substantially complete at Decen#igr2007.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, management apprglaxds to close two research and development fiasilénd one
production facility outside the U.S. Managemenbatsade the decision to stop construction of a @drinsulin
manufacturing plant in the U.S. in an effort torgmse productivity in research and developmentadjpsis and to
reduce excess manufacturing capacity. These daesisas well as other strategic changes, resultedrircash
charges of $308.8 million for the writtewn of certain impaired assets, substantiallpfithich have no future us
and other charges of $141.5 million, primarily tethto severance and contract termination paymehts.
impairment charges were necessary to adjust thgimgrvalue of the assets to fair value. Theseuesiring
activities were substantially complete at Decen#igr2007.

In December 2005, management approved, as padrafgoing efforts to increase productivity andues our cos
structure, decisions that resulted in non-cashgesaof $154.6 million for the write-down of certampaired assets,
and other charges of $17.3 million, primarily rethto contract termination payments. The impaisess, which
had no future use, included manufacturing buildiagd equipment no longer needed to supply projeszpdcity
requirements, as well as obsolete research andiogenrent equipment. The impairment charges weressacg to
adjust the carrying value of the assets to faineal

Product Liability and Other Special Charges

As a result of our product liability exposures, ubstantial majority of which were related to Zsxa, we recorded
net pretax charges of $111.9 million, $494.9 miljiand $1.07 billion in 2007, 2006, and 2005, retpely. These
charges, which are net of anticipated insuranceves@es, include the costs of product liabilitytleshents and
related defense costs, reserves for product liglgkposures and defense costs regarding knowrnuptdidbility
claims, and expected future claims to the extentowdd formulate a reasonable estimate of the folelraumber
and cost of the claims. See Note 13 for furthecudision.

Note 5: Financial Instruments and Investments

Financial instruments that potentially subjectasredit risk consist principally of trade receileband interest-
bearing investments. Wholesale distributors ofd¢iféences products and managed care organizatonsitat for a
substantial portion of trade receivables; colldtisrgenerally not required. The risk associateththis
concentration is mitigated by our ongoing crediiees procedures and insurance. We place substiyrdihbur
interest-bearing investments with major finanantitutions, in U.S. government securities, or viith-rated
corporate issuers. At December 31, 2007, our invests in debt securities were comprised of 40 peasset-
backed securities, 23 percent corporate securiéias 37 percent U.S. government securities. Inrdecae with
documented corporate policies, we limit the amadrredit exposure to any one financial institut@mcorporate
issuer. We are exposed to credit-related losstwievent of nonperformance by counterpartiesianitial
instruments but do not expect any counterpartiéaitéo meet their obligations given their higledit ratings.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

A summary of our outstanding financial instrumeamsl other investments at December 31 follows:

2007 2006
Carrying Amoun Fair Value Carrying Amoun Fair Value
Shor-term investment
Debt securitie: $ 1,610.7 $1,610.° $ 7817 $ 7817
Noncurrent investmen
Marketable equit $ 70 $ 70C % 794 $ 794
Debt securitie: 408.% 408.: 834.1 834.]
Equity method and other investme 98.¢ NA 88.4 NA
$ 577.1 $ 1,001.¢
Long-term debt, including current portic $ (4,988.) $(5,056.9 % (3,705.)  $(3,682.)
Risk-management instrumer— asset: 23.t 23.€ 19.7 19.7

We determine fair values based on quoted markeegalvhere available or discounted cash flow analyse
(principally long-term debt). The fair value of éiyumethod and other investments is not readilyilalasbe and
disclosure is not required. Approximately $1.9ibiil of our investments in debt securities maturihiwifive years.

A summary of the unrealized gains and losses (pretfaour available-for-sale securities in othemmrehensive
income at December 31 follows:

2007 2006
Unrealized gross gair $43.5  $43.7
Unrealized gross loss 22.C 10.¢

The net adjustment to unrealized gains and lossf tax) on available-for-sale securities insezh(decreased)
other comprehensive income by $(5.4) million, $®i8ion, and $(4.6) million in 2007, 2006, and 2005
respectively. Activity related to our available-feale investment portfolio was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Proceeds from salt $1,212.0  $2,848..  $2,048.¢
Realized gross gains on sa 21.4 63.5 25.¢
Realized gross losses on se 6.1 9.C 7.1

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 20062608, net losses related to ineffectiveness ahtbsses
related to the portion of our risk-management heglgnstruments, fair value and cash flow hedgeslueled from
the assessment of effectiveness were not material.

We expect to reclassify an estimated $21.3 milbbpretax net losses on cash flow hedges of asmtieibforeign
currency transactions and the variability in expdduture interest payments on floating rate defshfaccumulated
other comprehensive loss to earnings during 2008.
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Note 6: Borrowings
Long-term debt at December 31 consisted of theotig:

2007 2006

4.50 to 7.13 percent notes (c2012-2037) $3,987.c  $1,487.
2.90 percent notes (due 20( 300.( 300.(
Floating rate extendible notes (due 20 — 1,000.(
Floating rate bonds (due 202 400.( 400.(
Private placement bonds (due 2007 and 2 72.1 266.:
6.55 percent ESOP debentures (due 2 90.€ 91.€
Other, including capitalized leas 59.2 109.¢
SFAS 133 fair value adjustme 79.2 50.C

4,988.¢ 3,705.:
Less current portio (395.]) (210.9

$4,593.5  $3,494.

In March 2007, we issued $2.50 billion of fixederatotes ($1.00 billion at 5.20 percent due in 2GIFB0.0 million
at 5.50 percent due in 2027; and $800.0 millios.85 percent due in 2037).

In August 2005, Eli Lilly Services, Inc. (ELSI), pindirect wholly-owned finance subsidiary, issued $1.50 billiol
13-month floating rate extendible notes. Theseqptad interest at essentially a rate equivaletB®OR. We
repaid $500.0 million of the notes in December 2866 the remaining $1.00 billion of the notes inr6fa2007.

The $400.0 million of floating rate bonds outstarmydat December 31, 2007 are due in 2037 and haiabie
interest rates at LIBOR plus our six-month cregiesd, adjusted semiannually (total of 4.99 peraént
December 31, 2007). The interest was to accumalagethe life of the bonds and be payable upon ritgtWe hac
an option to begin periodic interest payments gttame. We exercised this option in November 2006 paid all
previously accrued interest on the bonds.

Principal and interest on the private placementsare due semiannually over the remaining ternesiofi of these
notes. In conjunction with these bonds, we entaredinterest rate swap agreements with the sanamdial
institution, which converts the fixed rate intoaiable rate of interest at essentially LIBOR other term of the
bonds.

The 6.55 percent Employee Stock Ownership Plan @3f@bentures are obligations of the ESOP butrerers on
the consolidated balance sheet because we guathateeThe principal and interest on the debt aneléd by
contributions from us and by dividends receiveatertain shares held by the ESOP. Because of thetiaing
feature of the ESOP debt, bondholders will recéieth interest and principal payments each quarter.

The aggregate amounts of maturities on long-tert fibe the next five years are as follows: 2008%3 million;
2009, $31.1 million; 2010, $16.7 million; 2011, $2 illion; and 2012, $510.9 million.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, short-term borrosvingluded $18.6 million and $8.6 million, respeety, of
notes payable to banks and commercial paper. Aéber 31, 2007, we have $1.24 billion of unusedrodtad
bank credit facilities, $1.20 billion of which backur commercial paper program. Compensating besaacd
commitment fees are not material, and there areonditions that are probable of occurring underolwtihe lines
may be withdrawn.

We have converted approximately 40 percent ofbedid-rate debt to floating rates through the usmiafrest rate
swaps. The weighted-average effective borrowingsraised on debt obligations and interest rates@mber 31,
2007 and 2006, including the effects of interest savaps for hedged debt obligations, were 5.4@ep¢rand

5.89 percent, respectively.

-58-




In 2007, 2006, and 2005, cash payments of interesbrrowings totaled $159.2 million, $305.7 mitijand
$38.2 million, respectively, net of capitalizeddrgst.

In accordance with the requirements of SFAS 133 pthrtion of our fixed-rate debt obligations trehedged is
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets asnaint equal to the sum of the debt’s carryingeglus the fair
value adjustment representing changes in fair valuke hedged debt attributable to movements irketanterest
rates subsequent to the inception of the hedge.

Note 7: Stock Plans

We recognize the fair value of stock-based comp@msa net income. Stock-based compensation cottd
amount of $282.0 million, $359.3 million, and $4®&nillion was recognized in 2007, 2006, and 20@5pectively,
as well as related tax benefits of $96.4 millioh1%$.9 million, and $122.9 million, respectively.2007, our stock-
based compensation expense consisted primarilgrédpnance awards (PAs), shareholder value aw&dag),
and stock options. In 2006 and 2005, our stockdbasepensation expense consisted primarily of Rvlsséock
options. We recognize the stock-based compensaxipense over the requisite service period of tbwidual
grantees, which generally equals the vesting pe¥ie provide newly issued shares and treasury dtosktisfy
stock option exercises and for the issuance of RASVA shares. We classify tax benefits resultiognf tax
deductions in excess of the compensation cost réped for exercised stock options as a financirgip dow in the
consolidated statements of cash flows.

At December 31, 2007, additional stock options, FE\$AS, or restricted stock grants may be grantetkuthe
2002 Lilly Stock Plan for not more than 46.6 mitlishares.

Performance Award Program

Performance awards (PAs) are granted to officedsnaamnagement and are payable in shares of our carstook.
The number of PA shares actually issued, if angiesadepending on the achievement of certain piahbshed
earnings-per-share targets over a one-year pétiddhares are accounted for at fair value based th@oclosing
stock price on the date of grant and fully veghatend of the fiscal year of the grant. The failues of performanc
awards granted in 2007, 2006, and 2005 were $583818, and $55.65, respectively. The number afesh
ultimately issued for the performance award progmaependent upon the earnings achieved duringesing
period. Pursuant to this plan, approximately 2.Bioni shares, 1.7 million shares, and 0.5 millibvaies were issued
in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Approximae#t million shares are expected to be issued®82

Shareholder Value Award Program

In 2007, we implemented a shareholder value aw&¥dhj program, which replaced our stock option pesgr
SVAs are granted to officers and management angdarable in shares of common stock at the endlufeg-year
period. The number of shares actually issued vaeépending on our stock price at the end of theettyear vesting
period compared to pre-established target stodepriwe measure the fair value of the SVA unithengrant date
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The Montel€aimulation model utilizes multiple input variaisithat
determine the probability of satisfying the mar&endition stipulated in the award grant and catasldhe fair valu
of the award. Expected volatilities utilized in tmedel are based on implied volatilities from trdagptions on our
stock, historical volatility of our stock price, dother factors. Similarly, the dividend yield iased on historical
experience and our estimate of future dividenddgeT he risk-free interest rate is derived fromUth8. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The gleec-average fair values of the SVA units granted dy2007
were $49.85 determined using the following assuomsti

Expected dividend yiel 2.75%
Risk-free interest rat 4.81%- 5.16%
Range of volatilities 22.54%- 23.90%
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We granted approximately 970,000 SVA units in Fabyi2007 as part of the annual total compensatieard, of
which the majority remains outstanding at Decen#dgr2007. None of the SVA units are vested. Theimam
number of shares that could ultimately be issuazhyesting of the SVA units outstanding at Decen#igr2007, i
1.4 million. As of December 31, 2007, the total aémng unrecognized compensation cost related hwested
SVAs amounted to $34.0 million, which will be amped over the weighted-average remaining requssteice
period of 25.5 months.

Stock Option Program

Stock options were granted in 2006 and 2005 te@fé and management at exercise prices equal faithearket
value of our stock price at the date of grant. dals options were granted in 2007. Options fullgtiree years
from the grant date and have a term of 10 yearsulilieed a latticebased option valuation model for estimating
fair value of the stock options. The lattice moaléws the use of a range of assumptions relatedladility, risk-
free interest rate, and employee exercise behawiqrected volatilities utilized in the lattice mdaee based on
implied volatilities from traded options on our ko historical volatility of our stock price, anther factors.
Similarly, the dividend yield is based on histotieaperience and our estimate of future divideredds. The risk-
free interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasigld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thedel incorporates
exercise and postesting forfeiture assumptions based on an anatysisstorical data. The expected life of the 2
and 2005 grants is derived from the output of #tide model. The weighted-average fair valuehefindividual
options granted during 2006 and 2005 were $15.61$46.06, respectively, determined using the foltaw
assumptions:

2006 2005
Dividend yield 2.0% 2.0%
Weightec-average volatility 25.0% 27.8%
Range of volatilities 24.8%- 27.0% 27.6%- 30.7%
Risk-free interest rat 4.6%- 4.8% 2.5%- 4.5%
Weightec-average expected It 7 year: 7 year:
Stock option activity during 2007 is summarizedovel
Shares o Weightec-Average
Common Stocl Weighte-Average Remaining
Attributable to Option: Exercise Contractual Tern Aggregate

(in thousands Price of Options (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at January 1, 20 88,81( $ 69.3¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (283) 53.8:
Forfeited or expirel (7,379 67.8¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 81,14¢ 69.57 418 % 8.4
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 72,10( 71.1¢ 3.7¢ 8.4

A summary of the status of nonvested options d3egember 31, 2007, and changes during the yearetided, is
presented below:

Weightec-Average

Shares Grant Date

(in thousands Fair Value
Nonvested at January 1, 20 24,17  $ 22.3.
Granted — —
Vested (14,669 26.0:
Forfeited (45E) 19.0¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 9,04¢ 16.47
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The intrinsic value of options exercised during 208006, and 2005 amounted to $1.5 million, $4Gil8an, and
$131.9 million, respectively. The total grant diie value of options vested during 2007, 2006, 2065 amounted
to $381.8 million, $249.1 million, and $265.5 nolt, respectively. We received cash of $15.2 million

$66.2 million, and $105.9 million from exercisesstéck options during 2007, 2006, and 2005, respeygt and
recognized related tax benefits of $0.4 million1 Blmillion, and $36.8 million during those sameuge

As of December 31, 2007, the total remaining ungeced compensation cost related to nonvested sipitiéns
amounted to $23.8 million, which will be amortizeder the weighted-average remaining requisite serperiod of
12 months.

Note 8: Other Assets and Other Liabilities

Our other receivables include income tax receivahiirance recoverables, interest receivable aaratiety of
other items. The increase in other receivablesiisgrily attributable to an increase in income tegeivable.

Our sundry assets include our capitalized compmgdfware, estimated insurance recoveries from oagtyct
litigation (Note 13), deferred tax assets (Note ahd a variety of other items. The decrease inlisuassets is
primarily attributable to a decrease in produdbility recoverables and a decrease in deferrecsarts.

Our other current liabilities include product lgigon, other taxes, and a variety of other itenf® decrease in other
current liabilities is caused primarily by a de@@in product litigation liabilities.

Our other noncurrent liabilities include produtiglation, deferred income from our collaboration aut-licensing
arrangements, and a variety of other items. Theedse in other noncurrent liabilities is primaalyributable to a
decrease in product litigation liabilities.
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Note 9: Shareholders Equity

Changes in certain components of shareholderstyewére as follows:

Additional Common Stock in Treasu
Paic-in Retainec Deferred Shares
Capital Earnings Costs— ESOF (in thousand: Amount

Balance at January 1, 20 $3,119..  $ 9,724.¢ (111.9 94Z  $103.¢
Net income 1,979.¢
Cash dividends declared per share: $. (1,677.0)
Retirement of treasury shar (381.%) (6,874 (386.0
Purchase for treasu 6,704 377.¢
Issuance of stock under employee stock p 172.¢ 161 84
Stocl-based compensatic 403.t
ESOP transactior 9.7 5.€
Balance at December 31, 2C 3,323.¢ 10,027.: (106.9) 934 104.1
Net income 2,662.°
Cash dividends declared per share: $: (1,763.)
Retirement of treasury shar (129.7) (2,297 (130.¢
Purchase for treasu 2,14¢ 122.1
Issuance of stock under employee stock

plans— net 6.2 12¢ 5.8
Stocl-based compensatic 359.:
ESOP transactior 11.7 5.€
Balance at December 31, 2C 3,571.¢ 10,926. (200.%) 91C 101.4
Net income 2,953.(
Cash dividends declared per share: $: (1,903.9
Retirement of treasury shar (3.9 (76) (3.9
Issuance of stock under employee stock

plans— net (55.2) 65 3.C
Stocl-based compensatic 282.(
ESOP transactior 10.4 5.5
FIN 48 implementation (Note 1. (8.6)
Balance at December 31, 2C $3,805.:  $11,967.. (95.2 89¢ $100.tf

As of December 31, 2007, we have purchased $2Ibk@&bdf our announced $3.0 billion share repurehpsogram.
We acquired approximately 2.1 million and 6.7 roiflishares in 2006 and 2005, respectively, undsmpttaigram.

No shares were repurchased in 2(

We have 5 million authorized shares of preferredistAs of December 31, 2007 and 2006, no prefesteck has

been issued.

We have funded an employee benefit trust with 40anishares of Lilly common stock to provide a smiof funds
to assist us in meeting our obligations under weri@mployee benefit plans. The funding had nompact on
shareholders’ equity as we consolidate the emplbgeefit trust. The cost basis of the shares hette trust was
$2.64 billion and is shown as a reduction in shalagrs’ equity, which offsets the resulting
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increases of $2.61 billion in additional paid-ipital and $25 million in common stock. Any dividetrdnsactions
between us and the trust are eliminated. Stocklheltie trust is not considered outstanding inctputation of
earnings per share. The assets of the trust wenesed to fund any of our obligations under thespleyee benefit
plans in 2007, 2006, or 2005.

We have an ESOP as a funding vehicle for the exjgtimployee savings plan. The ESOP used the precdéed
loan from us to purchase shares of common stock the treasury. The ESOP issued $200 million atitparty
debt, repayment of which was guaranteed by usNsée 6). The proceeds were used to purchase shiaoes
common stock on the open market. Shares of commeck keld by the ESOP will be allocated to partipg
employees annually through 2017 as part of oumggvplan contribution. The fair value of sharesated each
period is recognized as compensation expense.

Under a Shareholder Rights Plan adopted in 19988hateholders receive, along with each commorestraned, a
preferred stock purchase right entitling them techase from the company one one-thousandth ofre sifia
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock Rheferred Stock) at a price of $325. The rightsexercisable only
after the Distribution Date, which is generally tt@th business day after the date of a public ancement that a
person (the Acquiring Person) has acquired owngrshi5 percent or more of our common stock. We neggem
the rights for $.005 per right, up to and includithg Distribution Date. The rights will expire ouly) 28, 2008,
unless we redeem them earlier.

The rights plan provides that, if an Acquiring Rersicquires 15 percent or more of our outstandimgnson stock
and our redemption right has expired, generalihdexdder of a right (other than the Acquiring Peiswill have the
right to purchase at the exercise price the nurabshares of our common stock that have a valueotimes the

exercise price.

Alternatively, if, in a transaction not approvedthg board of directors, we are acquired in a lssicombination
transaction or sell 50 percent or more of our @sseearning power after a Distribution Date, gatigeach holder
of a right (other than the Acquiring Person) wilMe the right to purchase at the exercise priceitneber of shares
of common stock of the acquiring company that revelue of two times the exercise price.

At any time after an Acquiring Person has acquirgghercent or more but less than 50 percent obotstanding
common stock, the board of directors may exchahgeights (other than those owned by the AcquiRegson) for
our common stock or Preferred Stock at an excheatgeof one common share (or one dheusandth of a share
Preferred Stock) per right.
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Note 10: Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the denominatased in computing earnings per share before lative effect
of a change in accounting principle:

2007 2006 2005
(Shares in thousand

Income before cumulative effect of a change in anting principle available
to common shareholde $2,953.( $2,662.° $2,001.(

Basic earnings per she
Weighted-average number of common shares outstgniditiuding

incremental share 1,090,43( 1,086,23¢ 1,088,75:
Basic earnings per share before cumulative effeatamange in accounting

principle $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.8¢

Diluted earnings per sha

Weightec-average number of common shares outstar 1,088,92¢ 1,085,33 1,088,11!
Stock options and other incremental shi 1,821 2,15z 4,03t
Weighte-average number of common shares outstar— diluted 1,090,751 1,087,491 1,092,15I
Diluted earnings per share before cumulative efféet change in

accounting principle $2.71 $2.4¢ $1.8:

Note 11: Income Taxes

Following is the composition of income taxes atitdble to income before cumulative effect of a geaim
accounting principle:

2007 2006 2005
Current
Federa $489.F $197.7 $ 517.¢
Foreign 412.1  390.¢ 649.¢
State 277  (25.9) 11.€
929.: 563.1 1,178.¢
Deferred
Federa 53.C 78.S 89.4
Foreign (27.9 113¢f (86.€)
State (30.6) 0.4 (0.5)
Unremitted earnings to be repatriated due to changgex law — — (465.0
(5.5) 192.C (462.9
Income taxe: $923.6 $755.: $ 715.(C
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Significant components of our deferred tax assedisliabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006
Deferred tax asse

Tax loss carryforwards and carryba $ 804 $ 293.c
Compensation and benef 654.¢ 713.2
Inventory 546.2 504.2
Tax credit carryforwards and carrybac 361. 286.¢
Asset purchase 95.4 98.C
Financial instrument 83.¢€ 83.2
Sale of intangible 69.1 161.:
Asset disposal 62.€ 94.¢
Other 318.¢ 276.2
2,996. 2,511.;
Valuation allowance (511.9 (493.9)
Total deferred tax asse 2,485.( 2,017.t

Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid employee benef (675.9) (485.9)
Property and equipme (662.2) (701.9
Intangibles (532.5) —
Other (285.)) (237.0)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,155.) (1,424.0
Deferred tax asse— net $ 329.5 $ 593t

At December 31, 2007, we had net operating losseé®other carryforwards for international and Urgome tax
purposes of $1.15 billion: $27.0 million will expiwithin 10 years; $1.09 billion will expire betwe#&0 and

20 years; and $36.9 million of the carryforwardd méver expire. The primary components of the rieing portion
of the deferred tax asset for tax loss carryforwandd carrybacks are related to net operatingddssestate income
tax purposes that are fully reserved and a capitalof $433.6 million, which we expect to be aadrback. We also
have tax credit carryforwards and carrybacks ofi$36nillion available to reduce future income tax&80.7 millior
will be carried back; $34.1 million of the tax criechrryforwards will expire after 5 years; and & &illion of the
tax credit carryforwards will never expire. The @ning portion of the tax credit carryforwards édated to state t:
credits that are fully reserved. The increase i lloe deferred tax asset for tax loss carryforaanmd carrybacks
and the deferred tax liability for intangibles riésd primarily from the acquisition of ICOS. SeetB@ for further
discussion.

Domestic and Puerto Rican companies contributedoappately 7 percent, 18 percent, and 43 perce@ov,
2006, and 2005, respectively, to consolidated irebefore income taxes and cumulative effect ofanghk in
accounting principle. We have a subsidiary opegaitinPuerto Rico under a tax incentive grant. Tineent tax
incentive grant will not expire prior to 2017.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (AJCA) cedad temporary incentive for U.S. corporationssfoatriate
undistributed income earned abroad by providing&apercent dividends received deduction for cerdaridends
from controlled foreign corporations in 2005. Wearled a related tax liability of $465.0 million afs

December 31, 2004, and subsequently repatriat@® $lion in incentive dividends, as defined iretAJCA,
during 2005. At December 31, 2007, we had an aggeegf $8.79 billion of unremitted earnings of figre
subsidiaries that have been or are intended tebagnently reinvested for continued use in foreigarations and
that, if distributed, would result in taxes at appmately the U.S. statutory rate.
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Cash payments of income taxes totaled $1.01 bjl@64.0 million, and $1.78 billion in 2007, 20@&d 2005,
respectively. The higher cash payments of incomestan 2005 are primarily attributable to the tability
associated with the implementation of the AJCA #radresolution of an IRS examination for the yel#188 to
2000.

Following is a reconciliation of the effective irmoe tax rate applicable to income before incomesaxe
cumulative effect of a change in accounting prifecip

2007 2006 2005

United States federal statutory tax r 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Add (deduct
International operations, including Puerto R (11.¢ (6.7 (4.9
Non-deductible acquired -process research and developn A4 — —
General business cred (1.6 @49 @b
Sundry 34 4.8 (2.9
Effective income tax rat 23.8% 22.1% 26.2%

We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 piessra recognition threshold and measurement atritor the
financial statement recognition and measuremeattak position taken or expected to be taken axadturn. As a
result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recléisdi $921.4 million of income taxes payable fromrent to non-
current liabilities. We also recognized an increafs$8.6 million in the liability for unrecognizeex benefits, and ¢
offsetting reduction to the January 1, 2007 balafaetained earnings. A reconciliation of the lmegng and endin
amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is dgvist

Beginning balance at January 1, 2( $1,340.
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 206.2
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 35.€
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (15.7)
Settlement: (2.9
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,565.!

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits tifia¢,cognized, would affect our effective tax ratas
$1.46 billion at December 31, 2007.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdiction and various state, local, and non-U.Ssdlictions. We are
no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and larahon-U.S. income tax examinations in major tgxjurisdictions
for years before 2001. We are currently under augdihe Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for tax gear
2001-2004, and management believes it is reasoipalsisible that a substantial portion of this audlitconclude
within the next 12 months; however, the ultimatgoiation of all issues in the audit period is degent upon a
number of factors, including the potential for f@nadministrative and legal proceedings. Resolubioa substanti
portion of the audit would bring certainty to sgiciax positions addressed in the audit, allowfimga reduction in
gross unrecognized tax benefits. If such resolusaeached within the next 12 months, we estimatduction in
gross unrecognized tax benefits in the range 00$6illion to $700 million. As a result, our constdited results of
operations could benefit up to $190 million throwgreduction in income tax expense. The majoritthisf reductio
in unrecognized tax benefits relates to intercompaiting positions that were agreed with the IRS iprior audit
cycle for which a prepayment of tax was made inS2@Ue anticipate that any tax due upon such reisoliias bee
prepaid or tax carryovers will be utilized, whiclilwesult in no additional cash payments.

We recognize both accrued interest and penaltiatetbto unrecognized tax benefits in income tgpease. During
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2@0f&cognized $66.6 million, $51.2 million, and $+illion
in interest and penalties, respectively. At Decen®ie 2007 and 2006, our accruals for the
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payment of interest and penalties totaled $238ldomiand $171.8 million, respectively. Substaryialll of the
expense and accruals relate to interest.

Note 12: Retirement Benefits

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15&l&rars’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension adther
Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB StattsniNo. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS 158 requtined
recognition of the overfunded or underfunded stafus defined benefit postretirement plan as astamsliability in
its statement of financial position, the measurdmeéa plan’s assets and its obligations that deiee its funded
status as of the end of the employer’s fiscal yaad, the recognition of changes in that fundedisttitrough
comprehensive income in the year in which the chamgcur. We adopted the provisions of SFAS 158 on
December 31, 2006.
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We use a measurement date of December 31 to dethedahange in benefit obligation, change in plssets,
funded status, and amounts recognized in the colasedl balance sheets at December 31 for our dkfianefit

pension and retiree health benefit plans, whiclevesrfollows:

Defined Benefit Pension

Retiree Health Benefit

Plans Plans
2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in benefit obligatic
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $6,480.. $5,628.. $1,740." $1,673.¢
Service cos 287.1 280.C 70.4 72.2
Interest cos 362.¢ 343.5 101. 97.¢
Actuarial (gain) los: (373.)) 64.¢ 16.4 (25.0
Benefits paic (311.0 (291.9 (81.€) (82.5)
Plan amendmen 32.7 — (227.%) —
Foreign currency exchange rate changes and othestandnts 82.¢ 4547 3.2 4.5
Benefit obligation at end of ye 6,561.( 6,480.. 1,622.¢ 1,740.7
Change in plan asse
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y 6,519.( 5482.« 1,157.. 965.7
Actual return on plan asse 833.¢ 913.] 147.¢ 103.C
Employer contributior 202.¢ 221.c 125.¢ 171.]
Benefits paic (301.9 (287.9 (81.€) (82.5)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes and othestaknts 49.¢ 190.1 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of y 7,304.: 6,519.C 1,348. 1,157.
Funded statu 743.2 38.7 (274.9) (583.9)
Unrecognized net actuarial lo 1,143.: 1,788.¢ 820.: 931.¢
Unrecognized prior service cost (bene 88.4 63.4 (297.%) (85.7)
Net amount recognize $1,974.¢ $1,890.° $ 248.1 $ 262.7
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstmesisted o
Prepaid pensio $1,670.f $1,091: $ — $ —
Other current liabilitie: (47.9 (43.9) (8.6) (5.9
Accrued retirement bene (879.9 (1,009.9) (265.7) (577.5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss before incaxes 1,231.° 1,852.( 522.¢ 846.1
Net amount recognize $1,974.¢ $1,890.7 $ 248.Z. $ 262.7

The unrecognized net actuarial loss and unrecodmiger service cost (benefit) have not yet be@ogeized in net
periodic pension costs and are included in accutedlather comprehensive loss at December 31, 2007.

In 2008, we expect to recognize from accumulatbérotomprehensive loss as components of net perastiefit
cost $71.5 million of unrecognized net actuariasland $9.5 million of unrecognized prior serviostaelated to

our defined benefit pension plans and $65.2 milbénnrecognized net actuarial loss and $36.0 onilbf

unrecognized prior service benefit related to etiree health benefit plans. We do not expect day pssets to be

returned to us in 2008.
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The following represents our weighted-average apsioms as of December 31.:

Defined Benefi Retiree Health
Pension Plan Benefit Plans
(Percents 2007 2006 2007 2006
Weightec-average assumptions as of Decembe
Discount rate for benefit obligatic 6.4 5.7 6.7 6.C
Discount rate for net benefit co: 5.7 5.8 6.C 6.C
Rate of compensation increase for benefit oblige 4.€ 4.€ — —
Rate of compensation increase for net benefit 4.€ 4.7 — —
Expected return on plan assets for net benefit: 9.C 9.C 9.C 9.C

In evaluating the expected return on plan assetdjave considered our historical assumptions compaith actus
results, an analysis of current market conditi@sset allocations, and the views of leading firalradlvisers and
economists. Our plan assets in our U.S. defineéfiiggension and retiree health plans comprise @apprately

83 percent of our worldwide benefit plan assetsluiding the investment losses due to overall mackatitions in
2001 and 2002, our 10- and 20-year annualized cdteturn on our U.S. defined benefit pension pland retiree
health benefit plan were approximately 8.9 pereawt 11.3 percent, respectively, as of Decembe2@17. Health-
care-cost trend rates were assumed to increaseaairaal rate of 9.3 percent in 2008, decreasingpipyoximately
0.6 percent per year to an ultimate rate of 5.5¢mrby 2014.

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée faid as
follows:

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 201%-2017

Defined benefit pension plal $324.2 $347.5 $362.5 $367.6 $374.1 $2,012.:
Retiree health benefit pla— gross $86.C $95¢ $99.1 $101.7 $102.2 $ 527.C
Medicare rebate (5.8 (7.9 (8.5) (8.9 (9.8 (56.2)
Retiree health benefit pla— net $80.z $88.C $90.6 $92¢& $92€ $ 4717

The total accumulated benefit obligation for oufirted benefit pension plans was $5.69 billion aBdb$ billion at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The gexgebenefit obligation and fair value of the ptemsets for the
defined benefit pension plans with projected bémfiigations in excess of plan assets were $1liliidrband
$160.9 million, respectively, as of December 3)2Gnd $2.23 billion and $1.22 billion, respediiyas of
December 31, 2006. The accumulated benefit obtigatnd fair value of the plan assets for the defipenefit
pension plans with accumulated benefit obligationsxcess of plan assets were $825.8 million ar&d%rillion,
respectively, as of December 31, 2007, and $808l@mand $37.7 million, respectively, as of Dedsen 31, 2006

Net pension and retiree health benefit expensedied the following component

Defined Benefii Retiree Healtt
Pension Plan Benefit Plans
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Components of net periodic benefit c

Service cos $287.1 $280.C $297< $ 704 $ 72z $ 61t
Interest cos 362. 343.5 296.2 101.4 97.¢ 80.7
Expected return on plan ass (548.2) (494.9 (445.9 (102.) (89.9 (75.9
Amortization of prior service cost (benel 7.7 8.3 7.6 (15.7 (15.) (15.9
Recognized actuarial lo: 130.( 149.¢ 106.7 95.C 107.¢ 86.¢€
Net periodic benefit co: $239.C $286.6 $262.( $149.C $172.F $137.€
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If the health-care-cost trend rates were to besimed by one percentage point each future yeababember 31,
2007, accumulated postretirement benefit obligationld increase by $226.6 million (14.0 percent) #re
aggregate of the service cost and interest cosponents of the 2007 annual expense would increase b

$27.8 million (16.2 percent). A one-percentage-pdetrease in these rates would decrease the Dec&hp2007,
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation b2 million (11.6 percent) and the aggregate ef2B07 service
cost and interest cost by $22.7 million (13.2 petgce

The following represents the amounts recognizemthier comprehensive income in 2007:

Defined Benef Retiree Healt

Pension Plan Benefit Plans Total
Plan amendments during peri $ 327 $ (2273 $(195.0
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) inckdlin net incom: (7.7) 15.7 8.0
Net change in unrecognized prior service cost (figmet recognized i
net income during peric 25.C (212.0 (187.0
Actuarial gain arising during peric (515.9 (16.5) (531.9
Amortization of net actuarial loss included in imetome (230.0 (95.0 (225.0
Net change in unrecognized net actuarial lossnatided in net income
during perioc (645.9) (111.5)  (756.9)
Total other comprehensive income during pe $ (620.9) $ (323.5 $(943.9

We have defined contribution savings plans thaecour eligible employees worldwide. The purposéheke
defined contribution plans is generally to provatilitional financial security during retirement fixpviding
employees with an incentive to save. Our contridngito the plan are based on employee contribuéindshe level
of our match. Expenses under the plans totaled.3IhRlion, $106.5 million, and $96.1 million foh¢ years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.

We provide certain other postemployment benefits@rily related to disability benefits and accroe the related
cost over the service lives of employees. Expeasssciated with these benefit plans in 2007, 2868,2005 were
not significant.

Our U.S. defined benefit pension and retiree hdadtiefit plan investment allocation strategy cutyecomprises
approximately 85 percent to 95 percent growth itmesits and 5 percent to 15 percent fixed-incomestments.
Within the growth investment classification, thaphlsset strategy encompasses equity and equétyrikruments
that are expected to represent approximately 7&peof our plan asset portfolio of both public amivate market
investments. The largest component of these equityequity-like instruments is public equity setesi that are
well diversified and invested in U.S. and interaatl small-to-largeompanies. The remaining portion of the grc
investment classification is represented by othterrsative growth investments.

Our defined benefit pension plan and retiree hgath asset allocations as of December 31 arellagvfo

Percentage ¢ Percentage ¢
Pension Plan Asse Retiree Health Plan Asse
(Percents 2007 2006 2007 2006
Asset Categor
Equity securities and equ-like instruments 75 78 78 80
Debt securitie: 10 9 11 10
Real estat 1 1 — —
Other 14 12 11 10
Total 10C 10C 10C 10C

In 2008, we expect to contribute approximately $vlion to our defined benefit pension plans tasfgtminimum
funding requirements for the year. In addition,ex@ect to contribute approximately $110 million
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of additional discretionary funding in 2008 to alafined benefit plans. We do not expect to makecamjributions
to our post-retirement health benefit plans dug0g8.

Note 13: Contingencies

We are a party to various legal actions, governrimemstigations, and environmental proceedings. mMbst
significant of these are described below. Whils itot possible to determine the outcome of thestars, we
believe that, except as specifically noted beldw,resolution of all such matters will not have atenial adverse
effect on our consolidated financial position guidity, but could possibly be material to our colidated results of
operations in any one accounting period.

Patent Litigation

We are engaged in the following patent litigatioattars brought pursuant to procedures set outittch-
Waxman Act (the Drug Price Competition and PatesrhT Restoration Act of 1984):

* Barr Laboratories, Inc. (Barr), submitted an Ablaged New Drug Application (ANDA) in 2002 seeking
permission to market a generic version of Evistargo the expiration of our relevant U.S. patef@tspiring in
2012-2017) and alleging that these patents ardidhvet enforceable, or not infringed. In NovemR€02, we
filed a lawsuit against Barr in the U.S. Distriad @t for the Southern District of Indiana, seekiguling that thes
patents are valid, enforceable, and being infringe&arr. Teva has also submitted an ANDA seekigignission
to market a generic version of Evista. In June 20@$filed a similar lawsuit against Teva in theSUDistrict
Court for the Southern District of Indiana. The $ait against Teva is currently scheduled for toiedinning
March 9, 2009, while no trial date has been s#ténawsuit against Barr. We believe that Barr'd @evas claim:
are without merit and we expect to prevail. Howeitas not possible to determine the outcome & litigation,
and accordingly, we can provide no assurance thatill prevail. An unfavorable outcome could havenaterial
adverse impact on our consolidated results of djpeis liquidity, and financial positiol

Sicor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Sicor), Mayne Phatd®4) Inc. (Mayne), and Sun Pharmaceutical Industhie.
(Sun) each submitted ANDAs seeking permission tdketageneric versions of Gemzar prior to the exjraof
our relevant U.S. patents (compound patent expirirRP10 and method-of-use patent expiring in 20&8y
alleging that these patents are invalid. We filaduits in the U.S. District Court for the South&istrict of
Indiana against Sicor (February 2006) and Mayneqi 2006), seeking rulings that these patentsalié and
are being infringed. In November 2007, the lawag#inst Mayne was stayed and administratively ddsethe
court. Also in November 2007, Sun filed a declangafadgment action in the United States Districu@dor the
Eastern District of Michigan, seeking a ruling tbat method-of-use patent is invalid or unenforéeatr would
not be infringed by the sale of Sun’s generic potd8un informed us in December 2007 that it is alsallenging
our compound patent, and that patent has now lddedao the declaratory judgment action. In Jan2a68, we
filed a second lawsuit against Mayne in responsedecond ANDA filed by Mayne for a new dosagersjte. We
expect to prevail in this litigation and believatlthese claims are without merit. However, itas possible to
determine the outcome of this litigation, and adewgly, we can provide no assurance that we wélpil. An
unfavorable outcome could have a material advenpaét on our consolidated results of operatiogsjdity, and
financial position

Actavis Elizabeth LLC (Actavis), Glenmark Pharmaggals Inc., USA (Glenmark), Sun Pharmaceuticalistdes
Limited (Sun), Sandoz Inc. (Sandoz), Mylan Pharmécels Inc. (Mylan), Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc
(Teva), Apotex Inc. (Apotex), Aurobindo Pharma L{8lurobindo), Synthon Laboratories, Inc. (Synthamd
Zydus Pharmaceuticals, USA, Inc. (Zydus) each stibchan ANDA seeking permission to market generic
versions of Strattera prior to the expiration of mlevant U.S. patent (expiring in 2017), andgillg that this
patent is invalid. We filed a lawsuit against Adtaw the United States District Court for the Didtof New
Jersey in August 2007. Sandoz filed a declaratatginent action in the same court, but its casdben
dismissed. In September 2007, we amended the cormiplahe New Jersey lawsuit to add Glenmark, Sun,
Sandoz, Mylan, Teva, Apotex, Aurobindo, Synthord Zgdus as defendants. We fil
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a second action against Synthon in the United S@istrict Court for the Eastern District of Virgen Synthon has
filed a motion to dismiss our lawsuit in New JerseyDecember 2007, Zydus agreed to entry of aemns
judgment in which Zydus conceded the validity antbeceability of the patent and agreed to a permg
injunction. We expect to prevalil in this litigati@md believe that these claims are without metweler, it is not
possible to determine the outcome of this litigatiand accordingly, we can provide no assurandenteavill
prevail. An unfavorable outcome could have a materdverse impact on our consolidated results efatons,
liquidity, and financial positior

We have received challenges to Zyprexa patentsiimaber of countries outside the U.S.:

* In Canada, several generic pharmaceutical manutasthave challenged the validity of our Zyprexenpound
and method-of-use patent (expiring in 2011). IniA2007, the Canadian Federal Court ruled agahesfitst
challenger, Apotex Inc. (Apotex), and Apotex hapesgded that ruling. In June 2007, the Canadian iaé@murt
held that the invalidity allegations of a secondlt#nger, Novopharm Ltd. (Novopharm), were justfend denie
our request that Novopharm be prohibited from régngimarketing approval for generic olanzapine an@da.
Novopharm began selling generic olanzapine in Carrathe third quarter of 2007. We have appealat
decision and sued Novopharm for patent infringemEiné appeal was dismissed. In November 2007, Addesl
an action seeking a declaration of the invaliditpar Zyprexa compound and method-of-use patemgrfag in
2011). The trial court ruled in our favor in Felnua007. Apotex will likely appea

« In Germany, generic pharmaceutical manufacturers-6gogyszergyar and Neolabs Ltd. challenged tlieitsa
of our Zyprexa compound and method-of-use patexigiling in 2011). In June 2007, the German Fedeasbnt
Court held that our patent is invalid. We are afipgahe decision. Generic olanzapine was laundhed
competitors in Germany in the fourth quarter of 2(

» We have received challenges in a number of othentcies, including Spain, the United Kingdom (U .kahd
several smaller European countries. In Spain, we baen successful at both the trial and appeitatet levels in
defeating the generic manufacturers’ challengewsuanticipate further legal challenges from gemeri
manufacturers. In the U.K., a trial date has téveht been set for July 200

We are vigorously contesting the various legal leingles to our Zyprexa patents on a country-by-egurdsis. We
cannot determine the outcome of this litigatione Bvailability of generic olanzapine in Canada @aidmany will
have a material adverse impact on our consolida®dts of operations. The availability of generianzapine in
additional markets could have a material advergmanhon our consolidated results of operations.

In June 2002, Ariad Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the Blefsssetts Institute of Technology, the Whiteheatitirte for
Biomedical Research, and the President and Felldudarvard College in the U.S. District Court foetDistrict of
Massachusetts sued us, alleging that sales of tworgroducts, Xigris and Evista, were inducing thfringement
of a patent related to the discovery of a natuellsignaling phenomenon in the human body, anllisgeoyalties
on past and future sales of these products. OnaMago6, a jury in Boston issued an initial deaisiio the case that
Xigris and Evista sales infringe the patent. Thg pwarded the plaintiffs approximately $65 milliosndamages,
calculated by applying a 2.3 percent royalty td Al. sales of Xigris and Evista from the datessfiance of the
patent through the date of trial. In addition, pasate bench trial with the U.S. District Court\Mdissachusetts was
held in August 2006, on our contention that theephis unenforceable and impermissibly covers mdprocesses.
In June 2005, the United States Patent and Trade@ffice (USPTO) commenced a reexamination of tkept,
and in August 2007 took the position that the Agdaims at issue are unpatentable, a positionAHat continues
to contest. In September 2007, the Court entefathBjudgment indicating that Ariad’claims are patentable, val
and enforceable, and finding damages in the amafusi5 million plus a 2.3 percent royalty on neSUsales of
Xigris and Evista since the time of the jury demisiHowever, the Court deferred the requiremepatpany
damages until after all rights to appeal have kedrausted. We plan to appeal this judment. We \eelieat these
allegations are without legal merit, that we witimately prevail on these issues, and therefoag tthe likelihood of
any monetary damages is remote.
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Government Investigations and Related Litigatior

In March 2004, the Office of the U.S. Attorney the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (EDPA) advigedhat it
had commenced an investigation related to our kha&8keting and promotional practices, including our
communications with physicians and remuneratioplgfsician consultants and advisors, with respegytirexa,
Prozac, and Prozac Weekly. In November 2007, weived a grand jury subpoena from the EDPA for aabn@ng
of documents related to Zyprexa. A number of Stééelicaid Fraud Control Units are coordinating viftie EDPA
in its investigation of any Medicaid-related clainetating to our marketing and promotion of ZyprekkaOctober
2005, the EDPA advised that it is also conductimgnguiry regarding certain rebate agreements vered into
with a pharmacy benefit manager covering Axid, Eyislumalog, Humulin, Prozac, and Zyprexa. The iiyqu
includes a review of our Medicaid best price reipgrtelated to the product sales covered by thateehgreements.

In June 2005, we received a subpoena from the ©ffithe Attorney General, Medicaid Fraud ContraitlJof the
State of Florida, seeking production of documealasting to sales of Zyprexa and our marketing anodnotional
practices with respect to Zyprexa.

In September 2006, we received a subpoena fror@alitornia Attorney General’'s Office seeking protian of
documents related to our efforts to obtain and taairZyprexa’s status on California’s formulary, mketing and
promotional practices with respect to Zyprexa, serduneration of health care providers.

In February 2007, we received a subpoena from ffiee®f the Attorney General of the State of Itlis, seeking
production of documents and information relatingates of Zyprexa and our marketing and promotipradtices,
including our communications with physicians anchu@eration of physician consultants and advisoith, Kespect
to Zyprexa.

Beginning in August 2006, we have received civildstigative demands or subpoenas from the attogeysral of
a number of states under various state consumexgbian laws. Most of these requests are now gaatroultistate
investigative effort being coordinated by an exeeutommittee of attorneys general. We are awaae th
approximately 30 states are participating in thiatjeffort, and it is possible that additionaltegawill join the
investigation. These attorneys general are seekimgad range of Zyprexa documents, including desumrelatin:
to sales, marketing and promotional practices,rantlineration of health care providers. In additige,have been
named as a defendant in a private suit in Caligo8tate Court, which was removed to federal caligging
violations of the California False Claims Act witlspect to certain Zyprexa marketing and promotiprectices.
This suit was brought by an individual on behalfle government, under the qui tam provision ofG@adifornia
False Claims Act.

We are cooperating in each of these investigatioefyding providing a broad range of documents iafirmation
relating to the investigations. It is possible th#ter Lilly products could become subject to irtigegtion and that
the outcome of these matters could include crinthakges and fines, penalties, or other monetanpomonetary
remedies. We cannot determine the outcome of timesers or reasonably estimate the amount or rahgmounts
of any fines or penalties that might result fromaalverse outcome. It is possible, however, thaduerse outcome
could have a material adverse impact on our cates@d results of operations, liquidity, and finahgiosition. We
have implemented and continue to review and enharreadly based compliance program that includes
comprehensive compliance-related activities desidoesnsure that our marketing and promotionaltmes,
physician communications, remuneration of healtle peofessionals, managed care arrangements, aditaite
best price reporting comply with applicable laws aagulations.

Product Liability and Related Litigation

We have been named as a defendant in a large nwhBgprexa product liability lawsuits in the Unit&tates and
have been notified of many other claims of indidtbuwho have not filed suit. The lawsuits and eafitlaims
(together the “claims”) allege a variety of injugirom the use of Zyprexa, with the majority altegthat the
product caused or contributed to diabetes or highdaglucose levels. The claims seek substantial congtensani
punitive damages and typically accuse us of inagdytesting for and warning
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about side effects of Zyprexa. Many of the clains® allege that we improperly promoted the drugndét all of
the federal lawsuits are part of a Mullistrict Litigation (MDL) proceeding before The Horable Jack Weinstein
the Federal District Court for the Eastern DistdtENew York (MDL No. 1596).

Since June 2005, we have entered into agreemetityvarious claimants’ attorneys involved in U.S pFgxa
product liability litigation to settle a substantmajority of the claims. The agreements covertal tof approximatel
31,200 claimants, including a large number of prasiy filed lawsuits and other asserted claims. tifeeprimary
settlements were as follows:

* In June 2005, we reached an agreement in prin@ple in September 2005 a final agreement) to seitles than
8,000 claims for $690.0 million plus $10.0 millibmcover administration of the settleme

* In January 2007, we reached agreements with a nuofilpdaintiffs’ attorneys to settle more than 18,000 claim
approximately $500 millior

The 2005 settlement totaling $700.0 million wagdpduring 2005. The January 2007 settlements weadedueing
2007.

We are prepared to continue our vigorous defen@ypfexa in all remaining claims. The U.S. Zyprexaduct
liability claims not subject to these agreementdude approximately 325 lawsuits in the U.S. cawgri
approximately 1,235 plaintiffs. Trial dates havemheet for June 23, 2008, in the Eastern Distfittew York, for
several of the U.S. plaintiffs.

In early 2005, we were served with four lawsuitskseg class action status in Canada on behalf tiéqta who tool
Zyprexa. One of these four lawsuits has been g=itibr residents of Quebec, and a second hasdegtfied in
Ontario and includes all Canadian residents, exfwepesidents of Quebec and British Columbia. @hegations in
the Canadian actions are similar to those in tigation pending in the U.S.

We have insurance coverage for a portion of our&@yg product liability claims exposure. The thparty insuranc
carriers have raised defenses to their liabilitgenthe policies and are seeking to rescind thieipsl The dispute
was the subject of litigation in the federal caartndianapolis against certain of the carriers andrbitration in
Bermuda against other carriers. In the seconddi@007, we reached settlements resolving themagrity of the
disputed insurance claims, and a portion of therarsce proceeds were paid to us prior to the e2d@7.

Since the beginning of 2005, we have recorded gadeeanet pretax charges of $1.61 billion for Zyprexoduct
liability matters. The net charges, which take iat@ount our actual and expected insurance re@syaevered the
following:

* The cost of the Zyprexa product liability settlertseto date; an

* Reserves for product liability exposures and defarosts regarding the known Zyprexa product ligbdiaims
and expected future claims to the extent we cauich@llate a reasonable estimate of the probable auard cost
of the claims

In December 2004, we were served with two lawdaitgight in state court in Louisiana on behalf & touisiana
Department of Health and Hospitals, alleging thatiréxa caused or contributed to diabetes or highdsglucose
levels, and that we improperly promoted the drugese cases have been removed to federal courtramda part
of the MDL proceedings in the Eastern District aiNYork. In these actions, the Department of Heaiftth
Hospitals seeks to recover the costs it paid fgréya through Medicaid and other driogrefit programs, as well
the costs the department alleges it has incurrddélhincur to treat Zyprexa-related illnesses. Wave been served
with similar lawsuits filed by the states of Alashdississippi, Montana, New Mexico, Pennsylvaniayth

Carolina, Utah, and West Virginia in the courtshed respective states. The Mississippi, Montanay Mexico, and
West Virginia cases have been removed to federat emd are now part of the MDL proceedings inHastern
District of New York. The Alaska case is scheduiattrial beginning March 3, 2008.

In 2005, two lawsuits were filed in the Easterntfdis of New York purporting to be nationwide classtions on
behalf of all consumers and third-party payors)ediaog governmental entities, which have made dir wi
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make payments for their members or insured patltegitsy prescribed Zyprexa. These actions have remm b
consolidated into a single lawsuit, which is broughder certain state consumer protection statthiedederal civil
RICO statute, and common law theories, seekindumdeof the cost of Zyprexa, treble damages, pumitiamages,
and attorneys’ fees. Two additional lawsuits wdeslfin the Eastern District of New York in 2006 similar
grounds. In 2007, The Pennsylvania Employees Hust brought claims in state court in Pennsylvasignsurer
of Pennsylvania state employees, who were prest#lprexa on similar grounds as described in the Merk
cases. As with the product liability suits, themeduits allege that we inadequately tested forveanthed about side
effects of Zyprexa and improperly promoted the drug

We cannot determine with certainty the additionahber of lawsuits and claims that may be assefiee.ultimate
resolution of Zyprexa product liability and relat@dyation could have a material adverse impacbanconsolidate
results of operations, liquidity, and financial jhias.

In addition, we have been named as a defendantmrerous other product liability lawsuits involvipgmarily
diethylstilbestrol (DES) and thimerosal. The mdjodf these claims are covered by insurance, stibjeteductible
and coverage limits.

Because of the nature of pharmaceutical produdtsppssible that we could become subject to latgabers of
product liability and related claims for other puats in the future. In the past few years, we reyserienced
difficulties in obtaining product liability insurae due to a very restrictive insurance market. &foee, for
substantially all of our currently marketed produete have been and expect that we will contindgettargely self-
insured for future product liability losses. In &dth, as noted above, there is no assurance thavilwbe able to
fully collect from our insurance carriers on pdsiros.

Environmental Matters

Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response p€osation, and Liability Act, commonly known as 8up
fund, we have been designated as one of severitpaity responsible parties with respect to fetiran 10 sites.
Under Superfund, each responsible party may béyaamd severally liable for the entire amounttod tleanup. W
also continue remediation of certain of our owesiWWe have accrued for estimated Superfund clecostp,
remediation, and certain other environmental maitfEnis takes into account, as applicable, avalaifbrmation
regarding site conditions, potential cleanup meshedtimated costs, and the extent to which otheigg can be
expected to contribute to payment of those costshd@le limited liability insurance coverage fortaar
environmental liabilities.

Note 14: Other Comprehensive Income (Loss

The accumulated balances related to each compohettier comprehensive income (loss) were as falow

Defined Benefi Effective Accumulatec
Foreign Currenc  Unrealize( Pension ant Portion of Other
Translatior Gains or Retiree Healtt Cash Flov Comprehensiv
Gains Securities Benefit Plans Hedges Income (Loss
Beginning balance at January 1, 2! $ 560.« $ 20.C $ (1,803.) $(165.9 $ (1,388.)
Other comprehensive income (lo 756.€ (5.9 651.% (2.0) 1,401.¢
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1,317.( $ 14€ $ (1,151 $(166.9) $ 13.2

The amounts above are net of income taxes. Thenactaxes associated with the unrecognized losskpraor
service costs (Note 12) were an expense of $29Rlibmfor 2007. The income taxes related to thieent
components of comprehensive income were not sigmifi as income taxes were not provided for foreigmency
translation.

The unrealized gains (losses) on securities i®hedclassification adjustments of $5.8 million 6% million, and
$9.1 million, net of tax, in 2007, 2006, and 20f¥5pectively, for net realized gains on sales ofisges included it
net income. The effective portion of cash flow heglgs net of reclassification adjustments of $8il8an,

$2.3 million, and $3.8 million, net of tax, in 20006, and 2005, respectively, for realized
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losses on foreign currency options and $11.6 milligl7.1 million, and $21.4 million, net of tax,2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively, for interest expense on intesde swaps designated as cash flow hedges.

Generally, the assets and liabilities of foreigemions are translated into U.S. dollars usingctiveent exchange
rate. For those operations, changes in exchange ganerally do not affect cash flows; therefagsulting
translation adjustments are made in shareholdgtstyerather than in income.
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Managemen’s Reports

Management’s Report for Financial Statements — ElLilly and Company and Subsidiaries

Management of Eli Lilly and Company and subsidgigeresponsible for the accuracy, integrity, aaid f
presentation of the financial statements. The istat#s have been prepared in accordance with ggnacakpted
accounting principles in the United States andudelamounts based on judgments and estimates ygement. |
management’s opinion, the consolidated financatkshents present fairly our financial positionputesof
operations, and cash flows.

In addition to the system of internal accountingteols, we maintain a code of conduct (knowrmhs Red Book
that applies to all employees worldwide, requinomgper overall business conduct, avoidance of misfbf interest
compliance with laws, and confidentiality of pragiery informationThe Red Bools reviewed on a periodic basis
with employees worldwide, and all employees aralireg to report suspected violations. A hotline hemis
published inThe Red Booto enable employees to report suspected violanoosiymously. Employees who report
suspected violations are protected from discrinmmadr retaliation by the company. In additionTioe Red Book
the CEO, the COO, and all financial management igsta financial code of ethics, which furthenferces their
fiduciary responsibilities.

The financial statements have been audited by Bri¥siung LLP, an independent registered public actmng
firm. Their responsibility is to examine our coridated financial statements in accordance with gelyeaccepted
auditing standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States). Ernst & Youngnion
with respect to the fairness of the presentatiohefstatements (see opinion on page 58) is indludeur annual
report. Ernst & Young reports directly to the aumitnmittee of the board of directors.

Our audit committee includes four nonemployee membéthe board of directors, all of whom are ingiegent
from our company. The committee charter, whichublighed in the proxy statement, outlines the mansibeles
and responsibilities and is consistent with enactegorate reform laws and regulations. It is thdibcommittee’s
responsibility to appoint an independent registgnelolic accounting firm subject to shareholdeffiedtion, approv:
both audit and nonaudit services performed byrnbependent registered public accounting firm, a@wiewv the
reports submitted by the firm. The audit commitieeets several times during the year with managerttent
internal auditors, and the independent public actiog firm to discuss audit activities, internahtmls, and
financial reporting matters, including reviews ofr @xternally published financial results. The int# auditors and
the independent registered public accounting fiawehfull and free access to the committee.

We are dedicated to ensuring that we maintain ife $tandards of financial accounting and reportiveg we have
established. We are committed to providing finahicormation that is transparent, timely, comp|etlevant, and
accurate. Our culture demands integrity and anealdiyig commitment to strong internal practices palicies.
Finally, we have the highest confidence in ourfiiitial reporting, our underlying system of internahtrols, and ot
people, who are objective in their responsibilitesl operate under a code of conduct and the hitghes of ethica
standards.
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Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — Eli Lilly and Company and
Subsidiaries

Management of Eli Lilly and Company and subsidgigeresponsible for establishing and maintainibegaate
internal control over financial reporting as defiria Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the S¢iesrExchange
Act of 1934. We have global financial policies tigatvern critical areas, including internal contrdisancial
accounting and reporting, fiduciary accountabilégd safeguarding of corporate assets. Our intacaunting
control systems are designed to provide reasorsierance that assets are safeguarded, that tieansare
executed in accordance with management’s auth@izahd are properly recorded, and that accouméngrds are
adequate for preparation of financial statementsather financial information. A staff of internaliditors regularly
monitors, on a worldwide basis, the adequacy afet@feness of internal accounting controls. Theegal auditor
reports directly to the audit committee of the lobaf directors.

We conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessiointernal control over financial reporting basedthe
framework ininternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluatiateuthis framework, we concluded that our integmattrol
over financial reporting were effective as of Debem31, 2007. However, because of its inherentditions,
internal control over financial reporting may noéyent or detect misstatements. Also, projectidremy evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate beaugenges in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

The internal control over financial reporting ha&sb assessed by Ernst & Young LLP. Their respditgits to
evaluate whether internal control over financiglaging was designed and operating effectively.

Sidney Taure John C. Lechleiter, Ph.L Derica W. Rice
Chairman of the Board and President and Chief Operating Offic Senior Vice President and
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Officel

February 8, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Eli Lilly and Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Eli Lilly and Company and subsidiasie®f
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related cdasetl statements of income, cash flows, and corapeive
income for each of the three years in the periatedrDecember 31, 2007. These financial statemeatha
responsibility of the company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these fitiah
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated
financial position of Eli Lilly and Company and sidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and theotidated
results of their operations and their cash flowssfach of the three years in the period ended Dieeefil, 2007, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountmigciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the effectiveness of Eli Lilly and Compamygl subsidiaries’ internal control over financigborting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria establishbdeémal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission and our report dated February 8, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statemeént8005 Eli Lilly and Company and subsidiaries jgigal a new
accounting pronouncement for asset retirement atiigs. As discussed in Note 12 to the financetieshents, in
2006 Eli Lilly and Company and subsidiaries adogtetw accounting pronouncement for defined bepefision
and other postretirement plans. As discussed ie Mtto the financial statements, in 2007 Eli Ldlyd Company
and subsidiaries adopted a new accounting pronougtefor income taxes.

é/ym:t o MLLP
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Eli Lilly and Company

We have audited Eli Lilly and Company and subsid&iinternal control over financial reporting &s o
December 31, 2007, based on criteria establishtédemal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committ
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimsghe COSO criteria). Eli Lilly and Company and
subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maiitgieffective internal control over financial repog and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagy
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FimalrReporting. Our responsibility is to expressoginion on
the company’s internal control over financial repay based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nacesgarmit preparation of financial statementsdgordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonafdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitexd acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesnés future periods are subject to the risk thatids may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btttbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Eli Lilly and Company and subsidés maintained, in all material respects, effecinternal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&dd on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited
States), the 2007 consolidated financial statemarisi Lilly and Company and subsidiaries and oeport dated
February 8, 2008, expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

é/ym:t ¥ MLLP
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Agtaonis on
Accounting and Financial Disclosu

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedur

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under applicable SEC regulations, management eparting company, with the participation of thengipal
executive officer and principal financial officenust periodically evaluate the company’s “disclescontrols and
procedures,Which are defined generally as controls and othecgdures of a reporting company designed to el
that information required to be disclosed by thgoréng company in its periodic reports filed witte commission
(such as this Form 10-K) is recorded, processednsrized, and reported on a timely basis.

Our management, with the participation of Sidneyrég chairman and chief executive officer, andi€®lV. Rice,
senior vice president and chief financial officevaluated our disclosure controls and procedure$ Becember 31
2007, and concluded that they are effective.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Messrs. Taurel and Rice and Dr. John C. Lechlgit@sident and chief operating officer, providegport on beha
of management on our internal control over finah@gorting, in which management concluded thatcibrapany’s
internal control over financial reporting is effeet at December 31, 2007. In addition, Ernst & Youwh P, the
company’s independent registered public accouriting provided an attestation report on the compaimternal
control over financial reporting. You can find thal text of management'’s report and Ernst & Youngttestation
report in Part I, Item 8, and both reports aremporated by reference in this Item.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the fourth quarter of 2007, there were naraes in our internal control over financial repaytthat
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantraporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Informatior
Not applicable

Part Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveos

Directors and Executive Officers

Information relating to our Board of Directors @ihd in our Proxy Statement to be dated on or allauch 10,
2008 (the “Proxy Statement”) under “Board of Dist at pages 65-68, and is incorporated in th®ireby
reference.

Information relating to our executive officers @ihd at Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K under “Extve Officers
of the Company.” In addition, information relatitgycertain filing obligations of directors and engee officers
under the federal securities laws is found in thexj? Statement under “Other Matters — Section 1Bg@)eficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” at page 115. Tifarmation is incorporated in this report by refiece.
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Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that compliestivétlapplicable SEC and New York Stock Exchange
requirements. The code is set forth in:

« The Red Boolg comprehensive code of ethical and legal busic@sguct applicable to all employees
worldwide and to our Board of Directors; a

» Caode of Ethical Conduct for Lilly Financial Managent, a supplemental code for our chief executive
officer, chief operating officer, and all membefdinancial management that focuses on accounting,
financial reporting, internal controls, and finaalctewardshig

Both documents are online on our web site at Hitpgstor.lilly.com/code business conduct.cfm.

In the event of any amendments to, or waivers fraiprovision of the code affecting the chief examubfficer,
chief financial officer, chief accounting officerontroller, or persons performing similar functipng intend to post
on the above web site within four business dayer #ifie event a description of the amendment orevaig required
under applicable SEC rules. We will maintain tmdibimation on our web site for at least 12 monEegper copies
these documents are available free of charge wgmrest to the company’s secretary at the addresednont of
this Form 10-K.

Corporate Governance

In our proxy statements, we describe the procedaweaghich shareholders can recommend nomineesrtbaard o
directors. There have been no changes in thoseguoes since they were last published in our petaiement of
March 5, 2007.

The board has appointed an audit committee congistitirely of independent directors in accordanith

applicable SEC and New York Stock Exchange ruleafimlit committees. The members of the committeevar J.
Michael Cook (chairman), Michael L. Eskew, Dr. Mar$. Feldstein, Dr. Franklyn G. Prendergast, arsd iathi P
Seifert. The board has determined that Mr. Coanisudit committee financial expert as definechi$EC rules.

ltem 11. Executive Compensatic

Information on director compensation, executive pensation, and compensation committee matters edound
in the Proxy Statement under “Directors’ Compemsdtat pages 75-77, “Executive Compensation” aiEgag
81-101, and “Compensation Committee Interlocks las@ler Participation” at page 80. That informatisn
incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Benefi€®wners and
Management and Related Stockholder Mai

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement

Information relating to ownership of the Compangtsnmon stock by management and by persons knowimeby
Company to be the beneficial owners of more them fiercent of the outstanding shares of commork $sdfound
in the Proxy Statement under “Ownership of Comp@tock,” at pages 101-102. That information is ipovated in
this report by reference.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information on securities authorized for issuanedar our equity compensation plans can be fournkdriProxy
Statement under “Item 5 — Amendment of the 2008 IStock Plan” at page 108.

-82-




Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions Darattor
Independenc

Related Person Transactions

Information relating to a time-share arrangememwben the company and Mr. Sidney Taurel, chairnmezhchief
executive officer, relating to his personal usé¢hef corporate aircraft can be found in the ProxateShent under
“Related Person Transaction” at pages 100-101jrdodmation relating to the board’s policies andgedures for
approval of related person transactions can bedfauthe Proxy Statement under “Highlights of thentpany’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines — Review and AggrofvTransactions with Related Persons” at pages
72-73. That information is incorporated in thisagyby reference.

Director Independence

Information relating to director independence carfdund in the Proxy Statement under “Compositibthe
Board — Independence Determinations” at pages 681dds incorporated in this report by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servi

Information related to the fees and services ofindependent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, can benfbin the
Proxy Statement under “Services Performed by tHependent Auditor” and “Independent Auditor Feds” a
page 79. That information is incorporated in tleigart by reference.

ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedi

(@)1. Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statementshef Company and its subsidiaries are found atIRdt¢ém 8:

» Consolidated Statements of Inco— Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and

» Consolidated Balance She— December 31, 2007 and 20

» Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl— Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and

« Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Inc- Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and
« Segment Informatio

* Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems

(8)2. Financial Statement Schedules

The consolidated financial statement scheduleseCompany and its subsidiaries have been omitteduse they
are not required, are inapplicable, or are adetuakplained in the financial statements.

Financial statements of interests of 50 percetess, which are accounted for by the equity methasle been
omitted because they do not, considered in theeggte as a single subsidiary, constitute a sigmfisubsidiary.

()3. Exhibits

3.1 Amended Articles of Incorporatic

3.2 By-laws, as amende

4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of July 20, 1998, betvidienlly and Company and Norwest Bank Minnes:
N.A., as successor Rights Age

4.2  Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated as of R1gy2003, between Eli Lilly and Company and
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A., as successor Riglyent
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43
4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7
101
10.2
10.3
104
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.1C
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
12.
21.
23.
311
31.2
32.

Form of Indenture with respect to Debt Securitiaed as of February 1, 1991, between Eli Lilly and
Company and Citibank, N.A., as Trus

Form of Standard Multiple-Series Indenture Provisidated, and filed with the Securities and Excbang
Commission on, February 1, 19

Form of Indenture dated March 10, 1998, among Tl $avings Plan Master Trust Fund C, as issuer;
Eli Lilly and Company, as guarantor; and The Chdsahattan Bank, as Trustee, relating to ESOP
Amortizing Debentures due 201

Form of Fiscal Agency Agreement dated May 30, 2@@tween Eli Lilly and Company and Citibank,
N.A., Fiscal Agent, relating to Resetable FloatRate Debt Security due May 15, 2(1

Form of Resetable Floating Rate Debt Security dag b, 2037

1994 Lilly Stock Plan, as amend?

1998 Lilly Stock Plan, as amend?

2002 Lilly Stock Plan, as amend?

Lilly GlobalShares Stock Plan, as amen?

The Lilly Deferred Compensation Plan, as amer?

The Lilly Director¢ Deferral Plan, as amend?

The Eli Lilly and Company Bonus Plan, as amen?

2007 Change in Control Severance Pay Plan for SElaployees, as amend?

Letter agreement between the company and CharléslBen concerning retirement bene?

Letter agreement between the company and StevétaM, M.D. concerning retirement bene?
Arrangement regarding retirement benefits for RoBeArmitage?

Time Sharing Agreement between the company andce@idaurel for use of corporate aircr
Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Cagnpaour Merger Sub, Inc. and ICOS Corporal
Amendment No. 1 to the abc-listed Agreement and Plan of Merg

Statement re: Computation of Ratio of Earningsixed Charge:

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

Rule 13i-14(a)Certification of Sidney Taurel, Chairman of the Bband Chief Executive Office

Rule 13i-14(a)Certification of Derica W. Rice, Senior Vice Premid and Chief Financial Office
Section 1350 Certificatio

1 This exhibit is not filed with this report. Copiesll be furnished to the Securities and Exchangen®ission upon request.
2 Indicates management contract or compensatory plan

-84-




Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf bytidersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Eli Lilly and Company

By /s/ Sidney Taure

Sidney Taurel, Chairman of the Board and Chief

Executive Officer

February 28, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
February 28, 2008 by the following persons on Hatfahe Registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature

Title

/sl Sidney Taurel

SIDNEY TAUREL

/sl Derica W. Rice

DERICA W. RICE

/s/ Arnold C. Hanish

ARNOLD C. HANISH

/sl Sir Winfried Bischoff

SIR WINFRIED BISCHOFF

/sl J. Michael Cook

J. MICHAEL COOK

/sl Michael L. Eskew

MICHAEL L. ESKEW

/sl Martin S. Feldstein

MARTIN S. FELDSTEIN, Ph.D

/sl George M. C. Fisher

GEORGE M. C. FISHEF

/sl J. Erik Fyrwald

J. ERIK FYRWALD

/s/ Karen N. Horn

KAREN N. HORN, Ph.D

/sl Alfred G. Gilman

ALFRED G. GILMAN, M.D., Ph.D.

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, anDirector
(principal executive officer)

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Chief Accounting Officer

(principal accounting officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

-85-




Signature

Title

/s/ John C. Lechleiter

JOHN C. LECHLEITER, Ph.C

/s/ Ellen R. Marram

ELLEN R. MARRAM

/sl Franklyn G. Prendergast

FRANKLYN G.
PRENDERGAST, M.D., Ph.C

/sl Kathi P. Seifert

KATHI P. SEIFERT

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Trademarks Used In This Report

Trademarks or service marks owned by Eli Lilly &@wmpany or its subsidiaries or affiliates, whestfirsed in this
report, appear with an initial capital and aredaléd by the symbdt or ™, as applicable. In subsequent uses of the
marks in the report, the symbols are omitted.

Actos®is a trademark of Takeda Chemical Industries, Ltd.
Axid ®is a trademark of Reliant Pharmaceuticals, LLC
Byetta®is a trademark of Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Vancocin®is a trademark of ViroPharma Incorporated
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Index to Exhibits

The following documents are filed as part of tiEpart:

Exhibit
31

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

47

101

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

Amended Articles of Incorporation

By-laws, as amended

Rights Agreement dated as of July 20, 1998,
between Eli Lilly and Company and Wells Fargo
Bank Minnesota, N.A., as successor Rights A
Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated ¢
May 27, 2003, between Eli Lilly and Company i

Location

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Form 8-A/A, Amendment No. 1, dated

Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A., as successorMay 29, 2003

Rights Agent

Form of Indenture with respect to Debt Securitiesincorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the

dated as of February 1, 1991, between Eli Lilly
Company and Citibank, N.A., as Trustee

Form of Standard Multiple-Series Indenture

Company’s Registration Statement on

Form S-3, Amendment No. 1, Registration

No. 33:-106478

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the

Provisions dated, and filed with the Securities an€Company’s Registration Statement on

Exchange Commission on February 1, 1991

Form S-3, Amendment No. 1, Registration
No. 33:-106478

Form of Indenture dated March 10, 1998, among*

The Lilly Savings Plan Master Trust Fund C, as
issuer; Eli Lilly and Company, as guarantor; and

The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee, relating to

ESOP Amortizing Debentures due 2(

Form of Fiscal Agency Agreement dated May 30,*

2001, between Eli Lilly and Company and

Citibank, N.A., Fiscal Agent, relating to Resettabl

Floating Rate Debt Security due May 15, 2
Form of Resettable Floating Rate Debt Security
due May 15, 203

1994 Lilly Stock Plan, as amended

1998 Lilly Stock Plan, as amended

2002 Lilly Stock Plan, as amended

The Lilly GlobalShares Stock Plan, as amended

The Lilly Deferred Compensation Plan, as
amended

*

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Report of Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Report of Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Report of Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 20(

* Not filed with this report. Copies will be furrtied to the Securities and Exchange Commission tgmprest.

-88-




Exhibit
10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

12

21

23

311

31.2

32

The Lilly Directors’ Deferral Plan, as amended

The Eli Lilly and Company Bonus Plan, as
amended

Location

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 20

2007 Change in Control Severance Pay Plan for Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the

Select Employees, as amended

Letter agreement between the Company and

Company’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 20
Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 tc

Charles E. Golden concerning retirement benefit€Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year

Letter agreement between the Company and S
M. Paul, M.D. concerning retirement benefits

Arrangement regarding retirement benefits for
Robert A. Armitage

ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 tc
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 tc
Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Time Sharing Agreement between the Company Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.16 tc

and Sidney Taurel for use of corporate aircraft

Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 20

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among théncorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the

Company, Tour Merger Sub, Inc. and ICOS
Corporation

Amendment No, 1 to the above-referenced
Agreement and Plan of Merger

Form 8-K filed by ICOS Corporation on

October 17, 200

Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the
Form 8-K filed by ICOS Corporation on
December 18, 200

Statement re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings téttached

Fixed Charge

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Registered Independent Public
Accounting Firm

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Sidney Taurel,
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Derica W. Rice,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Section 1350 Certificatio
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EXHIBIT 12. STATEMENT RE: COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF ARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

ELi LiLLy AND COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollars in millions)

Years Ended December &

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated pretax income before cumulative efééc
a change in accounting princig $3,876.¢ $3,418.( $2,717.t $2,941.¢ $3,261.°
Interest! 322t 344.¢ 2457 162.¢ 121.¢
Less interest capitalized during the pet (94.2) (106.%) (140.5 (111.9) (60.9)
Earnings $4,105.: $3,656.: $2,822.° $2,993.! $3,322.°
Fixed charge: $ 322.f $ 344.¢ $ 245.7 $ 162.¢ $ 121¢
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 12.7 10.€ 11.5 18.4 27.5

1 Interest is based upon interest expense rapasgtsuch in the consolidated income statementlaes not include any interest related to
unrecognized tax benefits, which is included iroime tax expens:

1






Exhibit 21 — List of Subsidiaries & Affiliates

The following are the subsidiaries and affiliated orporations of the Company at December 31, 2007

Certain subsidiaries have been omitted as they amot significant in the aggregate.

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY

Eli Lilly International Corporatior
Lilly HK Finance | Limited
Lilly HK Finance Il Limited
Eli Lilly Funding Partnershi
Eli Lilly Funding Il Partnershig
Eli Lilly Holdings Ltd.
Eli Lilly Group Limited
Eli Lilly Group Pension Trustees Limite
Eli Lilly and Company Limitec
Eli Lilly and Company (Ireland) Trustees Limit:
Lilly Pharma Holding Gmb}
Lilly Deutschland GmbF
Lilly Pharma Fertigung & Distribution Gmb
Lilly Pharma Produktion GmbH & Co. Ki
Lilly Forschung GmblF
Eli Lilly Ges.m.b.H.
Lilly GmbH
Eli Lilly and Company (Ireland) Limite
ELCO Insurance Company Limite
Lilly llac Ticaret Limited Sirketi

Eli Lilly Interamerica, Inc
Eli Lilly do Brasil Limitada
Elanco Quimica Limitad:
Darilor Sociedad Anonim
Beirmirco Sociedad Anonim
Eli Lilly Interamerica Inc., y Compania Limitac

ELCO International Sales Corporati
Control Diabetes Services, Ir
STC Pharmaceutica

ICOS Corporatior
Lilly ICOS LLC

Page 1 of 4

State or Jurisdiction
of Incorporation

or Organization
Indiana

Indiana
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Ireland
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Austria
Germany
Ireland
Bermuds
Turkey

Indiana
Brazil
Brazil

Uruguay
Uruguay
Chile

U.S. Virgin Island:
Indiana
Indiana

Washingtor
Delaware




ELI LILLY AND COMPANY (continued)

Eli Lilly Finance, S.A.
Lilly Del Mar, Inc.
Scienteur Corporatio

ELIIC Holdings, Inc.
InnoCentive Innovations, In

Lilly Global Services, Inc

Applied Molecular Evolutior
Novasite Pharmaceutice
AME Torreview LLC

Eli Lilly Funding Ltd.

Dista, Inc.

Eli Lilly Holding Company Ltd.
Eli Lilly Holding GmbH

Eli Lilly Spain Holding ETVE, S.L
Eli Lilly Nederland Holding B.V.
Eli Lilly and Company (Tawian), Inc

Eli Lilly de Centro America, S.A
Eli Lilly de Centro America, Sociedad Anonir

Eli Lilly y Compania de Mexico, S.A. de C.
Dista Mexicana, S.A. de C.
Eli Lilly Industries, Inc.

Del Sol Financial Services, In

Lilly del Caribe, Inc.

ELCO Dominicana, S.A
Eli Lilly Asia, Inc.
Eli Lilly Australia Pty. Limited

Eli Lilly Australia Custodian Pty. Limite

Eli Lilly and Company (N.Z.) Limitec
Eli Lilly (NZ) Staff Benefits Custodian Limite

Page 2 of 4

State or Jurisdiction
of Incorporation
or Organization

Switzerland
British Virgin Island:
Indiana

Delaware
Delaware

Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Hong Kong

Indiana

United Kingdom
Germany

Spain
Netherlands
Taiwan

Guatemal:
Costa Rice

Mexico
Mexico
Delaware
British Virgin Island:
Cayman Island
Dominican Republi
Delaware
Australia
Australia

New Zealanc
New Zealanc




ELI LILLY AND COMPANY (continued)
Eli Lilly de Mexico, S.A. de C.V
Lilly Singapore Centre for Drug Discove
Hypnion, Inc.
Ivy Animal Health, Inc.

ELCO Management, In
E L Management LL(
Eli Lilly Canada Inc.
Lilly Holdings, LLC
Lilly Holdings GmbH
Eli Lilly S.A.
Eli Lilly Export S.A.
Eli Lilly (Suisse) S.A.
Eli Lilly Vostok S.A., Genev:
Eli Lilly Trading S.A.
Lilly Cayman Holdings
Eli Lilly Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltc
GEMS Services S./
Eli Lilly Suzhou Pharmaceutical Co. Lt
Eli Lilly Nederland B.V.
Lilly France S.A.S
Eli Lilly Benelux, S.A.
Eli Lilly Italia S.p.A.
Diste-Produtos Quimicos & Farmaceuticos, LI
Lilly -Farma, Produtos Farmaceuticos, L
Vital Pharma Productos Farmaceuti
Greenfiel-Produtos Farmaceuticos, Lc
Elancc-Valquimica, S.A.
Dista, S.A.
Spaly Bioquimica, S.A
Irisfarma S.A.
Lilly S.A.
Eli Lilly Nigeria Ltd.
Lilly Development Centre, S./
Lilly Services, S.A
Lilly Clinical Operations S.A
Eli Lilly CR s.r.0.
Eli Lilly Egypt
ELCO Foreign Trade and Marketing S/
Pharmasen-Lilly S.A.C.1.
Pharmabrand, S.A.C.
PRAXICO Ltd.
Lilly Hungaria KFT
PaRxner B.V

Page 3 of 4

State or Jurisdiction
of Incorporation

or Organization

Mexico
Singapore
Delaware
Delaware

Delaware
Delaware / Canac
Canade
Delaware
Austria
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Switzerlanc
Cayman Island
China
Belgium
China
Netherlands
France
Belgium
Italy
Portugal
Portugal
Portugal
Portugal
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain
Nigeria
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Czech Republi
Egypt
Egypt
Greece
Greece
Hungary
Hungary
Netherlands




State or Jurisdiction
of Incorporation
or Organization

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY (continued)
ELCO Management, Inc. (continue
Lilly Holdings, LLC (continued
Lilly Holdings GmbH (continued
Eli Lilly S.A. (continued)
Eli Lilly Nederland B.V. (continued

Eli Lilly (Philippines), Incorporate: Philippines
Eli Lilly and Company (India) Pvt. Ltc India
Eli Lilly Israel Ltd. Israel
Eli Lilly Japan K.K. Japar
Lilly Korea Ltd. Korea
Elanco Animal Health, Korea, Lt Korea
Eli Lilly Malaysia Sdn. Bhd Malaysia
Eli Lilly Maroc, S.a.r.l. Morocco
Eli Lilly Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd Pakistar
Eli Lilly Polska Sp.z.o0.0. (Ltd. Poland
Vitalia Pharma Sp.Z.0.( Poland
Eli Lilly Singapore Pte. Ltd Singapore
Lilly -NUS Centre for Clinical Pharmacolo Singapore
Eli Lilly (S.A.) (Proprietary) Limited South Africa
Eli Lilly y Compania de Venezuela, S. Venezuel:
Dista Products & Compania Venezuela £ Venezuel:
Eli Lilly Regional Operations Gmbl Austria
Andean Technical Operations Cer Peru
Eli Lilly Asian Operations, Limitec Hong Kong
Dista llac Ticaret Ltd. St Turkey
Eli Lilly Slovakia s.r.o. Slovakia
Eli Lilly Romania SRL Romanis
Eli Lilly Lithuania UAB Lithuania
Eli Lilly Hrvatska d.o.o. Croatia
Lilly Pharma Ltd. Russia
PT Eli Lilly Indonesia Indonesie
Eli Lilly European Clinical Trial Services, S.; Belgium
Eli Lilly druzba za farmacevtski marketing, d.c Slovenia
Elanco Trustees Limite Ireland
Kinsale Financial Services, Lt Ireland
ELGO Insurance Company Limite Bermuda
Eli Lilly Services, Inc. British Virgin Island:
Eli Lilly British Virgin Islands, Inc. British Virgin Island:
Eli Lilly Danmark A/S Denmark
QY Eli Lilly Finland AB Finland
Eli Lilly Norge A.S. Norway
Eli Lilly Sweden AB Sweder

Page 4 of 4






We consent to the incorporation by reference infelewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statement N

33-37341
33-58466
33-50783
33-56141
335-02021
335-62015
33566113
335-90397
33:-35248
33:-70308
33&-104057
335-106478

Type of Stateme

S-8
S-3
S-8
S-8
S-8
S-8
S-8
S-8
S-3
S-8
S-8
S-3/A

Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

Date

October 17, 199
February 17, 199
October 27, 199
October 24, 199
March 28, 199¢
August 21, 199¢
October 26, 199
November 5, 199
April 20, 2000
September 27, 20(
March 27, 200:
September 16, 200

of our reports dated February 8, 2008, with resfretite consolidated financial statements of Hlyland Company and subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigbaoeting of Eli Lilly and Company and subsidiariegluded in this Annual Report (10-K) for

the year ended December 31, 2007.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana

February 28, 2008






EXHIBIT 31.1 Rule 13i-14(a) Certification of Sidney Taurel, Chairmanod Board and Chief Executive Offic

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Sidney Taurel, chairman of the board and chxefcative officer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of [Elly and Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirgg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b.  Designed such internal control over finah@@orting, or caused such internal control oveariicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsattisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in #rgstrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &




5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngiave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.  All significant deficiencies and materialak@esses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have Hisag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 2008

By: /s/ Sidney Taurel
Sidney Taurel
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer







EXHIBIT 31.2 Rule 13i-14(a) Certification of Derica W. Rice, Senior Vieeesident and Chief Financial Offic

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Derica W. Rice, senior vice president and ckirgincial officer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of [Elly and Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirgg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and puresdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b.  Designed such internal control over finah@@orting, or caused such internal control oveariicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsattisclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d. Disclosed in this report any change in #rgstrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &




5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngiave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.  All significant deficiencies and materialak@esses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalwes management or other employees who have Hisag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 2008

By: /s/ Derica W. Rice
Derica W. Rice
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officel







EXHIBIT 32 Section 1350 Certificatio

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States Code),
each of the undersigned officers of Eli Lilly andr@pany, an Indiana corporation (the “Company”),dbereby certify that, to the best of
their knowledge:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeddnber 31, 2007 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Compauljyfcomplies with the
requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&éesrExchange Act of 1934 and information contdiiethe Form 10-K fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition aesults of operations of the Company.

Date _February 28, 2008 /s/ Sidney Taurel
Sidney Taurel
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officel

Date February 28, 2008 /s/ Derica W. Rice
Derica W. Rice
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel




